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Registered Office: 
 
 
Tirrihannah Co Ltd. 

5, Kiran Shankar Roy Road 

Kolkata – 700001 

Phone No.: 033-2248 7093 

Email: tirrrihannah.co@gmail.com 

 

Registrar & 

Share Transfer Agent 

M/s. MCS Share Transfer 

Agent Limited, 12/1/5 

Monohar Pukur Road, 

Kolkata – 700 026 

Phone No: 033-24541892 

Email: mcskol@rediffmail.com 

 

Garden 

 

Tirrihannah Co. Ltd.  
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Darjeeling- 734422 

(West Bengal) 

 

Insurance: 
L & T General Insurance Co Ltd and National Insurance Company 
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INR Lakhs:  2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 

Net Revenue 1308.70 1450.00 1325.00 880.43 1153.02 
PAT (92.56) (57.85) 24.55 (281.13) (227.97) 
EPS (INR) (2.90) (1.82) 0.77 0.77 (7.15) 
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FIVE YEARS AT A GLASS 

Introduction and Overview 
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NOTICE IS HEREBY GIVEN that the 111th Annual General Meeting of the Members of 
TIRRIHANNAH COMPANY LIMITED  will be held at 5, Kiran Shankar Roy Road, Kolkata – 700 
001 on Thursday, 26th Day of September, 2019, at 10.00 A.M. to transact the following Business: 
 

 
  

ORDINARY BUSINESS:- 
 

1. To receive, consider and adopt the Audited Financial Statements of the Company for the 
financial year ended March 31, 2019 and the Reports of the Board of Directors and the Auditors 
thereon. 
 

2. To appoint a Director in place of Mr. G. D. Kankani (DIN: 00565520), who retires by rotation 
and being eligible, offers himself for re-appointment.  

 
 
 

 
Registered Office:                                           By Order of the Board  
5, Kiran Shankar Roy Road                                                              Sd/- Ghanshyam Das Kankani 
Kolkata-700 001                                                                                                Managing Director  
                                                                                                                    (DIN-00565520) 
Date: 14th Day of August, 2019 
Place: Kolkata 

 

NOTICE TO THE MEMBERS 

Management and Governance 
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NOTES 
 
1. As there are no special business to be transacted so explanatory statement pursuant to 

section 102 of the Companies Act, 2013 is required.   
 

2. A member entitled to attend and vote at the meeting is entitled to appoint a proxy to attend 
and vote on poll on his behalf and the proxy need not be a member of the company. 
Pursuant to the provision of Section 105 of the Companies Act, 2013, a person can act as a 
proxy on behalf of members not exceeding fifty and holding in the aggregate not more 
than ten percent of the total share capital of the Company carrying voting rights. A 
member holding more than ten percent of the total share capital of the Company carrying 
voting rights may appoint a single person as proxy and such person shall not act as a proxy 
for any other person or shareholder. 
 

3. Proxies in order to be effective must be received at the registered office of the company not 
less than 48 hours before the meeting. A blank proxy form is enclosed with this report. 
During the Period beginning 24 hours before the time fixed for the commencement of the 
meeting and ending with the conclusion of the meeting, a member would be entitled to 
inspect the proxies lodged at any time during the business hours of the Company, 
provided that not less than three days of notice in writing is given to the Company. Proxies 
submitted on behalf of limited companies, societies, etc., must be supported by appropriate 
resolutions/authority, as applicable 

 
4. In terms of Section 152 of the Companies Act, 2013, Mr. G. D. Kankani (DIN: 00565520), 

Director, retire by rotation at the Meeting and being eligible, offer himself for re-
appointment.  
 
Information under regulation 26(4) and 36(3) of the SEBI (Listing Obligations and 
Disclosure Requirements) Regulations, 2015 and Secretarial Standard -2 on General 
Meetings, in respect of the directors seeking appointment / reappointment  at the AGM, 
forms integral part of the notice. The Director(s) have furnished consent / declaration for 
his/their appointment / re- appointment as required under the Companies Act, 2013 and 
the Rules there under. 
 

5. Members are requested to notify any change in their address recorded with the Company 
to the Registrar & Transfer Agent M/s. MCS Share Transfer Agent Limited,12/1/5 
Monohar Pukur Road, Kolkata – 700 026, the Registrar & Share Transfer Agent of the 
Company. 
 

6. Members are also requested to furnish their email address enable the Company to 
communicate electronically and send their consent for the same to the Company’s 
Registrar and/or to the Company. 

 
 
7. Members are requested to kindly mention their Folio Number in all their correspondence 

with the Companies Registrar in order to reply to their queries promptly, and for easy 

identification.  
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8. In case of joint holders attending the Meeting, only such joint holder who is higher in the 
order of names will be entitled to vote. 

 
 
9. Members are requested to bring your copies of the Annual Report/ the Notice of the 

meeting along with the Attendance Slip with them duly filled in and hand over the same at 
the entrance of the Meeting Hall.  

 

10. The Register of Members and Share Transfer Books of the Company will remain closed 
from Thursday, the 19th day of September, 2019 to Thursday, the 26th day of September, 
2019 (both day inclusive). 

 

11. Members desirous of obtaining any information concerning Accounts and operations of the 
Company are requested to address their questions in writing to the Company at an early 
date so as to enable the management to keep the information ready at the meeting. 

 

12. The Ministry of Corporate Affairs has taken a “Green Initiative in the Corporate 
Governance” by allowing paperless compliances by the companies and has issued circulars 
stating that service of notice/documents including Annual Report can be sent by e-mail to 
its members. To support this green initiative of the Government in full measure, members 
who have not registered their e-mail addresses, so far, are requested to register their e-mail 
addresses, in respect of electronic holdings with the Depository through their concerned 
Depository Participants. Members who hold shares in physical form are requested to 
register the same with our Registrar & Share Transfer Agent M/s. MCS Share Transfer 
Agent Limited, 12/1/5 Monohar Pukur Road, Kolkata – 700 026. 

 

13. In accordance with the Companies Act, 2013 read with the rules framed there under, the 
Annual Report 2018-19 is being sent to all the members by the permitted mode.  

 

14. The physical copies of the aforesaid documents will also be available at the Company’s 
Registered Office in Kolkata for inspection during normal business hours on working days. 
Even after registering for e-communication, members are entitled to receive such 
communication in physical form, upon making a request for the same. For any 
communication, the shareholders may also send requests to the Company’s investor email 
id: tirrihannah.co@gmail.com  

 
15. The Securities and Exchange Board of India (SEBI) has mandated the submission of 

Permanent Account Number (PAN) by every participant in securities market. Members 
holding shares in physical form can submit their PAN to the Company / RTA - M/s. MCS 
Share Transfer Agent Limited, 12/1/5 Monohar Pukur Road, Kolkata – 700 026. 

 
16. To prevent fraudulent transactions, members are advised to exercise due diligence and 

notify the Company of any change in address or demise of any member as soon as 
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possible. Members are also advised not to leave their demat account(s) dormant for long. 
Periodic statement of holdings should be obtained from the concerned Depository 
Participant and holdings should be verified. 

 
17. Corporate Members intending to send their authorized representatives to attend the AGM 

Pursuant to Section 113 of Companies Act, 2013 are requested to send to the Company a 
certified true copy of the Board resolution authorizing their representative to attend and 
vote on their behalf at the Meeting.  

 

18. Members are requested to bring their Identity Card or Details of Shares Held (eg. Folio No. 
etc.)  for easy identification of attendance at the Meeting Hall. 

 

19. Members holding shares in single name and physical form are advised to make nomination 
in respect of their shareholding in the Company. The nomination form SH - 13 can be obtain 
from M/s. - M/s. MCS Share Transfer Agent Limited, 12/1/5 Monohar Pukur Road, 
Kolkata – 700 026. (RTA).  

 

20. Members who hold shares in physical form in multiple folios in identical names or joint 
holding in the same order of names are requested to send the share certificates to M/s. - 
M/s. MCS Share Transfer Agent Limited, 12/1/5 Monohar Pukur Road, Kolkata – 700 026 
(RTA), for consolidation into a single folio. 

 

21. Members desirous of getting Information / Clarification on the Accounts and Operations 
of the company or intending to raise any query are requested to forward the same at least 
10 days in advance of the meeting to the Secretarial Department of the Company at the 
office address so as the same may be attended appropriately. 

 

22. VOTING THROUGH ELECTRONIC MEANS  
In compliance with Section 108 of the Companies Act, 2013, Rule 20 of the Companies 
(Management and Administration) Rules, 2014, as substituted by the Companies 
(Management and Administration) Amendment Rules, 2015 and Regulation 44 of the SEBI  
(Listing Obligations and Disclosure Requirements) Regulations, 2015, the Company is pleased 
to provide to its members facility to exercise their right to vote on resolutions proposed to be 
considered at the Annual General Meeting by electronic means and the business may be 
transacted through e-voting services arranged by Central Depository Services (India) Limited 
("CDSL"). The members may cast their votes using an electronic voting system from a place 
other than the venue of the Annual General Meeting (“remote e-voting”). In order to enable 
the Members, who do not have the access to e-voting facility, to send their assent or dissent in 
writing in respect of the resolutions as set out in this Notice, the Company is enclosing a Ballot 
Form with the Notice. Instructions for Ballot Form are given at the back of the said form and 
instructions for e-voting are given here in below.  
 
The facility for voting through ballot paper or polling paper will also be made available at the 
Annual General Meeting and the members attending the meeting who have not cast their vote 
by remote e-voting or by Ballot Form, shall be able to exercise their right at the meeting.  
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The Members who have cast their vote by remote e-voting or by Ballot Form prior to the 
Annual General Meeting may also attend the meeting but shall not be entitled to cast their 
vote again. 

 
The Process and manner for remote e-voting are as under:   
 

(i) The remote e-voting period begins on Monday, 23rd September, 2019 from 9.00 a.m. 
to Wednesday, 25th September, 2019 at 05.00 p.m. During this period shareholders’ of 
the Company, holding shares either in physical form or in dematerialized form, as on 
the cut-off date (record date) of 19th September, 2019, may cast their vote 
electronically. The remote e-voting module shall be disabled by CDSL for voting 
after 5.00 p.m. on 25th September, 2019. 
 

(ii) The shareholders should log on to the e-voting website www.evotingindia.com 
 

(iii) Click on “Shareholders” Tab. 
 

(iv) Now Enter your User ID: 
 

a. For CDSL: 16 digits beneficiary ID, 
b. For NSDL: 8 Character DP ID followed by 8 Digits Client ID,  
c. Members holding shares in Physical Form should enter Folio Number registered 

with the Company 
 

(v) Next enter the image verification as displayed and Click on Login 
 

(vi) If you are holding shares in demat form and had logged on to 
www.evotingindia.com and voted on an earlier voting of any company, then your 
existing password is to be used. 

 
(vii) If you are a first time user follow the steps given below:    

 
 For Members holding shares in Demat Form and Physical Form 

PAN 

Enter your 10 digit alpha-numeric PAN issued by Income Tax 
Department (Applicable for both demat shareholders as well as physical 
shareholders) 
 Members who have not updated their PAN with the 

Company/Depository Participant are requested to use the first two 
letters of their name and the 8 digits of the given sequence number 
in the PAN field. 

 In case the sequence number is less than 8 digits enter the applicable 
number of 0’s before the number after the first two characters of the 
name in CAPITAL letters. Eg. If your name is Ramesh Kumar with 
sequence number 1 then enter RA00000001 in the PAN field. 

  

Dividend 
Bank 

Enter the Dividend Bank Details or Date of Birth (in dd/mm/yyyy 
format) as recorded in your demat account or in the company records in 
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Details 
or Date 
of Birth 
(DOB) 

order to login. 

 If both the details are not recorded with the depository or 
company please enter the member id / folio number in the 
Dividend Bank details field as mentioned in instruction (iv). 

 
(viii) After entering these details appropriately, click on “SUBMIT” tab. 

 
(ix) Members holding shares in physical form will then directly reach the Company 

selection screen. However, members holding shares in demat form will now reach 
‘Password Creation’ menu wherein they are required to mandatorily enter their login 
password in the new password field. Kindly note that this password is to be also 
used by the demat holders for voting for resolutions of any other company on which 
they are eligible to vote, provided that company opts for e-voting through CDSL 
platform. It is strongly recommended not to share your password with any other 
person and take utmost care to keep your password confidential. 

 
(x) For Members holding shares in physical form, the details can be used only for e-

voting on the    resolutions contained in this Notice. 
 

(xi) Click on the EVSN for the relevant TIRRIHANNAH CO LTD on which you choose 
to   vote. 

 
(xii) On the voting page, you will see “RESOLUTION DESCRIPTION” and against the 

same the option “YES/NO” for voting. Select the option YES or NO as desired. The 
option YES implies that you assent to the Resolution and option NO implies that you 
dissent to the Resolution. 

 
(xiii) Click on the “RESOLUTIONS FILE LINK” if you wish to view the entire Resolution 

details. 
 

(xiv) After selecting the resolution you have decided to vote on, click on “SUBMIT”. A 
confirmation box will be displayed. If you wish to confirm your vote, click on “OK”, 
else to change your vote, click on “CANCEL” and accordingly modify your vote. 

 
(xv) Once you “CONFIRM” your vote on the resolution, you will not be allowed to 

modify your vote. 
 

(xvi) You can also take out print of the voting done by you by clicking on “Click here to 
print “option on the Voting page. 

 
(xvii) If Demat account holder has forgotten the same password / login password then 

Enter the User ID and the image verification code and click on Forgot Password & 
enter the details as prompted by the system. 
 

(xviii) Shareholders can also cast their vote using CDSL’s mobile app m-Voting available for 
android based mobiles. The m-Voting app can be downloaded from Google Play 
Store. iPhone and Windows phone users can download the app from the App Store 
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and the Windows Phone Store respectively. Please follow the instructions as 
prompted by the mobile app while voting on your mobile. 

 
(xix) Note for Non-Individual Shareholders & Custodians: 

 
 Non-Individual shareholders (i.e. other than Individuals, HUF, NRI etc.) and 

Custodians are required to log on to www.evotingindia.com and register themselves as 
Corporate and Custodians respectively. 

 A scanned copy of the Registration Form bearing the stamp and sign of the entity 
should be emailed to helpdesk.evoting@cdslindia.com 

 After receiving the login details they have to create a compliance user should be created 
using the admin login and password. The Compliance user would be able to link the 
account(s) for which they wish to vote on. 

 The list of accounts linked in the login should be emailed to 
helpdesk.evoting@cdslindia.com and on approval of the accounts they would be able to 
cast their vote.  

 A scanned copy of the Board Resolution and Power of Attorney (POA) which they have 
issued in favour of the Custodian, if any, should be uploaded in PDF format in the 
system for the scrutinizer to verify the same. 

 
(xx)   Person responsible to address the grievances connected with the electronic voting:  Mr. 

Rakesh Dalvi, Deputy Manager of CDSL (Contact No – 18002005533). In case you have 
any queries or issues regarding e-voting, you may also refer the Frequently Asked 
Question (FAQ) and e-voting manual available at www.evotingindia.com under the 
help section or write an email to helpdesk.evoting@cdslindia.com.  
 

(xxi) The voting rights of shareholders shall be in proportion to their shares of the paid up 
equity share capital of the Company as on the cut-off date (record date) of 19th 
September, 2019 and as per the Register of Members of the Company.  
 

(xxii) Any person, who acquires shares of the Company and become member of the 
Company after dispatch of the Notice of Annual General Meeting and holding shares 
as of the cut-off date, i.e., 19th September, 2019, may obtain the login ID and 
password by sending a request at helpdesk.evoting@cdslindia.com. However, if you 
are already registered with CDSL for remote e-voting then you can use your existing 
user ID and password for casting your vote. If you forgot your password, you can 
reset your password by using “Forgot User Details/Password” option available on 
www.evotingindia.com. 
 

(xxiii) A person, whose name is recorded in the register of members or in the register of 
beneficial owners maintained by the depositories as on the cutoff date only shall be 
entitled to avail the facility of remote e-voting, voting through Ballot Form, as well as 
voting at the Annual General Meeting. 

 
(xxiv) M/s. R. K. Bhatter, Practicing Chartered Accountant, has been appointed as the 

Scrutinizer to scrutinize the remote e-voting process (including the Ballot Form 
received from the Members who do not have access to the remote e-voting process) 
in a fair and transparent manner. 
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(xxv) A copy of this notice has been placed on the website of CDSL (www.cdslindia.com) 
and at Notice Board at Registered Office of the company.  

 
23. All documents referred to in the accompanying Notice and the Explanatory Statement shall 

be open for inspection at the Registered Office of the Company during normal business 
hours (10.00 am to 1.00 pm) on all working days except Saturdays, up to and including the 
date of the Annual General Meeting of the Company.  
 

24. The register of contracts or agreement in which the director’s are interested, maintained 
under Section 189 of the Companies Act, 2013, will be available for inspection by the 
members at the AGM.  
 

25. Voting through Physical Ballot Form: 
The members who do not have access to remote e-voting, are requested to fill in the 
physical ballot form being part of the Annual Report (a copy of the same is also part of the 
soft copy of the Annual Report) and submit the same in a sealed envelope to the 
Scrutinizer. Unsigned, incomplete or incorrectly ticked forms shall be rejected. The ballot 
form must be received by the Scrutinizer at the office address on or before 25th September, 
2019 (5.00 p.m.). The Scrutinizer’s decision on the validity of the forms will be final. A 
members can opt for only one mode of voting i.e. either through remote e-voting or by 
ballot form. If a member casts votes by both modes, then voting done through remote e-
voting shall prevail and Ballot Form shall be treated as invalid. 

 
26. Voting Facility at AGM 

At the Annual General Meeting, at the end of the discussion of the resolutions on which 
voting is to be held, the Chairman shall with the assistance of the Scrutinizer order voting, 
by way of Ballot paper,  for all those members who are present but have not cast their vote 
electronically using the remote e-voting facility or Ballot Form.  
 

27. The Scrutinizer shall immediately after the conclusion of voting at the Annual General 
Meeting, first count the votes at the Annual General Meeting, thereafter unblock the votes 
cast through remote e-voting in the presence of at least two witnesses not in the 
employment of the Company and make not later than 3 (Three days) from the conclusion 
of the meeting, a consolidated Scrutinizer’s Report of the total votes cast in favour or 
against, if any, to the Chairman or  a person authorised by him in writing who shall 
countersign the same. 
 

28. The Chairman or a person authorised by him in writing shall declare the result of voting 
forthwith.  
 

29. The results declared along with the Scrutinizer’s Report shall be available at registered 
office of the company and on the website of CDSL www.evotingindia.com  immediately 
after the result declared by the Chairman or any other person authorised by the Chairman 
and the same shall be communicated to Stock Exchange(s) where the shares of the 
Company are listed. The above said report and results shall also be displayed on the notice 
board of the company at its registered office. The resolutions, if passed by a requisite 
majority, shall be deemed to be passed to have been passed on the date of the Annual 
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General Meeting (i.e. 26th September, 2019)  
 

30. The investors may contact the Company Secretary for redressal of their grievances/queries. For this 
purpose, they may either write to him at the Registered office address or e-mail their 
grievances/queries to the Company at the following e-mail address: tirrihannah.co@gmail.com  

 
 

31. Route-map from Howrah Railway Station to 5, Kiran Shankar Roy Road, Kolkata – 700001, 
the venue of the Meeting is as under. 

 

 
 
 
 
 

Registered Office:                                     By Order of the Board  
5, Kiran Shankar Roy Road                                                           Sd/- Ghanshyam Das Kankani 
Kolkata-700 001                                                                                             Managing Director               
                                             DIN-00565520 
Date: 14th Day of August, 2019 
Place: Kolkata 
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INFORMATION REQUIRED TO BE FURNISHED UNDER REGULATION 36 (3) OF THE 
SEBI (LISTING OBLIGATIONS AND DISCLOSURE REQUIREMENTS) REGULATIONS, 
2015 FOR DIRECTORS SEEKING APPOINTMENT / REAPPOINTMENT IN 
FORTHCOMING ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING. 
 

Name Ag
e 
  

Qualific
ation 

Experience Position 
in the 
Company 

Listed Co. (other than 
Tirrihannah) in which 
directors hold 
directorship and 
committee 
membership. 

Sharehol
dings in 
the 
Compan
y  

Directors 
inter-se 
relation 

     Direc
torshi
p 

Chair 
person 
of 
Board 
Comm
ittees 

Mem
bers 
of 
Boar
d 
Com
mitte
es 

  

Mr. 
Ghanshyam 
Das Kankani 

54 
yrs. 

Graduate  He has more than 30 
years of experience in 
the field of Tea 
Industries plantations. 
He also owns a 
commendable position 
in the Real estate 
business. He has 
excellent Command in 
the field of Finance, 
Legal and 
Administration.   

Managing 
Director 

Nil 
 
 

Nil 
 
 

Nil 
 
 

184190 Father of 
Mr. 
Umesh 
Kankani 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

PARTICULARS OF DIRECTORS  
SEEKING APPOINTMENT / REAPPOINTMENT 

Management and Governance 



Tirrihannah Company Limited Annual Report and Financial Statements 2018-19 15 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
Dear Shareowners,  
 
Your Directors have pleasure in presenting the 111th Annual Report of your Company 
together with the Audited Financial Statements for the year ended March 31, 2019. 
 
Financial Highlights/ Results 
 
Your Directors take pleasure in presenting the 111th Annual Report on the business and 
operations of your Company along with the financial statements for the year ended 31 March, 
2019.  

(Amount in ) 
  2018-2019 2017-2018 

Net Turnover and other Income 115302798.00 8,80,43,397.00 

Profit before Tax & Exceptional Items (22797124.00) (2,81,13,978.00) 

Less : Extra- Ordinary Items - - 

Profit before Tax (22797124.00) (2,81,13,978.00) 

Less : Provision for Tax - - 

Profit After Tax (22797124.00) (2,81,13,978.00) 

Less : Prior Period Expenses - - 

Net Profit for the year  (22797124.00) (2,81,13,978.00) 

Surplus Brought Forward from last 
balance sheet  

(155585809.00) (12,74,71,831.00) 

Surplus Carried forward  (178382933.00) (15,55,85,809.00) 

 
RESULTS OF OPERATIONS & STATE OF AFFAIRS OF THE COMPANY 

The gross turnover for the year under review was Rs. 11.53 crores and showed increased of  
69.95%. the company had incurred a loss of Rs. 2.27 cr. as compared to previous year loss Rs. 
2.81 crores.   

 
Tea industry continued to harvest lower crop due to inadequate rainfall from last three years. 
The production of the Company is increased by 17.35%. During the year under review, the 
production and consumption of the Tea are summarized below:  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

DIRECTORS’ REPORT 

Management and Governance 
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A) Production Summary: 
 
 

Particulars For the year ended 
31st March 2019 

For the year ended 
31st March 2018 

a) Installed Capacity  15 Lacs Kgs 
(Approx.) 

15 Lacs Kgs 
(Approx.) 

b) Actual Production  890906 Kgs 759176 Kgs 
c) Total Sales during the year excluding for 
Shortage Samples Garden use Tea Waste, 
Damage Tea  

887669 Kgs 755358 Kgs 

d) Complimentary /shortage and excess  - - 
 e) Opening Stock 41550 Kgs  37732 Kgs  
f) Closing Stock of Tea Garden Production  44787 Kgs 41550 Kgs 

 
B) Consumption Summary: 
 

Particulars For the year ended 
31st March 2019        

(Qty in Kgs.) 

For the year ended 
31st March 2018      

(Qty in Kgs.) 
a) Indigenous Raw Materials (Green Tea)   

b) Opening Stock Nil Nil 
c) Production (own plucking) 3625537 3684798 
d) Purchase of Green Leaf Nil Nil 
e) Consumption 3625537 3335680 
f) Sales of Green Leaf Nil 349118 
g) Green Leaf Shortage/ Other Nil Nil 
f) Closing Stock Nil Nil 

 
 
The Company for the last five years financial results was not satisfactory. The present management are 
trying very hard to begin it’s goodwill in the market and thus taken several measures to turn out the 
company as a profit making and money back with in this year. 

 
Expansion & Planning  
 
The manpower planning in the factory as well as at Head office is being looked into. The company’s 
Assets & Liabilities are being revived and presently taking policy to export the teas to the world market. 
We have put in use Tractors, Wood-Chipper for Re-Planting of New Tea Bush to increase the crop. 
We have also purchased Irrigation Set for Water-Supply.  
 
Company is also planning to set up a Dairy Farming Project and for this purpose, the Board of Directors 
have decided to purchase a 500 bighas land near Udaipur (Rajasthan) in the group.   

 
DIVIDEND   
 
During the year the Company was successful in reducing the losses accumulated during the 
past few years, however the Company does not have any surplus profits yet. Therefore your 
directors have expressed inability to recommend dividend for the financial year ending on 31st 
March, 2019.  
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TRANSFER OF UNCLAIMED DIVIDEND TO INVESTOR EDUCTION AND 
PROTECTION FUND 
 
Your Company did not recommended any dividend therefore there were no such funds which 
were required to be transferred to Investor Education and Protection Fund (IEPF).  
 
TRANSFER TO RESERVE   
No amount was transferred to the reserves during the financial year ended 31st March, 2019. 

 
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENT  

As per the definition in the Companies Act, 2013 (“the Act”) and Accounting Standard (AS) - 
21 on Consolidated Financial Statements read with AS - 23 on Accounting for Investments, the 
company does not have any investment in the Subsidiary Company, Joint Ventures Company 
or any other Associates Company therefore the Consolidation of Financial Statements is not 
applicable.  

	
DETAILS OF SUBSIDIARY/JOINT VENTURES/ASSOCIATE COMPANIES  
The Company does not have any Subsidiary, Associates and Joint venture Companies there 
by; there are no details to be provided under [Rule 8 of the Companies (Accounts) Rules, 
2014]. Read with section 129 (3) of the Companies Act, 2013.during the year under review, no 
company has become or ceased as subsidiary, associate or joint venture companies.  
 
FIXED DEPOSITS COVERED UNDER CHAPTER V OF THE COMPANIES ACT, 2013 
During the year under review, the Company has not accepted any deposits from the public in 
terms of Section 73, 74 & 76 of the Companies Act, 2013 read with Rule 8(5)(v) of Companies 
(Accounts) Rules, 2014.  

 
CHANGE IN THE NATURE OF BUSINESS, IF ANY  
The Company is engaged in the business of Tea production and there was no such changes in 
the business activities as such.  

 
DETAILS IN RESPECT OF ADEQUACY OF INTERNAL FINANCIAL CONTROLS WITH 
REFERENCE TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS. 
 
INTERNAL CONTROL SYSTEMS AND AUDIT OVERVIEW 
 
The Company has in place adequate internal financial controls with reference to financial 
statements, commensurate with the size and nature of its business, forms an integral part of 
the Company’s corporate governance policies. 
 
INTERNAL CONTROL 
 
The Company has a proper and adequate system of internal control commensurate with the 
size and nature of its business. Internal control systems are integral to the Company’s 
corporate governance policy. Some of the significant features of internal control systems 
includes:  
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 Documenting of policies, guidelines, authorities and approval procedures, 

encompassing the Company’s all primary functions. 
 Deploying of an ERP system which covers most of its operations and is supported by a 

defined on-line authorization protocol. 
 Ensuring complete compliance with laws, regulations, standards and internal 

procedures and systems. 
 De-risking the Company’s assets/resources and protecting them from any loss. 
 Ensuring the accounting system’s integrity proper and authorised recording and 

reporting of all transactions. 
 Preparing and monitoring of annual budgets for all operating and service functions. 
 Ensuring the reliability of all financial and operational information. 
 Forming an Audit committee of the Board of Directors, comprising Independent 

Directors. The Audit Committee regularly reviews audit plans, significant audit 
findings, adequacy of internal controls, and compliance with accounting standards and 
so on. 

 Forming a comprehensive Information Security Policy and continuous up-gradation of 
IT Systems. 
 

The internal control systems and procedures are designed to assist in the identification and 
management of risks, the procedure-led verification of all compliance as well as an enhanced 
control consciousness.  
 
INTERNAL AUDIT  
 
The Company has a strong internal audit department reporting to the Audit Committee 
comprising Independent Directors who are experts in their field. The scope of work, authority 
and resources of Internal Audit (IA) are regularly reviewed by the Audit Committee and its 
work is supported by the services of the Internal Auditor of the Company. 
 
The Company continued to implement their suggestions and recommendations to improve the 
control environment. Their scope of work includes review of processes for safeguarding the 
assets of the Company, review of operational efficiency, effectiveness of systems and 
processes, and assessing the internal control strengths in all areas. Internal Auditors findings 
are discussed with the process owners and suitable corrective actions taken as per the 
directions of Audit Committee on an ongoing basis to improve efficiency in operations. 
Through IA function the Board obtains the assurance it requires to ensure that risks to the 
business are properly identified, evaluated and managed. IA also provides assurance to the 
Board on the effectiveness of relevant internal controls.  
 
INTERNAL FINANCIAL CONTROLS  
 
As per Section 134 (5) (e) of the Companies Act 2013, the Directors have an overall 
responsibility for ensuring that the Company has implemented robust systems and framework 
of internal financial controls. This provides the Directors with reasonable assurance regarding 
the adequacy and operating effectiveness of controls with regards to reporting, operational 
and compliance risks. To enable them to meet these responsibilities, the Company has devised 
appropriate systems and framework including proper delegation of authority, policies and 
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procedures, effective IT systems aligned to business requirements, risk based internal audit 
framework, risk management framework and whistle blower mechanism. 
 
The Audit Committee regularly reviews the internal control system to ensure that it remains 
effective and aligned with the business requirements. Where weaknesses are identified as a 
result of the reviews, new procedures are put in place to strengthen controls. These are in turn 
reviewed at regular intervals.  
 
The Company has developed a framework for designing and assessing effectiveness of 
internal controls over financial reporting and has already laid down entity level policies and 
process level standard operating procedures. 
 
The entity level policies comprise anti-fraud policies (code of conduct, including conflict of 
interest,  confidentiality and whistle-blower policy) and other policies (organization structure, 
roles and responsibilities, insider trading policy, HR policy, related party policy, prevention of 
sexual harassment policy, IT security policy, business continuity and disaster recovery plan 
and treasury risk management policy). The Company has also prepared Standard Operating 
Practices (SOP) for each of its processes of revenue to receive, procure to pay, hire to retire, 
finance and accounts, fixed assets, treasury, inventory, manufacturing operations, and 
administrative expenses. 
 
Directors had devised proper systems to ensure compliance with the provisions of all 
applicable laws and During the year, such controls were tested and no reportable material 
weakness in the design or operation were observed and such systems were adequate and 
operating effectively. 
 
PARTICULARS OF CONTRACTS OR ARRANGEMENTS WITH RELATED PARTIES: 
During the year, the Company had not entered into any contract / arrangement / transaction 
with related parties hence there are no information which is required to furnish in form AOC-
2.  
INSURANCE 
The Company’s plants & machineries, factories and other movables are adequately insured against 
various risks. 
 
AUTHORITY TO DETERMINE MATERIALITY OF AN EVENT AND DISCLOSURE OF 
THE SAME TO STOCK EXCHANGE UNDER REGUALTION 30(5) OF SEBI (LISTING 
OBLIGATIONS AND DISCLOSURE REQUIREMENTS) REGAULTION, 2015 
 
Mr. G D Kankani, Managing Director of the Company and Mr. Umesh Kankani, Director cum 
Chief Financial Officer of the Company authorized by the Board for the purpose of 
determining the materiality of an event or information, in terms with the Company’s Policy on 
disclosure of material event / information and archival policy to comply with the Provisions 
of Regulation 30 (5) of the SEBI ( Listing Obligations and Disclosure Requirements) 
Regulations, 2015  and they are jointly and severally authorized to make necessary disclosure 
to stock exchanges regarding the same on behalf of the Company. 
 
INDUSTRIAL RELATION AND PERSONNEL 
 



Tirrihannah Company Limited Annual Report and Financial Statements 2018-19 20 
 

Your Company attaches great importance to human resource. Over a period of time, we have 
built and nurtured a dedicated and excellent workforce and also recruiting new people in 
order to meet the revival plans of the company. The processes for attracting, retaining and 
rewarding talent are well laid down and the systems are transparent to identify and reward 
performers. Company is committed to the welfare of its people and their families and to 
improve the quality of their life by providing the required facilities.  

 
The Company recognizes the importance and contribution of its people towards achieving the 
common goal.  During the year under the review, industrial relations at all units of the 
Company continued to be cordial and peaceful.  
 
HUMAN RESOURCES MANAGEMENT    

 
The company has been given much emphasis on Human Resources Development. Over a 
period of time, we have built and nurtured a dedicated and excellent workforce and also 
recruiting new people in order to meet the revival plans of the company. The Company has 
emerged as a true national firm with cosmopolitan atmosphere. The company’s HR polices 
and process is as well aligned to effectively suit its expanding business horizons and future 
manpower requirement.  This has been achieved by continuously stressing upon training & 
development, empowerment and creating a compelling work environment and maintaining 
well structured reward & recognition mechanism. Company is committed to the welfare of its 
people and their families and to improve the quality of their life by providing the required 
facilities. 
 
FINANCE  
During the year all the finance commitment were met in time. Liquidity throughout the year 
was quite comfortable. The company has no unpaid or unclaimed deposit at the end of the 
year. 
 
SAFETY  
The company has continued to scale up safety performance at all locations. Safety measures 
have been strengthened and employees are being trained to think on hazards/risks associated 
with their job. Systems have been established to make employees responsible and accountable 
for safety. Good safety performance is being rewarded. While Safety has been included as a 
corporate value, the main objective is to achieve better standard of safety in the shortest 
possible time.  
 
CORPORATE SOCIAL RESPONSIBILITY 
The management has adopted corporate social responsibility (CSR) well at par with its 
business with the objective of creating wealth in the community with focus on education, 
heath, water and society. Social welfare, community development, economic and 
environmental responsibilities are at the core of the CSR of the Company. 
 
DIRECTORS AND KEY MANAGERIAL PERSONNEL 
In accordance with the provisions of Section 152 of the Companies Act, 2013 and in terms of 
the Articles of Association of the Company, Mr. G D Kankani Whole Time Director, retires by 
rotation at the forthcoming Annual General Meeting and being eligible, offers himself for re-
appointment.  
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Suitable resolutions for appointment / reappointment of Directors, as referred above, will be 
placed for approval of the members in the forthcoming Annual General Meeting. The brief 
resume and other information of the concerned directors, in terms of the Regulation 36 (3) of 
SEBI  (Listing Obligations and Disclosure Requirements) Regulations, 2015  have been detailed 
as an annexure in the notice convening the forthcoming Annual General Meeting.    
 
Your Company has received from the Independent Directors Certificate of Independence, as 
enumerated in section 149(6) of the Companies Act, 2013.    
 
KEY MANAGERIAL PERSONNEL  
Mr. G D Kankani, Managing Director, Mr. Umesh Kankani, Director cum Chief Financial 
Officer are the Key Managerial Personnel of your company in accordance with the provision 
of Section 2(51) and 203 of the companies act, 2013 read with Companies (Appointment and 
Remuneration of Managerial Personnel) Rules, 2014 read with SEBI (LODR) Regulations, 2015.  
However the management are searching the suitable person for the same.  
 
Company’s policy of appointment and remuneration for directors, KMP and other 
employees including criteria for determining qualifications, positive attributes, director’s 
independence (read with Sections 178 (1) (3) (4) 
 
The Nomination and Remuneration Committee works with the Board to determine the 
appropriate characteristics, skills and experience for the Board as a whole and its individual 
members with the objective of having a Board with diverse backgrounds and experience in 
business, government, education and public service. Characteristics expected of all Directors 
include independence, integrity, high personal and professional ethics, sound business 
judgment, ability to participate constructively in deliberations and willingness to exercise 
authority in a collective manner. 
 
The Company’s Policy relating to appointment of Directors, payment of Managerial 
remuneration, Directors’ qualifications, positive attributes, independence of Directors and 
other related matters as provided under Section 178(3) of the Companies Act, 2013 is furnished 
in Annexure ‘A’    and  is attached to this report. 
  
Further, Nomination and Remuneration Policy for Directors, Key Managerial Personnel and 
other employees 2013 is furnished in Annexure ‘B’ and  is attached to this report. 
 
Declaration by an Independent Director(s)  
 
As required under section 149(7) of the Companies Act, 2013, The Company has received 
declarations from all the Independent Directors of the Company confirming that they meet the 
criteria of independence and / or  to qualify themselves to be appointed as Independent 
Directors as prescribed both under Section 149 (6) of the Companies  Act’ 2013 and Regulation 
25 of the SEBI (Listing Obligations and Disclosure Requirements) Regulations, 2015 , The Board 
considered the independence of each of the Independent Directors in terms of the above 
provisions and is of the view that they fulfill/meet the criteria of independence. and the 
declarations are available at the registered office of the company.  
 
Familliarisation Programme for Independent Directors. 
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All New Independent Directors (IDs) inducted into the Board are given an orientation. 
Presentations are made by Executive Directors (EDs) and Senior Management giving an 
overview of our operations, to familiarize the new IDs with the Company’s business 
operations. The new IDs are given an orientation on our products, group structure, Board 
constitution and Procedures, matters reserved for the Board, and our major risks and risk 
management strategy. 
 
The company familiarises the Independent Directors of the Company with their roles, rights, 
responsibilities in the company, nature of the industry in which the company operates, 
business model of the company, etc and related matters are available at the registered office of 
the company. 
  
Separate Independent Director Meeting 
 
In term of requirements of Schedule IV of the Companies Act, 2013 and Regulation 25 of 
Securities and Exchange Board of India (Listing Obligations and Disclosure Requirements) 
Regulations, 2015, a separate meeting of the independent directors (“Annual ID meeting”) was 
convened on 02nd March, 2019 and All the Independent Directors were present at the said 
Meeting. 
 
The Independent Directors at the meeting reviewed the following: 
 
a.  Performance of Non-Independent Directors and the Board as a  whole; 
b.  Performance of the Chairman of the Company, taking into account the views of Executive 
Directors and Non-Executive Directors; and 
c.  Assess the quality, quantity and timeliness of flow of information between the Company 
Management and the Board that is necessary for the Board to effectively and reasonably 
perform their duties. 
 
Post the Annual ID meeting, the collective feedback of each of the Independent Directors was 
discussed by the Chairperson of the Nomination Remuneration Committee with the Board 
covering performance of the Board as a whole, performance of the non-independent directors 
and performance of the Board Chairman. 
 
In addition to formal meetings, interactions outside the Board meetings also take place 
between the Chairman and Independent Directors. 
 
BOARD ANNUAL EVALUATION  
Pursuant to Regulation 17(10) of SEBI (Listing Obligations & Disclosure Requirements) 
Regulations, 2015, and In compliance with the Section 134(3) (p) Company has devised a 
Policy for performance evaluation of Independent Directors, Board, Committees and other 
individual Directors which include criteria for performance evaluation of the non-executive 
directors and executive directors. 
 
The Board carried out an annual performance evaluation of its own performance, the 
individual Directors as well as the working of the Committees of the Board. The performance 
evaluation of the Independent Directors was carried out by the entire Board in compliance 
with Schedule IV to the Companies Act, 2013. The performance evaluation of the Chairman, 
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Whole- Time Director and the Non- Independent Directors was carried out by Independent 
Directors. Details of the same are given in the Report on Corporate Governance annexed 
hereto. 
 
The Chairperson of the Nomination and Remuneration Committee (NRC) held separate 
discussions with each of the Directors of the Company and obtained their feedback on overall 
Board effectiveness as well as on each of the other Directors. 
 
While evaluating the performance and effectiveness of the Board, various aspects of the 
Board’s functioning such as adequacy of the composition and quality of the Board, time 
devoted by the Board to Company’s long-term strategic issues, quality and transparency of 
Board discussions, execution and performance of specific duties, obligations and governance 
were taken into consideration. Committee performance was evaluated on the basis of their 
effectiveness in carrying out respective mandates. A separate exercise was carried out to 
evaluate the performance of Independent Directors including the Chairman of the Board, who 
were evaluated on parameters such as level of engagement and contribution to Board 
deliberations, independence of judgment, safeguarding the interest of the Company and focus 
on creation of shareholders value, ability to guide the Company in key matters, attendance at 
meetings, etc. The Executive Directors were evaluated on parameters such as strategy 
implementation, leadership skills, quality, quantity and timeliness of the information flow to 
the Board, etc.  
 
The Directors expressed their satisfaction with the evaluation process. 
 
The Detailed Policy on Performance Evaluation of Independent Directors, Board, Committees 
and other individual Directors are available at the registered office of the Company.  
 
MANAGERIAL REMUNERATION:  
 The following disclosures have been mentioned in detailed under the heading “Corporate 
Governance”, part of this Annual Report :— 
 
(i) all elements of remuneration package such as salary, benefits, bonuses, stock options, 

pension, etc., of all the directors; 
(ii) details of fixed component and performance linked incentives along with the 

performance criteria; 
(iii) service contracts, notice period, severance fees; 
(iv) Stock option details, if any, and whether the same has been issued at a discount as well 

as the period over which accrued and over which exercisable. 
 

CODE OF INDEPENDENT DIRECTORS - SCHEDULE - IV  
The Board has considered Code of Independent Directors as prescribed in Schedule IV of the 
Companies Act, 2013. The code is a guide to professional conduct for independent directors’ 
adherence to these standards by independent directors and fulfillment of their responsibility 
in a professional and faithful manner will promote confidence of the investment community 
and regulators. 
 
The broad items for code for independent directors are: 
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(i) Guidelines for Professional conduct. 
(ii) Role and Functions. 
(iii) Duties 
(iv) Manner and process of appointment. 
(v) Re-appointment on the basis of report of performance evaluation. 
(vi) Resignation or Removal. 
(vii) At least one Separate meeting of Independent Directors in a year without attendance of 

non independent directors or members of management. 
(viii) Evaluation mechanism of Independent Directors by entire Board of Directors. 

 
The Detailed Code of Conduct of Independent Directors of the Company and Code of 
Conduct for Board of Directors and Senior Management of the Company are available at the 
registered office of the company.  
 
TIRRIHANNAH’S CODE OF CONDUCT FOR THE PREVENTION OF INSIDER 
TRADING 
 
The Board of Directors has adopted the Insider Trading Policy in accordance with the 
requirements of the SEBI (Prohibition of Insider Trading) Regulations, 2015. The Insider 
Trading Policy of the Company lays down guidelines and procedures to be followed, and 
disclosures to be made while dealing with shares of the Company. as well as the consequences 
of violation. The Policy has been formulated to regulate, monitor and ensure reporting of deals 
by employees and to maintain the highest ethical standards of dealing in Company Securities. 
 
The Insider Trading Policy of the Company covering code of Practices and procedures for fair 
disclosures of unpublished price sensitive information and code of conduct for the prevention 
of insider trading, is available at the registered office of the company.  
 
COMPLIANCE WITH CODE OF ETHICS FOR BOARD OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR 
EXECUTIVES 
 
All Directors and Senior Management Personnel have affirmed Compliance with the Code of 
Ethics for Board of Directors and Senior Executives. A Declaration to that effect is attached 
with the Corporate Governance Report. 
 
DIRECTORS RESPONSIBILITY STATEMENT 
Pursuant to the requirements under section 134(3)(c) and 134(5) of the Companies Act, 2013, 
your directors hereby state and confirm that — 
 
a) In the preparation of the annual accounts, the applicable accounting standards had been 

followed along with proper explanation relating to material departures; 
 

b) The directors had selected such accounting policies and applied them consistently and 
made judgments and estimates that are reasonable and prudent so as to give a true and 
fair view of the state of affairs of the company as at March 31, 2019 and of the profit and 
loss of the company for the year ended on that date; 
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c) The directors had taken proper and sufficient care for the maintenance of adequate 
accounting records in accordance with the provisions of this Act for safeguarding the 
assets of the company and for preventing and detecting fraud and other irregularities; 

 
d) The directors had prepared the annual accounts on a going concern basis; and 

 
e) The directors had laid down internal financial controls to be followed by the company 

and that such internal financial controls are adequate and were operating effectively; and 
 
f) The directors had devised proper systems to ensure compliance with the provisions of all 

applicable laws and that such systems were adequate and operating effectively. 
 

AUDITORS AND AUDITOR’S REPORT  
 
Statutory Auditors 
 
The Auditors, Ghosh Basu LLP, CA Manas Ghosh, Chartered Accountant, (Firm Registration 
No. 306040E/E300013) was appointed as statutory auditors of the company for five consecutive 
year in the 110th AGM to hold the office till the conclusion of 114th AGM. 
 
The Company has received necessary consent and certificates under Section 139 from the 
above Auditors to the effect that they satisfied the criteria provided in section 141 of the 
Companies Act, 2013 read with Cos. (Audit &Auditors) Rules, 2014. 
 
No frauds have been reported by the Auditors under Section 143 (12) of the Companies Act, 
2013 requiring disclosure in the Board Report. 
 
AUDITORS’ REPORT 
The observations made by the Statutory Auditors in their report for the financial year ended 
31st March 2019 read with the explanatory notes therein are self-explanatory and therefore, do 
not call for any further explanation or comments from the Board under Section 134(3) of the 
Companies Act, 2013. The Auditors’ Report does not contain any qualification, reservation or 
adverse remark. 

 
ACCOUNTING POLICIES & PROCEDURES   
The major accounting policies as narrated in the Notes an Accounts  in conformity With 
Accounting Standards Which have been specified in the Companies Act, 2013 and the Rules 
framed there under as applicable to the Company have been followed as usual in course of 
preparing and presenting these Accounts. 
 
Your Company have an adequate Internal Audit system. The Internal Audit was carried out 
by external firms of Chartered Accountants, who submits their Reports upon completion of 
Audit periodically for consideration by the Directors.  

 
 

SECRETARIAL AUDITORS AND  AUDIT REPORT  
Pursuant to the provisions of Section 204 of the Companies Act, 2013 and The Companies 
(Appointment and Remuneration of Managerial Personnel) Rules, 2014, the Company had 
appointed CS Sonam Agarwal, a Practicing Company Secretary having office at Kolkata to 
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undertake the Secretarial Audit of the Company. The Report of the Secretarial Audit carried 
out is annexed herewith as Annexure “C”. The report does not contain any observation or 
qualification requiring explanation or comments from the Board under Section 134(3) of the 
Companies Act, 2013. 
 
The Board at its meeting held on August 14, 2019, has re-appointed CS Sonam Agarwal, a 
Practicing Company Secretary of Kolkata, as Secretarial Auditor, for conducting Secretarial 
Audit of the Company for FY 2019-20. 
 
AUDIT COMMITTEE.  
Audit Committee is constituted as per Regulation 18 of the SEBI (Listing Obligations and 
Disclosure Requirements) Regulations, 2015 read with Section 177 of the Companies Act, 2013. 
Composition of Audit Committee is as per Section 177 (8) of Companies Act, 2013. The Prime 
Objective of the Committee is to monitor and provide effective supervision of the 
Management‘s financial reporting process, to ensure accurate and timely disclosures, with the 
highest levels of transparency, integrity and quality of financial reporting. 
 
Composition and Terms of reference of the Committee is explained in Detail in the Corporate 
Governance Part of this Annual Report. 
 
There was no recommendation as such in the Financial Year 2018-19 from the Audit 
Committee which was not accepted by the Board. 
 
VIGIL MECHNISM 

In pursuance of Section 177(9) of the Companies Act, 2013 and Regulation 22 read with 
Regulation 4(2)(d)(iv) of Securities and Exchange Board of India (Listing Obligations and 
Disclosure Requirements) Regulations, 2015 ,  Vigil Mechanism has been Constituted for 
directors and employees to report genuine concerns and Audit committee shall oversee the 
vigil mechanism through the committee and provide adequate safeguards against 
victimization of employees and directors who availed of the vigil mechanism and have a 
direct access to the chairman of the audit committee in exceptional case. 
 
In case of repeated frivolous complaints being filed by the director or an employee the audit 
committee may take suitable action including reprimand if necessary. 
 
CONSTITUTION OF STAKEHOLDERS RELATIONSHIP COMMITTEE 
The Board has constituted a Stakeholders Relationship Committee According to 178 (5) of the 
Companies Act 2013 and Regulation 20 of the SEBI (Listing Obligations and Disclosure 
Requirements) Regulations, 2015. The SR Committee is primarily responsible to review all 
matters connected with the Company’s transfer of securities and redressal of shareholders’ / 
investors’ / security holders’ complaints. The Committee also monitors the implementation 
and compliance with the Company’s Code of Conduct for prohibition of Insider Trading. 
 
Composition and Terms of Reference of the SR Committee is Detailed in Corporate 
Governance Report Part of this Annual Report. 
 
NOMINATION AND REMUNERATION COMMITTEE  
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The Board has set up a Nomination and Remuneration Committee In compliance with Section 
178 of the Companies Act, 2013 and Regulation 19 of the SEBI (Listing Obligations and 
Disclosure Requirements) Regulations, 2015. This Committee is responsible for making Policy 
pursuant to Proviso to Section 178 (3) & (4) read with Rules made there under and Securities 
and Exchange Board of India (Listing Obligations and Disclosure Requirements) Regulations, 
2015 and / or recommending to the Board, the remuneration package Directors, KMP & other 
employees, including their annual increment and commission after reviewing their 
performance and also to decide the Criteria for determining appointment Qualifications, 
Positive attributes, and Independence of a Director 

 
The Details Regarding the Composition of the Committee, Meetings held and Terms Of 
reference etc. is detailed in Corporate Governance Report Part of this Annual Report. And the 
Detailed Nomination and Remuneration Policy is attached as Annexure ‘B’ to this Report. 
 
RISK MANAGEMENT  
During the year, your Directors have constituted a Risk Management Committee in 
Compliance with Companies Act, 2013 and Regulation 21 of the SEBI (Listing Obligations and 
Disclosure Requirements) Regulations, 2015 which has been entrusted with the responsibility 
to assist the Board in (a) Overseeing and approving the Company’s enterprise wide risk 
management framework; and (b) Overseeing that all the risks that the organization faces such 
as strategic, financial, credit, market, liquidity, security, property, IT, legal, regulatory, 
reputational and other risks have been identified and assessed and there is an adequate risk 
management infrastructure in place capable of addressing those risks. A Risk Management 
Policy was reviewed and approved by the Committee and which is available at the registered 
office of the company. 
 
The Company manages monitors and reports on the principal risks and uncertainties that can 
impact its ability to achieve its strategic objectives. The Company’s management systems, 
organizational structures, processes, standards, code of conduct and behaviors together form 
the Tirrihannah Management System that governs how the Group conducts the business of the 
Company and manages associated risks. 
 
The Company has introduced several improvements to Integrated Enterprise Risk 
Management, Internal Controls Management and Assurance Frameworks and processes to 
drive a common integrated view of risks, optimal risk mitigation responses and efficient 
management of internal control and assurance activities. This integration is enabled by all 
three being fully aligned across Group wide Risk Management, Internal Control and Internal 
Audit methodologies and processes. 
 
DISCLOSURE AS PER THE SEXUAL HARASSMENT OF WOMEN AT WORKPLACE 
(PREVENTION, PROHIBITION AND REDRESSAL) ACT, 2013. 
 
The Company has zero tolerance towards sexual harassment at the workplace and has 
adopted a policy on prevention, prohibition and redressal of sexual harassment at workplace 
in line with the provisions of the Sexual Harassment of Women at Workplace (Prevention, 
Prohibition and Redressal) Act, 2013 and the Rules thereunder.  
 
Your Directors state that during the year under review, there were no cases filed pursuant to 
the Sexual Harassment of Women at Workplace (Prevention, Prohibition and Redressal) Act, 
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2013. 
 
CORPORATE GOVERNANCE  
 
Transparency is the cornerstone of your Company’s philosophy and all requirements of 
Corporate Governance are adhered to both in letter and spirit. All the Committees of the 
Board of Directors meets at regular intervals as required in terms of SEBI (Listing Obligations 
& Disclosure Requirements) Regulations, 2015. Your Board of Directors has taken all necessary 
steps to ensure compliance with all statutory requirements. The Directors and Key 
Management Personnel of your Company have complied with the approved ‘Code of Ethics 
for Board of Directors and Senior Executives’ of the Company. 
 
The Report on Corporate Governance as required under the SEBI (Listing Obligations & 
Disclosure Requirements) Regulations, 2015 forms part of this Annual Report. The Auditors’ 
Certificate on compliance with Corporate Governance requirements is also attached to 
Corporate Governance’s Report. Further as required under Regulation 17(8) of SEBI (Listing 
Obligations & Disclosure Requirements) Regulations, 2015, a certificate from the Whole- Time 
Director & CFO is being annexed with this Report. 
 
MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS  
In terms of the provisions of Regulation 34 of the SEBI (Listing Obligations and Disclosure 
Requirements) Regulations, 2015, the Management’s Discussion and Analysis Report for the 
year under review,  is presented in a separate section forming part of the Annual Report. 
 
E-VOTING FACILITY AT AGM 
In compliance with Section 108 of the Companies Act, 2013, Rule 20 of the Companies 
(Management and Administration) Rules, 2014, as substituted by the Companies 
(Management and Administration) Amendment Rules, 2015 and Regulation 44 of the SEBI  
(Listing Obligations and Disclosure Requirements) Regulations, 2015, the company is pleased 
to provide members facility to exercise their votes for all the resolutions detailed in the Notice 
of the 110th Annual Report of the company and the business may be transacted through e-
voting.  The company has engaged the services of Central Depository Services Limited (CDSL) 
as the authorized agency to provide the e-voting facility.   
 
INDUSTRIAL RELATIONS 

During the year under review, your Company had cordial and harmonious industrial relations 
at all levels of the Organization. 
 
DISCLOSURES 
 
NUMBER OF MEETINGS OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS     
During the year, Eight Board Meeting were convened and held, details of the meetings of the 
Board and various Committees of your Company are set out in the Corporate Governance 
Report which forms part of this Report. The intervening gap between the meetings was within 
the period prescribed under the Companies Act, 2013 and Regulation 17 of the  Securities and 
Exchange Board of India (Listing Obligations and Disclosure Requirements) Regulations, 2015. 
 
EXTRACT OF THE ANNUAL RETURN  
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The extracts of Annual Return pursuant to the provisions of Section 92 read with Rule 12 of 
the Companies (Management and administration ) Rules, 2014 and Section 134(3)(a) of 
Companies Act, 2013 is furnished in Annexure ‘D’ and is attached to this Report. 
 
PARTICULARS OF LOANS, GUARANTEES OR INVESTMENTS UNDER SECTION 186 
There were no loans, guarantees made by the Company under Section 186 of the Companies 
Act, 2013 during the year under review. However the company has made the Investment in 
quoted/unquoted securities as a long term/ current investments and the details of the 
investments covered under the provisions of section 186 of the companies act, 2013 are given 
in the financial statements.  
 
CONSERVATION OF ENERGY, TECHNOLOGY ABSORPTION, FOREIGN EXCHANGE 
EARNINGS AND OUTGO  
The details of conservation of energy, technology absorption, foreign exchange earnings and 
outgo as required under Section 134 (3)(m) of the Companies Act, 2013 read with Rule 8(3) of 
the Companies (Accounts) Rules, 2014 is furnished in Annexure ‘E’ and is attached to this 
report. 
PARTICULARS OF EMPLOYEES (RULE 5(2), AND 5(3)) AND MANAGERIAL  REMUNERATION 
( RULE 5(1) ) OF THE COMPANIES (APPOINTMENT AND REMUNERATION OF 
MANAGERIAL PERSONNEL) RULES, 2014 , AND UNDER SECTION 197(12) OF THE ACT  

The total number of employees as on 31st March, 2019 stood at 91. 
 

Disclosures pertaining to remuneration and other details as required under Section 197(12) of 
the Act read with Rule 5(1), 5(2) and 5 (3) of the Companies (Appointment and Remuneration 
of Managerial Personnel) Rules, 2014, are provided in the Annexure ‘F’ in  this Report. 
 
MATERIAL CHANGES AND COMMITMENTS, IF ANY, AFFECTING THE FINANCIAL 
POSITION OF THE COMPANY WHICH HAVE OCCURRED BETWEEN THE END OF 
THE FINANCIAL YEAR OF THE COMPANY TO WHICH THE FINANCIAL 
STATEMENTS RELATE AND THE DATE OF THE REPORT  

In term of Section 134(3)(l) of the Companies Act, 2013, no material changes and commitments 
have occurred after the close of the year till the date of this Report, which could affect the 
financial position of the Company. 

 
GENERAL 
Your Directors state that no disclosure or reporting is required in respect of the following 
items as there were no transactions on these items during the year under review:  
 
1. Issue of equity shares with differential rights as to dividend, voting or otherwise.  

 

2. Issue of shares (including sweat equity shares) to employees of the Company under any 
scheme. 

 

3. No significant or material orders were passed by the Regulators or Courts or Tribunals 
which impact the going concern status and Company’s operations in future. 

 

4. There is No Revision of Financial Statement or Board Report Adopted by the Company, 
thereby there is no Disclosures to be made by the Company u/s 131 of the Companies Act, 
2013 for Voluntary Revision of Financial Statement.  
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5. Your Company has No Holding or Subsidiary Company and thereby, neither managing 
Director nor Whole time Director of the Company received any commission or 
remuneration from the same. Accordingly there is no Details to be Provided by the 
Company pursuant to Section 197 (14) of the Companies Act, 2013. 
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                                                                    For and on behalf of the Board 
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Date: 14th August, 2019                             G. D. Kankani, Managing Director  
Place: Kolkata                                                Umesh Kankani, Director 
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ANNEXURE ‘A’   -  
 

 POLICY FOR SELECTION OF DIRECTORS AND DETERMINING 
DIRECTORS’ INDEPENDENCE 

1. Introduction  
1.1 Tirrihannah Company Limited (TCL) believes that an enlightened Board 

consciously creates a culture of leadership to provide a long-term vision and 
policy approach to improve the quality of governance. Towards this, TCL 
ensures constitution of a Board of Directors with an appropriate composition, 
size, diversified expertise and experience and commitment to discharge their 
responsibilities and duties effectively.  

1.2 TCL recognizes the importance of Independent Directors in achieving the 
effectiveness of the Board. TCL aims to have an optimum combination of 
Executive, Non-Executive and Independent Directors.  

 

2. Scope and Exclusion :  
2.1 This Policy sets out the guiding principles for, Nomination and Remuneration 

Committee for identifying person who are qualified to become Director  and to 
determine the independence of Directors, in case of their appointment as 
independent director of the Company.     

3. Terms and References:  
In this Policy, the following terms shall have the following meaning :  
3.1 “Director” means a director appointed to the Board of a company.  
3.2 “Nomination and Remuneration Committee”  means the committee constituted 
by TCL’s Board in accordance with the provision of section 178 of the Companies 
Act, 2013 and Regulation 19 of the SEBI (Listing Obligations and Disclosure 
Requirements) Regulations, 2015.  
3.3 “Independent Director” means a director referred to in sub-section (6) of section 
149 of the companies Act, 2013 and Regulation 16 (1) (b) of the SEBI (Listing 
Obligations and Disclosure Requirements) Regulations, 2015 

4. Policy : 
4.1 Qualification and criteria  
4.1.1 The Nomination and Remuneration Committee, and the Board, shall review on 
an annual basis, appropriate skills, knowledge and experience required of the Board 
as a whole and its individual members. The objective is to have a Board with 
diverse background and experience that are relevant for the Company’s global 
operations.  
4.1.2 In evaluating the suitability of individual Board members, the Nomination and 
Remuneration Committee may take into account factors, such as:  
 General understanding of the Company’s business dynamics, global business 

and social perspective;  

ANNEXURE TO THE DIRECTORS’ REPORT 

Management and Governance 
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 Educational and professional background   
 Standing in the profession; 
 Personal and professional ethics, integrity and values;  
 Willingness to devote sufficient time and energy in carrying out their duties 

and responsibilities effectively.  
 
4.1.3  The proposed appointee shall also fulfill the following requirements:  
 Shall possess a Director Identification Number; 
 Shall not be disqualified under the Companies Act, 2013;  
 Shall give his written consent to act as a Director; 
 Shall Endeavour to attend all Board Meetings and wherever he is appointed 

as a committee members, the committee Meetings;  
 Shall abide by the code of conduct established by the Company for Directors 

and senior Management Personnel;  
 Shall disclose his concern or interest in any company or companies bodies 

corporate, firms, or other association of individuals including his 
shareholding at the first meeting of the Board in every financial year and 
thereafter whenever there is a change in the disclosures already made;  

 Such other requirements as may be prescribed, from time to time, under the 
Companies Act, 2013, SEBI (Listing Obligations and Disclosure 
Requirements) Regulations, 2015 and other relevant laws.  
 

4.1.4 The Nomination and Remuneration committee shall evaluate each individual 
with the objective of having a group that best enables the success of the Company’s 
business.  
4.2 Criteria of Independence  
4.2.1 The Nomination and Remuneration Committee shall assess the independence 
of Director at the time of appointment/re-appointment and the Board shall assess 
the same annually. The Board shall re-assess determinations of independence when 
any new interests or relationships are disclosed by a Director.  
4.2.2 The criteria of independence, as laid down in Companies Act, 2013 and SEBI 
(Listing Obligations and Disclosure Requirements) Regulations, 2015, is as below:  
 
An independent director in relation to a company, means a director other than a 
managing director or a whole-time director or a nominee director- 

a. Who, in the opinion of the Board, is a person of integrity and possesses 
relevant expertise and experience;  

b. (i) who is or was not a promoter of the company or its holding, subsidiary or 
associate company;  
(ii) who is not related to promoters or directors in the company, its holding, 
subsidiary or associate company;  

c. Who has or had no pecuniary relationship with the company, its holding, 
subsidiary or associate company, or their promoters, or directors, during the 
two immediately preceding financial year or during the current financial 
year;  

d. None of whose relatives has or had pecuniary relationship or transaction 
with the company, its holding subsidiary or associate company, or their 



Tirrihannah Company Limited Annual Report and Financial Statements 2018-19 33 
 

promoters, or director, amounting to two per cent or more of its gross 
turnover or total income or fifty lakh rupees or such higher amount as may 
be prescribed, whichever is lower, during the two immediately preceding 
financial years or during the current financial years;  

e. Who, neither himself nor any of his relatives –  
(i) Holds or has held the position of a key managerial personnel or is or 

has been employee of the company or its holding, subsidiary or 
associate company in any of the three financial years immediately 
preceding the financial year in which he is proposed to be appointed;  

(ii) Is or has been an employee or proprietor or a partner, in any of the 
three financial years immediately preceding the financial in which he 
is proposed to be appointed, of— 
(A) A firm of auditors or company secretaries in practice or cost 

auditors of the company or its holding, subsidiary or associate 
company; or  

(B) Any legal or a consulting firm that has or any transaction with 
the company its holding, subsidiary or associate company 
amounting to ten per cent or more of the gross turnover of such 
firm;  

(iii) Holds together with his relative two per cent or more of the total 
voting power of the company; or  

(iv) Is a Chief Executive or director, by whatever name called, of any non-
profit organization that receives twenty-five per cent or more of its 
receipts from the company, any of its promoter, directors or its 
holding, subsidiary or associate company or that holds two per cent or 
more of more of the total voting power of the company; or  

(v) Is a material supplier, service provider or customer or a lessor or 
lessee of the company   

f. Shall possess appropriate skills, experience and knowledge in one or more 
fields of finance, law, management, sales, marketing, administration, 
research corporate governance, technical operations, corporate social 
responsibility or other disciplines related to the Company’s business.  

g. Shall possess such other qualifications as may be prescribed, from time to 
time, under the Companies Act, 2013  

h. Who is not less than 21 years of age  
 

4.2.3  The Independent Director shall abide by the “Code for Independent 
Directors” as specified in schedule IV to the Companies Act, 2013   
4.3 Other directorship/committee memberships  
4.3.1 The Board members are expected to have adequate time and expertise and 
experience to contribute to effective Board performance. Accordingly, members 
should voluntarily limit their directorship in other listed public limited companies 
in such a way that is does not interfere with their role as directors of the Company. 
The Nomination and Remuneration Committee shall take into account the nature 
of, and the time involved in a Director’s service on other Boards, in evaluating the 
suitability of the individual Directors and making its recommendations to the 
Board.  
4.3.2 A Director shall not serve as Director in more than 20 companies of which not 
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more than 10 shall be Public Limited Companies.   
4.3.3 A Director shall not serve as an Independent Director in more than 7 Listed 
Companies and not more than 3 listed Companies in case he is serving as a whole-
time Director in any Listed Company.  
4.3.4 A Director shall not be a member in more than 10 Committees or act as 
Chairman of more than 5 Committees across all companies in which he holds 
directorships.  
For the purpose of considering the limit of the Committees, Audit Committee and 
stakeholders’ Relationship Committee of all Public Limited Companies, whether 
listed or not, shall be included and all other companies including Private Limited 
Companies, Foreign Companies and Companies under Section 8 of the Companies 
Act,2013 shall be excluded.   
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ANNEXURE ‘B’ -                 
                                                   TIRRIHANNAH COMPANY LIMITED 
                                 NOMINATION AND REMUNERATION POLICY 
 
INTRODUCTION 
In pursuance of the Company’s policy to consider human resources as its invaluable assets, to 
pay equitable remuneration to all Directors, key managerial personnel and employees of the 
company, to harmonize the aspirations of human resources consistent with the goals of the 
company and in terms of the provisions of the Companies Act, 2013 and in compliance with 
the SEBI (Listing Obligations and Disclosure Requirements) Regulations, 2015 (as amended 
from time to time), this policy on nomination and remuneration of Directors, Key Managerial 
Personnel (KMP) and Senior Management has been formulated by the Nomination and 
Remuneration Committee (“NRC”) and approved by the Board of Directors of the Company. 
 
OBJECTIVE 
The Nomination and Remuneration Committee and this Policy shall be in compliance with 
Section 178 of the Companies Act, 2013 read along with the applicable rules thereto and 
Regulation 19 of the SEBI (Listing Obligations and Disclosure Requirements) Regulations, 
2015. The objective of this policy is to lay down a framework in relation to remuneration of 
directors, KMP, senior management personnel and other employees. The Key Objectives of the 
Committee would be: 
   
1.1 To guide the Board in relation to appointment and removal of Directors, Key  

Managerial Personnel and Senior Management. 
1.2  Formulate the criteria for determining qualifications, positive attributes and 

independence of a director and recommend to the Board a policy relating to the 
remuneration of Directors, key managerial personnel and other employees.  

1.3 Formulation of criteria for evaluation of Independent Director and the Board.  
1.4 To evaluate the performance of the members of the Board and provide necessary report 

to the Board for further evaluation of the Board.  
1.5  To recommend to the Board on Remuneration payable to the Directors, Key Managerial 

Personnel and Senior Management.  
1.6. To provide to Key Managerial Personnel and Senior Management reward linked directly 

to their effort, performance, dedication and achievement relating to the Company’s 
operations.  

1.7. To retain, motivate and promote talent and to ensure long term sustainability of talented 
managerial persons and create competitive advantage.  

1.8. To develop a succession plan for the Board and to regularly review the plan.  
1.9. To assist the Board in fulfilling responsibilities.  

1.10 To Implement and monitor policies and processes regarding principles of corporate 
governance. 

 
APPLICABILITY 
A. Directors (Executive and Non Executive)  
B. Key Managerial Personnel  
C. Senior Management Personnel  
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DEFINITIONS 
 
“Act” means the Companies Act, 2013 and Rules framed there under, as amended from time 

to time. 
 
“Board” means Board of Directors of the Company. 
 
“Directors” mean Directors of the Company. 
 
“Key Managerial Personnel” means 

i. Managing Director, or Chief Executive Officer or Manager and in their absence, a 

Whole-time Director;  

ii. Chief Financial Officer;  
 

iii. Company Secretary; and  
 

iv. such other officer as may be prescribed.  
 
“Senior Management” means the personnel of the company who are members of its core 
management team excluding Board of Directors comprising all members of management one 
level below the executive directors, including the functional heads. 
Unless the context otherwise requires, words and expressions used in this policy and not 
defined herein but defined in the Companies Act, 2013 as may be amended from time to time 
shall have the meaning respectively assigned to them therein. 
 
CONSTITUTION OF COMMITTEE 

 The Board of Directors of the Company (the Board) constituted the committee to be 
known as the Nomination and Remuneration Committee consisting of three or more 
non-executive directors out of which not less than one-half are independent directors.  

 The Chairman of the Committee is an Independent Director. In the absence of the 
Chairperson, the members of the Committee present at the meeting shall choose one 
amongst them to act as Chairperson.  

 However, the chairperson of the company (whether executive or nonexecutive) may be 
appointed as a member of the Nomination and Remuneration Committee but shall not 
chair such Committee." 

    Minimum Two (2) members shall constitute a quorum for the Committee meeting.  
    Membership of the Committee shall be disclosed in the Annual Report.  
 Term of the Committee shall be continued unless terminated by the Board of Directors. 

 
FREQUENCY OF COMMITTEE MEETING  
The meeting of the Committee shall be held at such regular intervals as may be required.  

                     
POLICY FOR APPOINTMENT AND REMOVAL OF DIRECTOR, KMP AND SENIOR 
MANAGEMENT 
 
1. Appointment Criteria and Qualifications 

a) The Committee shall identify and ascertain the integrity, qualification, expertise and 
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experience of the person for appointment as Director, KMP or at Senior Management level 
and recommend to the Board his / her appointment.  

 
b) A person should possess adequate qualification, expertise and experience for the position 

he / she is considered for appointment. The Committee has discretion to decide whether 
qualification, expertise and experience possessed by a person is sufficient / satisfactory for 
the concerned position.  

 
c) The Company shall not appoint or continue the employment of any person as Whole-time 

Director who has attained the age of seventy years. Provided that the term of the person 
holding this position may be extended beyond the age of seventy years with the approval 
of shareholders by passing a special resolution based on the explanatory statement 
annexed to the notice for such motion indicating the justification for extension of 
appointment beyond seventy years.  

 
2. Term / Tenure 

a) Managing Director/Whole-time Director: 

The Company shall appoint or re-appoint any person as its Executive Chairman, Managing 
Director or Executive Director for a term not exceeding five years at a time. No re-
appointment shall be made earlier than one year before the expiry of term. 

 
b) Independent Director: 

 An Independent Director shall hold office for a term up to five consecutive years on the 
Board of the Company and will be eligible for re-appointment on passing of a special 
resolution by the Company and disclosure of such appointment in the Board's report. 

 
 No Independent Director shall hold office for more than two consecutive terms of upto 

maximum of 5 years each, but such Independent Director shall be eligible for appointment 
after expiry of three years of ceasing to become an Independent Director. Provided that an 
Independent Director shall not, during the said period of three years, be appointed in or 
be associated with the Company in any other capacity, either directly or indirectly.  

 
 At the time of appointment of Independent Director it should be ensured that number of 

Boards on which such Independent Director serves is restricted to seven listed companies 
as an Independent Director and three listed companies as an Independent Director in case 
such person is serving as a Whole-time Director of a listed company or such other number 
as may be prescribed under the Act.  

 
3. Evaluation 

The Committee shall carry out evaluation of performance of every Director, KMP and Senior 
Management Personnel at regular interval (yearly). 
 
4. Removal 

Due to reasons for any disqualification mentioned in the Act or under any other applicable 
Act, rules and regulations there under, the Committee may recommend, to the Board with 
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reasons recorded in writing, removal of a Director, KMP or Senior Management Personnel 
subject to the provisions and compliance of the said Act, rules and regulations. 
 
5. Retirement 

The Director, KMP and Senior Management Personnel shall retire as per the applicable 
provisions of the Act and the prevailing policy of the Company. The Board will have the 
discretion to retain the Director, KMP, Senior Management Personnel in the same position/ 
remuneration or otherwise even after attaining the retirement age, for the benefit of the 
Company. 
 
POLICY FOR REMUNERATION TO DIRECTORS/KMP/SENIOR MANAGEMENT 
PERSONNEL 
 
1. Remuneration to Managing/Whole-time / Executive / Managing Director, KMP and 

Senior Management Personnel: 

The Remuneration/ Compensation/ Commission etc. to be paid to Director / Managing 
Director etc. shall be governed as per provisions of the Companies Act, 2013 and rules made 
there under or any other enactment for the time being in force. 
 
2. Remuneration to Non- Executive / Independent Director: 
 
The Non-Executive Independent Director may receive remuneration / compensation / 
commission as per the provisions of Companies Act, 2013. The amount of sitting fees shall be 
subject to ceiling/ limits as provided under Companies Act, 2013 and rules made there under 
or any other enactment for the time being in force. 
 
COMMITTEE MEMBER’S INTEREST 
 A member of the Committee is not entitled to be present when his or her own 

remuneration is discussed at a meeting or when his or her performance is being evaluated.  
 The Committee may invite such executives, as it considers appropriate, to be present at the 

meetings of the Committee.  
 
SECRETARY 
 
The Company Secretary of the Company shall act as Secretary of the Committee 

 
VOTING 
 
 Matters arising for determination at Committee meetings shall be decided by a majority of 

votes of Members present and voting and any such decision shall for all purposes be 
deemed a decision of the Committee.  

  In the case of equality of votes, the Chairman of the meeting will have a casting vote. 
 
DUTIES IN RELATION TO NOMINATION MATTERS 
 
The duties of the Committee in relation to nomination matters include: 
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 Ensuring that there is an appropriate induction in place for new Directors and members of 
Senior Management and reviewing its effectiveness;  

 Ensuring that on appointment to the Board, Non-Executive Directors receive a formal letter 
of appointment in accordance with the Guidelines provided under the Act;  

 Identifying and recommending Directors who are to be put forward for retirement by 
rotation  

 Determining the appropriate size, diversity and composition of the Board;  
 Developing a succession plan for the Board and Senior Management and      regularly 

reviewing the plan;  
 Evaluating the performance of the Board members and Senior Management in the context 

of the Company’s performance from business and compliance perspective;  
 Making recommendations to the Board concerning any matters relating to the continuation 

in office of any Director at any time including the suspension or termination of service of 
an Executive Director as an employee of the Company subject to the provision of the law 
and their service contract;  

 Delegating any of its powers to one or more of its members or the Secretary of the 
Committee;  

 Recommend any necessary changes to the Board; and  
 Considering any other matters, as may be requested by the Board.  
 
DUTIES IN RELATION TO REMUNERATION MATTERS 
 
The duties of the Committee in relation to remuneration matters include: 
 
 Considering and determining the Remuneration Policy, based on the performance and also 

bearing in mind that the remuneration is reasonable and sufficient to attract retain and 
motivate members of the Board and such other factors as the Committee shall deem 
appropriate all elements of the remuneration of the members of the Board.  

 Approving the remuneration of the Senior Management including key managerial 
personnel of the Company maintaining a balance between fixed and incentive pay 
reflecting short and long term performance objectives appropriate to the working of the 
Company.  

 Delegating any of its powers to one or more of its members or the Secretary of the 
Committee.  

 Considering any other matters as may be requested by the Board.  
MINUTE 
MINUTES OF COMMITTEE MEETING  

 
Proceedings of all meetings must be minuted and signed by the Chairman of the Committee at 
the subsequent meeting. Minutes of the Committee meetings will be tabled at the subsequent 
Board and Committee meeting.  
 
REVIEW AND AMENDMENT 
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i. The NRC or the Board may review the Policy as and when it deems necessary.  
 
ii. The NRC may issue the guidelines, procedures, formats, reporting mechanism and manual 

in supplement and better implementation to this Policy, if it thinks necessary.  
 
iii. This Policy may be amended or substituted by the NRC or by the Board as and when 

required and also by the Compliance Officer where there is any statutory changes 
necessitating the change in the policy.          

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

*************** 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



Tirrihannah Company Limited Annual Report and Financial Statements 2018-19 41 
 

ANNEXURE ‘C’   -  
Form No- MR-3 

Secretarial Audit Report 
FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31st March 2019 

[Pursuant to Section 204(1) of the Companies Act, 2013 and Rule No. 9 of the Companies 
(Appointment and Remuneration of Managerial Personnel) Rules, 2014] 

 
To, 
The Members, 
Tirrihannah Company Limited  
5, Kiran Shankar Roy Road,  
Kolkata- 700001 
 
We have conducted the Secretarial Audit of the compliance of applicable statutory provisions and the adherence 
to good corporate practices by Tirrihannah Company Limited (hereinafter called the Company). Secretarial 
Audit was conducted in a manner that provided us a reasonable basis for evaluating the corporate 
conducts/statutory compliances and expressing our opinion thereon.  
 
Based on our verification of the Company’s books, papers, minute books, forms and returns filed and other 
records maintained by the Company and also the information provided by the Company, its officers, agents and 
authorized representatives during the conduct of Secretarial Audit, we hereby report that in our opinion, the 
Company has, during the audit period covering the Financial Year ended on March 31, 2019 complied with the 
statutory provisions listed hereunder and also that the Company has proper Board processes and compliance 
mechanism in place to the extent, in the manner and subject to the reporting made hereinafter: 
 
We have examined the books, papers, minute books, forms and returns filed and other records maintained by 
Company for the financial year ended on March 31, 2019 according to the provisions of: 

 
i. The Companies Act, 2013 (the Act) and the rules made there under; 

ii. The Securities Contracts (Regulation) Act, 1956 (‘SCRA’) and the rules made there under; 

iii. The Depositories Act, 1996 and the Regulations and Bye-laws framed there under; 

iv. Foreign Exchange Management Act, 1999 and the rules and regulations made thereunder to the extent of 
Foreign Direct Investment, Overseas Direct Investment and External Commercial Borrowings; 

v. The following Regulations (as amended from time to time) and Guidelines prescribed under the Securities and 
Exchange Board of India Act, 1992 (‘SEBI Act’) :- 

a) The Securities and Exchange Board of India (Substantial Acquisition of Shares and Takeovers) Regulations, 
2011; 

b) The Securities and Exchange Board of India (Prohibition of Insider Trading) Regulations, 2015; 
c) The Securities and Exchange Board of India (Issue of Capital and Disclosure Requirements) Regulations, 2009 

and amendments from time to time; 
d) The Securities and Exchange Board of India (Employee Stock Option Scheme and Employee Stock Purchase 

Scheme) Guidelines, 1999 (Not applicable to the Company during audit period); 
e) The Securities and Exchange Board of India (Issue and Listing of Debt Securities) Regulations, 2008 (Not 

applicable to the Company during audit period); 
f) The Securities and Exchange Board of India (Registrar to an Issue and Share Transfer Agents) Regulations, 

1993 regarding the Companies Act and dealing with client; 
g) The Securities and Exchange Board of India (Delisting of Equity Shares) Regulations, 2009 (Not applicable to 

the Company during audit period); and 
 

h) The Securities and Exchange Board of India (Buyback of Securities) Regulations, 1998 (Not applicable to the 
Company during audit period); 

vi. Other Laws applicable to the Company namely: 
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1) The Income Tax Act, 1961 
2) The Central Excise Act, 1944  
3) The Financial Laws (Direct and Indirect Tax Laws) 
 
 

We have also examined compliance with the applicable clauses of the following: 
 
(i) Secretarial Standards 

The Secretarial Standards issued by the Institute of Company Secretaries of India with respect to board and 
general meetings.  

 
(ii) Listing Agreements 

The new Uniform Listing Agreement pursuant to the provisions of SEBI (Listing Obligations and Disclosure 
Requirements) Regulations, 2015 entered into by the Company with Calcutta Stock Exchange (CSE). 

 
During the period under review the Company has complied with the provisions of the Acts, Rules, Regulations, 
Guidelines, Standards, etc. mentioned above. 

 
   

We further report that: 
 
The Board of Directors of the Company is duly constituted with proper balance of Executive Directors, Non-
Executive Directors, Independent Directors and a Women Director. The changes in the composition of the Board 
of Directors that took place during the period under review were carried out in compliance with the provisions of 
the Act and Listing Agreement. 
 
Adequate Notice is given to all Directors to schedule the Board Meetings, Agenda and detailed Notes on Agenda 
were sent at least seven days in advance, and a system exists for seeking and obtaining further information and 
clarifications on the agenda items before the meeting and for meaningful participation at the meeting. 
 
Majority decision is carried through, while the dissenting members’ views are captured, and recorded as part of 
the minutes. 
 
We further report that there are adequate systems and processes in the Company commensurate with the size 
and operations of the Company to monitor and ensure compliance with applicable laws, rules, regulations and 
guidelines as also represented by the management. 
 
We further report that during the audit period, the company has no specific events/actions having a major 
bearing on the Company’s affairs in pursuance of the above referred laws, rules, regulations, guidelines, 
standards, etc.                                                                                                  

                   
 For Sonam Agarwal  

                                                                                                              Proprietor 
 
 

                                                                                                                      Practicing Company Secretary  
Place: Kolkata 
Date: May 30, 2019                                                                             ACS No.: 46428 
                           CP No.:16978 
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‘Annexure C-1’ 
 
 

 
To, 
The Members 
Tirrihannah Company Limited 
 
Our report of even date is to be read along with this letter. 
 

1. Maintenance of Secretarial record is the responsibility of the management of the Company. Our 
responsibility is to express an opinion on these secretarial records based on our audit. 
 

2. We have followed the audit practices and processes as were appropriate to obtain reasonable assurance 
about the correctness of the contents of the Secretarial records. The verification was done on test basis to 
ensure that correct facts are reflected in Secretarial records. We believe that the processes and practices, 
we followed provide a reasonable basis for our opinion. 
 

3. We have not verified the correctness and appropriateness of financial records and Books of Accounts of 
the Company. 
 

4. Wherever required, we have obtained the Management representation about the Compliance of laws, 
rules and regulations and happening of events etc. 
 

5. The Compliance of the provisions of Corporate and other applicable laws, rules, regulations, standards is 
the responsibility of the management. Our examination was limited to the verification of procedure on 
test basis. 
 

6. The Secretarial Audit report is neither an assurance as to the future viability of the Company nor of the 
efficacy or effectiveness with which the management has conducted the affairs of the Company.                                     

                                                                                           
For Sonam Agarwal  

                                                                                                              Proprietor 
 
 

                                                                                                                      Practicing Company Secretary  
Place: Kolkata 
Date: May 30, 2019                                                                             ACS No.: 46428 
                           CP No.:16978 
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ANNEXURE- ‘D’   – 
 

FORM NO. MGT 9 
EXTRACT OF ANNUAL RETURN 

as on financial year ended on 31.03.2019 

Pursuant to  Section 92 (3) of the Companies Act, 2013 and rule 12(1) of the Company 
(Management & Administration ) Rules,  2014. 

I REGISTRATION & OTHER DETAILS: 

i CIN L65993WB1908PLC001838 

ii Registration Date 5/4/1908 

iii Name of the Company TIRRIHANNAH CO LTD 

iv Category/Sub-category of 
the Company Company limited by shares/ Indian Non-Government Company 

v Address of the Registered 
office & contact details 

5 KIRAN SHANKAR ROY ROAD,KOLKATA-700001 
tirrihannah.co@gmail.com  

vi Whether listed company Listed 

vii 
Name , Address & contact 
details of the Registrar  & 
Transfer Agent, if any. 

MCS SHARE TRANSFER AGENT LIMITED                           
12/1/5 MANOHARPUKUR ROAD KOLKATA 

700026 

II 
PRINCIPAL BUSINESS ACTIVITIES OF THE 
COMPANY 

All the business activities contributing 10% or more of the total turnover of the company shall be stated 

SL 
No 

Name & Description of  main products/services 

NIC Code of 
the  

Product 
/service 

% to total turnover  
of the company 

1 MANUFACTURING OF TEA   100 

III 
PARTICULARS OF HOLDING , SUBSIDIARY & ASSOCIATE 
COMPANIES 

Sl 
No 

Name & Address of the 
Company CIN/GLN 

HOLDING/ 
SUBSIDIARY/ 

ASSOCIATE 

% OF  
SHARES 

HELD 

APPLICABLE  
SECTION 

NIL 
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IV .SHAREHOLDING PATTERN (Equity Share capital Break up as % to total Equity) 
i) Category-wise Share Holding 

Category of 
Shareholders 

No. of Shares held at the beginning 
of the year 

No. of Shares held at the end of the 
year 

% 
chang

e 
durin
g the 
year 

  Dema
t 

Physical Total % of 
Total 

Shares 

Dem
at 

Physical Total % of 
Total 

Shares 

  

A. Promoters                   

                    

(1) Indian                   

a) Individual/HUF 0 580260 580260 18.20 0 630100 630100 19.77 1.57 

b) Central Govt.or 

- - - -   - - - 

  

 State Govt. 
c) Bodies 
Corporates 0 1656020 1656020 51.97 0 1656020 1656020 51.97 

0 

d) Bank/FI - - -   - - -     

e) Any other - - - - - - - - - 

                    

SUB TOTAL:(A) 
(1) 0 2236280 2236280 70.17 0 2286120 2286120 71.74 

 
1.57 

                  

(2) Foreign                   

a) NRI- 
Individuals - - - - - - - - 

- 

b) Other 
Individuals - - -   - - - - 

- 

c) Bodies Corp. - - -   - - - - - 

d) Banks/FI - - - - - - - - - 

e) Any other… - - - - - - - - - 

                    

SUB TOTAL (A) 
(2) 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 

- 

                    

Total 
Shareholding of 
Promoter 

0 2236280 2236280 70.17 0 2286120 2286120 71.74 

 
 
 
 

1.57 
(A)= 
(A)(1)+(A)(2) 

                    

                    

B. PUBLIC 
SHAREHOLDING                 

  

                    

(1) Institutions                   

a) Mutual Funds 0 50000 50000 1.57 0 50000 50000 1.57  -  

b) Banks/FI 0 2800 2800 0.09 0 2800 2800 0.09  -  
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C) Cenntral govt                   

d) State Govt.                   

e) Venture Capital 
Fund                 

  

f) Insurance 
Companies                 

  

g) FIIS                   

h) Foreign 
Venture 

                

  

 Capital Funds 

i) Others (specify)                   

                    

SUB TOTAL 
(B)(1): 0 52800 52800 1.66 0 52800 52800 1.66 

 
0  

                    

(2) Non 
Institutions                 

  

a) Bodies 
corporate                 

  

i) Indian 0 28750 28750 0.90 0 28750 28750 0.90  -  

ii) Overseas         - -       

b) Individuals                  -  

i) Individual 
shareholders 
holding  nominal 
share capital upto 
Rs.2 lakhs 0 167641 167641 5.26 0 167641 167641 5.26 

  

ii) Individuals 
shareholders 
holding nominal 
share capital in 
excess of Rs. 2 
lakhs 0 699004 699004 21.93 0 649164 649164 20.37 

  
 
 
 
 

(1.57)  
c) Others (specify) 
NRI 0 2400 2400 0.08 0 2400 2400 0.08 

 -  

                   -  

SUB TOTAL 
(B)(2): 0 897795 897795 28.17 0 847955 847955 26.61 

 
(1.57) 

                    

Total Public 
Shareholding 

0 950595 950595 29.83 0 900755 900755 28.26 

  
 
 

(1.57)  
(B)= 
(B)(1)+(B)(2) 

                    

C. Shares held 
by Custodian for 

                

 -  

GDRs & ADRs 

                    

Grand Total 
(A+B+C) 0 3186875 3186875 100 0 3186875 3186875 100 

       
-    

 
 



Tirrihannah Company Limited Annual Report and Financial Statements 2018-19 47 
 

 

(ii) 
SHARE HOLDING OF 
PROMOTERS 

Sl 
No. 

Shareholders 
Name 

Shareholding at the Shareholding at the % 
change 
in share 
holding 
during 

the year 

beginning of the year end of the year 

No of 
shares 

% of total 
shares 

% of 
share

s 
pledg

ed 
encu
mber
ed to 
total 
share

s 
No of 

shares 

% of 
total 

shares 

% of 
share

s 
pledg

ed 

 of the 
company 

 of the 
company 

 
encu
mber
ed to 
total 
share

s 

1 

KANKANI 
CONSTRUCTION 

PVT LTD 1293220 40.58 - 1293220 40.58 - 

- 

2 

ARUN 
DISTRIBUTOSR 

P LTD 290000 9.1 - 290000 9.1 - 

- 

3 
GHANSHYAM 
DAS KANKANI  189190 5.94 - 307030 9.63 - 

- 

4 
AVINASH 
KANKANI 128350 4.03 - 128350 4.03 - 

- 

5 
UMESH 

KANKANI 123460 3.87 - 123460 3.87 - 
- 

6 

SHIVANI 
PROPERTIES P 

LTD 72800 2.28   72800 2.28 

- 

7 
MADHU LATA 

KANKANI 71260 2.24   71260 2.24 
- 

  TOTAL 2236280 70.17 - 2236280 70.17 - ‐ 

 

(iii) 
CHANGE IN PROMOTERS' SHAREHOLDING ( SPECIFY IF THERE 
IS NO CHANGE) NIL 

(iv)Shareholding Pattern of top ten Shareholders (other than Direcors, Promoters & 
Holders of GDRs & ADRs) 

Sl. 
No Name 

Shareholding    

Cumulative 
Shareholding 

during the year 

No.of 
shares At 

the 
beginning 

of the 
year 

% of 
total 
share
s of 
the 

comp
any Date 

Increas
e/ 

(Decre
ase) in 
Sahreh
olding 

Reaso
n 

No of 
shares 

% of 
total 
share
s of 
the 

comp
any 
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1 
 
 
USHA SAROGI 

217836 6.84 
01.04.2018 TO 

31.03.2019 Nil Nil 217836 6.84 

2 B.B PANDEY 126608 3.97 
01.04.2018 TO 
31.03.2019 nil nil 126608 3.97 

3 CHNAD DEVI SADANI 82910 2.6 
01.04.2018 TO 
31.03.2019 nil nil 82910 2.6 

4 NIDHI KALYANI 70000 2.2 
01.04.2018 TO 
31.03.2019 nil nil 70000 2.2 

5 JAYDEEP KALYANI 68000 2.13 
01.04.2018 TO 
31.03.2019 nil nil 68000 2.13 

6 
RAJKUMARI DEVI 

BAGREE 61410 1.93 
01.04.2018 TO 
31.03.2019 nil nil 61410 1.93 

7 

PRINCIPAL TRUSTEE 
COMPANY PVT LTD 

A/C PRINCIPAL 
MUTUAL FUND 50000 1.57 

01.04.2018 TO 
31.03.2019 

nil nil 50000 1.57 

8 
SHARAD KUMAR 

BHATTER 22400 0.7 
01.04.2018 TO 
31.03.2019 nil nil 22400 0.7 

9 
MR PUNAM  CHAND 

BATIA      24200 0.76 
01.04.2018 TO 
31.03.2019 nil nil 24200 0.76 

 
 

(v) 
Shareholding of Directors & 
KMP 

Sl. 
No Name 

Shareholding    

Cumulative 
Shareholding 

during the year 

No.of 
shares At 

the 
beginning 

of the 
year 

% of 
total 

shares 
of the 
compa

ny Date 

Increas
e/(Dec
rease) 

in 
Sahreh
olding 

Reaso
n 

No of 
shares 

% of 
total 
share
s of 
the 

comp
any 

1 
GHANSHYAM DAS 

KANKANI  307030 9.63 
01.04.2018 TO 
31.03.2019 nil    nil 307030 9.63 

2 UMESH KANKANI  1,23,460 3.9 
01.04.2018 TO 
31.03.2019 nil nil 1,23,460 3.9 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  
I. INDEBTEDNESS 
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Indebtedness of the Company including interest outstanding / accrued but not due for 
payment. 
 
  Secured loans 

excluding 
deposits 

Unsecured Loans  Deposits Total 
Indebtedness 

Indebtedness at the 
beginning of the 
financial year 

47073481.00 57789353.00 Nil 104862834.00 

a.      Principal amount 
  i.      Interest due but 
not paid 

- - - - 

ii.      Interest accrued 
but not due 

- - - - 

Total (i+ii+iii) 47073481.00 57789353.00 Nil 104862834.00 

Change in 
Indebtedness during 
the financial year 

    

     Addition 130740636.00 21364505.00 nil 152105141.00 

     Reduction 124754152.00 18612576.00 nil 143366728.00 

Net Change 5986483.00        2751929.00 nil 8738412.00 

Indebtedness at the 
end of the financial 
year 

53059965.00 60541282.00 Nil 113601247.00 

i.         Principal amount 
ii.      Interest due but 
not paid 

- 3827712.00 - 3827712.00 

iii.      Interest accrued 
but not due 

- - - - 

Total (i+ii+iii) 53059965.00 64368994.00 Nil 117428959.00 
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II. REMUNERATION OF DIRECTORS AND KEY MANAGERIAL PERSONNEL 
 

A. Remuneration to Managing Director, Whole-time Directors and / or  Manager:    
                                                                                              

                                                                                                                         Amount (`In Rs) 
Sr. 
no. 

Particulars of Remuneration Name of MD / WTD /  Manager Total 
Amount 

  Mr. G. D. 
Kankani, 
Managing 
Director 

Mr. Umesh 
Kankani, 
Director cum 
Chief Financial 
Officer 

 

   1. Gross salary 
a) Salary as per provisions contained in 

section 17(1) of the Income-tax 
Act,1961 

6,00,000/-  6,00,000/- 12,00,000/- 

b) Value of perquisites u/s 17(2) Income-
tax Act,1961 

- - - 

c) Profits in lieu of salary under Section 
17 (3) of the Income Tax, Act 1961 

- - - 

2. Stock Option - - - 
3. Sweat Equity - - - 
4. Commission 

- as % of profit 
-         Others 

- - - 

5. Others, please specify  
 

- - - 

 Total (A) 6,00,000/-  6,00,000/- 12,00,000/- 
Ceiling as per the Act  Rs. 30.00 Lacs (being limit specified in 

Schedule V of the Companies Act, 2013 read 
with section 196 & 197) 

  
B. Remuneration to other directors: 

Amount (`In Lakhs) 
Sr. no. Name of the Director Director  

Remuneration 
Sitting fees Total 

Compensatio
n 

 
 
 
1 
 
2 
 
3 

Non Executive & Independent  
Director 
 
Mr. Soma Mishra  
 
Mr. Piyush Jaju  
 
Mr. Satish Jayant Mehta 
 

Nil Nil Nil 

 Total  Nil Nil Nil 

Ceiling as per the Act  
NA 
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C. Remuneration to key managerial personnel other than MD / Manager / WTD: 
                                                                                                Amount (`In Lakhs) 

Sr. no. Particulars of Remuneration Key Managerial Personnel 

  Company 
Secretary 

 Total 

1. Gross salary 
a) Salary as per provisions contained in 

section 17(1) of the Income-tax 
Act,1961 

 
NA 

  

b) Value of perquisites u/s 17(2) of the 
Income-tax Act,1961 

- - - 

c) Profits in lieu of salary under 
section 17(3) of Income-tax Act, 
1961 

- - - 

2. Stock Option - - - 
3. Sweat Equity - - - 
4. Commission 

- as % of profit 
-         Others 

- - - 

5. Others, please specify  - - - 

 Total    

 
III. PENALTIES / PUNISHMENT/ COMPOUNDING OF OFFENCES:  

 (For the year ended 31st March, 2019) 
 

Type Section of Brief  Details of Authority Appeal 
 the Companies Description Penalty / 

Punishment/ 
[RD / NCLT / 
COURT] 

made, if 
any 

 Act  Compounding fees 
imposed 

 (give 
Details) 

A. COMPANY 
 

Penalty NIL 
Punishment 

Compounding 

B. DIRECTORS  
Penalty NIL 
Punishment 

Compounding 

C. OTHER OFFICERS IN DEFAULT  
Penalty NIL 
Punishment 
Compounding 
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ANNEXURE ‘E’   
 
The details of conservation of energy, technology absorption, foreign exchange earnings and 
outgo as required under Section 134 (3)(m) of the Companies Act, 2013 read with Rule 8(3) of 
the Companies (Accounts) Rules, 2014 for the year ended 31st March,2019. 
 
A) CONSERVATION OF ENERGY: 
(i) Steps taken or impact on for conservation of energy: 
In addition to the existing measures being practiced, the following steps were taken:- 

Energy conservation receives higher priority in the working of the Tea Estates with in-depth 
monitoring of various work stations. Up-gradation of machinery is carried out and as such 
new machinery installed is judged on fuel or power efficiency.   
 
The Company has also taken necessary regulator energy saving measures to ensure beneficial 
use of energy. A new measure undertaken is incorporation of domestic metering system for 
controlled usage of electrical energy in the Estates of the company, to ensure measured use of 
the energy available whereby  cost is minimized  without affecting operations In addition to 
the existing measures being practiced, the following steps were taken:- 
 

i) Maintenance and overhauls of generators are strictly followed so as to enable high unit 
per liter delivery. 

ii)  Monitoring the maximum demand and power load factor on daily basis is controlling 
power consumption. 

iii) For efficient utilization of available power, adequate power capacitors have been 
installed and optimum power factor is being maintained to avoid surcharge on power 
factor as well as to get maximum rebate on electricity bills. 

iv)  Installation of energy efficient equipments, such as Compact Fluorescent Light Bulbs 
(CFLs) and Battery Charging Systems at all offices. 

v) Adoption of policy of having our heating and cooling equipment serviced regularly. 
vi) Education of work at the Head Office regarding use of various office equipments, 

especially computers in a manner that use less energy. 
vii) Replacement of conventional lamps to LED for Street lights; 
viii) All machines provided with timers to reduce idling; 

 
(ii) Steps taken by the Company for utilising alternate source of energy: 
    The Company is under process for utilizing alternate source of energy. 

(iii) The Capital investment on energy conservation equipments: 
The company has not made capital investment for utilising alternate source of energy. 

B) TECHNOLOGY ABSORPTION: 
(i) the efforts made towards technology absorption 

Indigenously developed technologies for the improvement of production both in field and 
factory were adopted and required modifications and innovations were done on continuous 
basis. Additional investments and proposals include modernization and expansion of factories 
for dual manufacture of teas, use of conveyors in Sorting Room and Monorail System in 
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withering Troughs to Dryers layout directly resulting in reducing running hours of the 
machines, thus increasing the output and subsequently lesser consumption of electrical power. 
(ii) The benefit derived like product improvement, cost reduction, product development or 

import substitution: 

Strict controls on energy conservation with a view to maintain direct control on fuel efficiency 
for all equipment have resulted in reduction in energy consumption. Continued efforts of the 
technical and concerned personnel at the tea estates, their efforts to device new systems and 
implement modernized methods has improved the overall energy consumption at factories 
without affecting operations and performance of machinery and other equipment.   
 
Garden has used machines for uprooting tea bushes with better results in both quality and 
speed of work and reducing the involvement of manual workers without increasing the 
overall cost of uprooting and replanting. Pruning machines were used for cutting bushes 
resulting in 50% saving in manpower. This will be implemented in all the gardens in season 
2015. 

 
(iii) Information  regarding imported technology (imported during last three years reckoned 

from the beginning of the financial year) 

a) the details of technology imported; Not Applicable  
b) the year of import; Not Applicable 
c) whether the technology been fully absorbed; Not Applicable 
d) if not fully absorbed, areas where absorption has not taken place, and the reasons 
thereof; Not Applicable  

 

(iv)  The expenditure incurred on Research and Development: 

Sr. No. Particulars Amount (Rs. in Crore) 
1 Capital Nil 
2 Revenue Nil 
 Total  Nil 
 

C) FOREIGN EXCHANGE EARNING AND OUTGO: 

 Current Year 
(`. in Lakhs) 

Previous Year 
(`. in Lakhs) 

Total foreign exchange outgo in terms of actual 
outflow 

Nil Nil 

Total foreign exchange earned in terms of actual 
inflows 

Nil Nil 
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ANNEXURE ‘F’     

DETAILS PERTAINING TO EMPLOYEES AS REQUIRED UNDER SECTION 197(12) OF THE 
COMPANIES ACT 2013 READ WITH RULE 5 (1) (2) & (3) OF COS (APPOINTMENT & 
REMUNERATION OF MANAGERIAL PERSONNEL) RULES, 2014  
 
THE INFORMATION REQUIRED UNDER SECTION 197 OF THE ACT READ WITH 
RULE 5(1) OF THE COMPANIES (APPOINTMENT AND REMUNERATION OF 
MANAGERIAL PERSONNEL) RULES, 2014 ARE GIVEN BELOW: 
 
(i) The	 percentage	 increase	 in	 remuneration	 of	 each	 director,	 Chief	 Financial	 Officer,	

Company	Secretary	during	the	financial	year	2018‐19	and	ratio	of	the	remuneration of 
each director to the median remuneration of the employees of the company for the 
financial year 2018-2019	are	as	under; 

  
Sr. 
No. 

Name of the Director/ KMP and 
designation 

Remuneration 
of Director/ 
KMP for the 
FY 2018-2019 

(INR) 

% increase in 
remuneration 

in the FY 
2018-2019 

Ratio of 
remuneration 

of each 
Director/ to 

median 
remuneration 
of employees   

1 Mr. G. D. Kankani, Managing Director 600000.00 Nil 10.49 
2 Mr. Umesh Kankani, Director cum Chief 

Financial Officer 
600000.00 Nil 10.49 

 
(ii) The	median	remuneration of employees of the company during the financial year was  

Rs. 62950.00;  
 

(iii) In the Financial year, there was an increase of 2.55% in the median remuneration of 
employees; 

(iv) There were 91 permanent employees on the rolls of Company as on March 31, 2019; 
 
(v) Average percentage increase made in the salaries of employees other than the managerial 

personnel in the last financial year i.e. 2018-2019 was 5.10% whereas there were no 
increase in the managerial remuneration for the same financial year.; and 

(vi) It is hereby affirmed that the remuneration paid is as per the Remuneration Policy for 
Directors, Key Managerial Personnel and other Employee. 
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THE INFORMATION REQUIRED UNDER SECTION 197 OF THE ACT READ WITH 
RULE 5(2) & (3) OF THE COMPANIES (APPOINTMENT AND REMUNERATION OF 
MANAGERIAL PERSONNEL) RULES, 2014 ARE GIVEN BELOW: 
 

SL
.N
O
	

																
Name	 A

G
E	
IN
			
	Y
EA
R
S	

								
Qualifica
tion	 D

at
e	
of
	
Co
m
en
ce
m
en
t	

O
f	E
m
p
lo
ym

en
t	

																						
Designation	 R

em
u
n
er
at
io
n
	

(A
m
ou
n
t	i
n
	`
)	

T
ot
al
	
Ex
p
er
ie
n
ce
	
(N
o.
	
of
	

yr
s.
)	

P
re
vi
ou
s	

Em
p
lo
ym

en
t	

(D
es
ig
n
at
io
n
)	

P
er
ce
n
ta
ge
	o
f	
eq
u
it
y	
sh
ar
e	

h
el
d
	

b
y	

em
p
lo
ye
e	

in
	

co
m
p
an
y	

1	 BHAJAN SEN 57 Graduate 01/01/1989 
Typist 
stenographer 211680 30 NA Nil 

2	 SUMAN TOPPO 52 Graduate 04/01/1994 Clerk 196290 25 NA Nil 

3	 HEMANT TUTI 50 Graduate 01/07/1991 
2ND CLERK ( JH 
) 173500 28 NA Nil 

4	
CHITTARANJAN 
ROY 58 Matric 01/01/1996 Electrician 150510 23 NA Nil 

5	 HARI LAKRA 45 Graduate 15/05/1996 
Health 
Assistance 142400 23 NA Nil 

6	
MONI KR 
BISWAKARMA 56 Non- Matric 09/07/1984 M/V Driver 111880 35 NA Nil 

7	 SAHARAI ORAON 54 Non- Matric 08/05/1995 M/V Driver 109290 24 NA Nil 

8	
RAJ KUMAR 
BISWAKARMA 49 Non- Matric 08/05/1995 

ELECTRICIAN 
HELPER 95510 24 NA Nil 

9	 HARUN TOPNO 54 Non- Matric 13/04/1994 
CHOWKIDAR ( 
III ) FAC. 93380 25 NA Nil 

10	
DHURBA 
BISWAKARMA 48 Non- Matric 01/07/1985 

LORRY JUGALI 
GR--- III 92310 34 NA Nil 

 
 
1. The remuneration includes salary, perquisites and contribution to provident fund. 
2. None of the employee is a relative of any director of the company. 
3. All appointments are/were contractual in accordance with terms and conditions as per 

company rules.  
4. None of the employees hold by himself or along with his/her spouse and dependent 

children, 2% or more equity shares of the company.  
5. Details of remuneration of Directors are given elsewhere in the Board Report and 

Corporate Governance Report.  
 

                                                                           For and on behalf of the Board 
                           of Tirrihannah Company Limited 

     Sd/- 
Date: 14th August, 2019                             G. D. Kankani, Managing Director  
Place: Kolkata                                                Umesh Kankani, Director 
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Indian Tea Industries – an over view 
 

Business Overview 
Tata Global Beverages is a natural beverages Company with a heritage of innovations and 
development and aims to be the most admired good for you beverage brand in the world. 
With a presence in over 40 countries, your Company is globally the second largest branded 
player in the tea category with growing interests in coffee and water. The Company’s key 
focus is to create magical beverage moments for our customers. We tend to achieve this 
objective through leveraging consumer insights by launching new and innovative products, 
expansion of our global footprint by entering new markets and through continuous 
investments to strengthen our branded portfolio. 
 
Industry Structure 
Global Economic, Consumer and Competitor Trends 
The global economy continues to be uncertain and choppy, driven by political changes in 
many of the countries in which your Company operates. Implications of events such as Brexit, 
UK & US elections and the demonetisation in India would need to be closely monitored. 
Within this overall context, the economies of India and South East Asia appear to be growing. 
Outlook for US also seems to be positive but dependent upon the emerging policy stand of the 
US administration and the corresponding implications on the global economy. 
 
While black tea market is growing in many of the markets in Asia with potential for further 
growth in the value added segments, there are declines in everyday black tea in certain 
developed markets. However, specialty tea categories, albeit small, are growing. Customers at 
different ends of the spectrum are showing varying behavioural trends in these markets. 
Whilst at one end, there are trends of consumers seeking better value, at the other end, 
consumers are seeking product choices which are shifting towards convenience, health & 
wellness and improving lifestyle. 
 
We are also witnessing various new entrants in certain segments, including private label and 
regional players. 
 
Commodity Trends 
Tea 
During 2018-2019, the global crop position increased by 36 million kgs led by increases in 
North India and Kenya offset by lower crops in South India, Sri Lanka and Indonesia. Based 
on the increased production, we witnessed lower auction averages in Mombasa and for the 
plainer teas in North India. However, the premium teas in North India were dearer based on 
the demand and supply situation in the various tea growing districts. South India auction 
prices were dearer consequent to poor rainfall and availability. 
 
Strategy   
 

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS REPORT 

Management and Governance 
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Your Company continues to constantly strive to meet these challenges by strengthening its 
brands, category expansion, innovation and cost rationalisation. Your Company closely tracks 
and gains insights into the changing consumer landscape and trends like change in lifestyle, 
premiumisation and the need for convenience.  
 
Based on the economic scenario a few customer behavioral trends are emerging. Customers, 
especially in the international markets, are continuing to seek better value thereby increasing 
competitive intensity. The consumer product choices are increasingly shifting towards health, 
wellness and lifestyle. There is also a growing trend for more premiumised products of higher 
quality in many markets.  
 

 
Prospects & Outlook  

 
Your Company’s focus is on long term and sustained improvement, particularly in the 
plantation operations bearing in mind your Company’s need to increase yields and 
productivity in its estates. For the purpose, it would be necessary to carry out several activities 
over the next few years .Uprooting and replanting would need to be carried out at a faster 
pace over the years more so as additional land for extension planting is not available which by 
itself would necessarily mean reduction of crop and decline in turnover in short to medium 
term. 
 
Further, pending modernization and renovation of factories and of infrastructural facilities 
within the estates also need to be expedited. To combat erosion of land due to overflow of 
rivers and consequential loss of tea bushes every year, substantial protective and preventive 
work with regard to flood protection need to be carried out. Keeping all such activities in 
mind, it is necessary to conserve liquidity and reinvest retained earnings which would ensure 
the long term benefit of your Company and its shareholders.          
                                                                    

 
With sustained improvement in quality and yield, better value for its exports and prudent cost 
management, your Company continues to be optimistic of its long term future with improved 
operational efficiency and with what appears a promising market scenario, the overall outlook 
for the current year looks to be positive; however, the volume of crop harvested so far has 
been substantially lower than that of the previous year mainly due to adverse climatic 
conditions and restrictive  usage of chemicals. 

 
Future projects and Planning 

 
As the Shareholders are aware the tea industry has never been stable. The pattern shows that 
the industry is absolutely CYCLIC. If there is a good phase of a few years it is always followed 
by a bad phase.  

 
The industry is extremely dependent on environment and hence is very uncertain. In the 
pretext of “Global warming” and the cyclic Nature of the Tea Industries there is an urgent 
necessity to set up a venture which would support and strengthen then Tea Industry. 
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For conversion to Organic, huge amount of cow dung would be required to necessitate the 
process which scare. A cattle dairy project would cater to the needs of Cow dung and vermi 
compost thereby enhancing the efficiency of the soil moreover, the Bio-gas generation would 
supply electricity to the labour colonies and the tea factory. Cow urine too in combination with 
neem leaves will provide organic and effective pesticide. 

 
Therefore the Board of Directors have decided to purchase a 500 bighas land near Udaipur 
(Rajasthan) in the group for Dairy Farming Project. This would about the company’s future 
prospects and strengthen the tea industry as well by shifting from conventional methods of 
agriculture to organic cultivation of tea.  

 
Segment Analysis and Review  
The company is engaged in one segment only that is the manufacturing of tea.  

 
Opportunity & Threats 

 
As a consumer focused ‘brands’ company, in India, we now focus on competitive, effective 
customer relationship management, keen consumer insight tracking and commercialization of 
opportunities as key drivers for growth. In our existing brand, we constantly track and 
anticipate the evolving taste and delivery needs of our consumers and customers. Our key 
communication and relationship building measures are funded and tracked to ensure brand 
equity build up in consumer minds.  Your company continues to produces well made quality 
teas consistently. Indian tea exports were susceptible to the financial meltdown and to that 
extent a slowdown was inevitable.  

 
Threats are weather related which are not in control of the Industry. Nonetheless the adverse 
effects of draught, floods and hails can be minimized through good and careful agricultural 
practices. 

 
Other threats to our business could arise from strong competitor activity, high commodity 
volatility or dilution of margins due to multiple reasons. The decline of the black tea market in 
specific countries is also a potential threat. 

 
Outlook 
 
Dry weather conditions in India as compared to favourable weather  conditions during the 
same period last  year is likely to see lower production as compared to the record production 
last year during the fast half of the year .Tea prices in India for the new season teas have open 
higher by 5 to 10% as compared to last year prices in likely to remain firm during the year 
mainly due to stagnant production, lower inventry level and strong consumption growth. 

 
Risks and Concerns 
Tea Industry is an agricultural industry and its performance is dependent on vagaries of 
nature. The industry is highly labour intensive and is subject to strength of labour laws. 
Comparatively high labour cost, high infrastructure cost and increasing energy and other 
input cost remain major problem of tea industry. Shortage of labour during the peak seasons is 
also causes for concern. 
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The risks of swift changes in commodity prices or rapid currency rate fluctuations remain, and 
your Company’s management is constantly watchful for the same. These could cause 
significant inflation in commodity input costs, thereby leading to dilution of margins and 
earnings, which could in turn limit our scope to innovate, invest and expand. 

 
Risk Management 
Risk is integral to virtually all business activities, though in varying degrees and forms. At 
Tirrihannah, risk management ensures that risks are adequately measured, estimated and 
controlled to enhance shareholders value. Irrespective of the type of risk or the activity that 
creates it, the Company’s fundamental approach to risk management remains the same:  

  
Financial risks 
Company has established a risk management strategy that comprise reasonable use of 
derivative and non derivative financial instruments primarily to manage its exposure to 
market risks resulting from adverse fluctuations in material prices, interest rates and foreign 
currency rates. 

 
Business risks 
Lower volumes and prices in the domestic and global markets will have an impact on the 
Company's revenues and profits. However, the management is cautiously optimistic about the 
likely recovery in the  global infrastructure industry with arising of supply side pressures, 
increased focus on sales into various domestic market. The Company's focus on cost reduction, 
which has yielded positive results, will be the critical factor in mitigating margin pressures.  

 
Technology risks 
Product obsolescence risks are inherent in the business and the management continues to 
accord high priority to in-house research and development in order to ensure new product 
development as per evolving needs in the industry, technical enhancements and quality 
improvements of existing product offerings. 

 
Internal Control System  
The Company has a well established internal control framework covering all functional areas. 
It includes internal audits, independent review of control system by statutory auditors, review 
mechanism by Audit Committee and periodic review by the management.  

 
Currently all the operations of the company are carried out in conformity with the defined 
process. The Company also has policy of periodic audits and reviews of all business activities 
viz. purchase, stores, marketing, personnel, production, maintenance, finance and accounts. 
The internal auditors periodically interact with the Audit Committee of the Board to discuss 
the terms of reference and frequency of audit, significant audit observations and their 
disposals and remedies if any.  
The Audit Committee of the Board reviews internal audit observations and puts suggestion 
for corrective action for implementation. The Company’s internal control systems and its 
effectiveness are also verified periodically by the Statutory Auditors and reported to the Audit 
Committee of the Board. Corrective actions where ever found appropriate are taken on a 
priority basis.  
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Safety   
The company has continued to scale up safety performance at all locations. Safety measures 
have been strengthened and employees are being trained to think on hazards/risks associated 
with their job. Systems have been established to make employees responsible and accountable 
for safety. Good safety performance is being rewarded. While Safety has been included as a 
corporate value, the main objective is to achieve better standard of safety in the shortest 
possible time.  

 
Operations’ Performance    

 
Turn Over  
Gross Turnover for the year 2019 was Rs. 11.47 Crores. Your company continues with its focus 
on quality on its strife to cater to quality conscious markets for both Orthodox and CTC tea. 
Your Company has initiated steps to explore new markets in addition to developing existing 
ones. 

 
Quality 
Your Company continues to concentrate on quality, the strict adherence to this policy 
continuing to benefit your company in price realizations. 

 
Your Directors continue to recognize the attributes of Tea as a Health Drink .Your company 
also continues to be fully cognizant of the critical issue of Maximum Residue Limits (MRLs) 
(permissible chemicals) and has, on its own violation, been conducting precision testing of its 
produce at internationally accredited laboratories, while simultaneously taking every measure 
to ensure compliance with stringent international standards. 
 
Areas of Production  

 
AREA UNDER TEA   (In Hectares) 

Period  MAIN JHABRA MOHANLAL TOTAL 
Between   5 -10 Years       0.00 13.60 0.00 13.60 
Between 11-15 Years        0.00 0.00 66.56 66.56 
Between 16-20 Years        0.00 11.24 87.93 99.17 
Between 21-25 Years        0.00 41.50 0.00 41.50 
Between 26-30 Years        0.00 8.83 0.00 8.83 
Between 31-35 Years        12.71 10.72 0.00 23.43 
Between 36-40 Years        0.00 24.00 0.00 24.00 
Between 41-45 Years        0.00 9.99 0.00 9.99 
Between 46-50 Years        0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 
Above 50 Years                 162.44 50.63 0.00 213.07 
Area Uprooted                 10.85 8.21 0.00 19.06 
Total Area under Tea   186.00 178.72 154.49 519.21 

 
Accounts and Finance  

 
The financial statements have been prepared in compliance with the requirements of the 
Companies Act, 2013 and Generally Accepted Accounting Principles (GAPP) in India. The 
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Management of Tirrihannah Company Limited accepts responsibility for the integrity and 
objectivity of these financial statements, as well as for various estimates and judgments used 
therein. The estimates and judgments relating to the financial statements have been made on a 
prudent and reasonable basis, in order that the financial statements reflect in a true and fair 
manner the form and substance of transactions and reasonably present the company’s state of 
affairs and profits for the year.  

 
 

Financial Management   
Senior management reviews the requirement of funds for the working capital and future 
projects. After accessing the financial market, decision are taken to identify the lenders. A part 
of fund requirement is arranged by way of borrowing from banks on competitive terms and 
balance is met from internal accrual.  During the year all the finance commitment were met in 
time. Liquidity throughout the year was comfortable. The Company has no unpaid or 
unclaimed deposit at the end of the year. The financial performance of the Company has been 
enumerated separately in    the Accounts for the year ended 31st March, 2019.  

Innovation and Modernization: 

Innovation, expansion and modernization are of course integral to corporate success. This has 
meant ongoing research into production systems and processing methods to enhance the 
quality of the products for consumers. Managers have deployed modern agricultural practices, 
using the latest scientific methodology and technology with a long-term perspective to 
improve planting, cultivating and manufacturing. 

Research and Development a Priority: 

A research and development focus has provided strong scientific support to the group's 
quantitative growth with continuing enhancement in the quality of the product. The research 
and development policy keeps the group's long-term interests in view and believes in 
anticipating the needs of the future. It is committed to modernization and encourages it in 
every field.  The group plans to give in house training to its worker in order to improve 
plucking and pruning operations. 

Human Resources  

More than most others, the group understands and lives by the principle that in the final 
analysis, the quality of tea will always be an eloquent testimony to the well-being and efforts 
of those associated with its production. With this in view, over the years, the group has 
consciously associated itself with the life and problems of its employees and the contiguous 
communities by utilizing its resources, skills and talent to the development of human 
resources.  

       Company is committed to the welfare of its people and their families and to improve the 
quality of their life by providing the required facilities. 

Core Values and Culture: 
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Corporate success is based on certain core values and corporate culture developed by the 
Company. Underlying this is a firm belief that teamwork and motivation rooted in fairness are 
the key to success in business. The group sets benchmarks for itself in these areas and strives 
to achieve them, believing in seeking the active participation of everyone in decision-making 
rather than relying on the imposition of central diktats. Quality, productivity and optimal 
utilization of resources, human and materials, woven around the concept of the welfare of the 
community as a whole is central to the management's philosophy.  

Cautionary Statement  
 

         Statements in the Management Discussion and Analysis describing the Company's objectives, 
projections, estimates, and expectations may be 'forward looking statements' within the 
meaning of applicable securities laws and regulations. Actual results could differ materially 
from those expressed or implied. Important factors that could make a difference to the 
Company's operations include economic conditions affecting demand/supply and price 
conditions in the domestic and overseas markets in which the Company operates, changes in 
the Government regulations, tax laws, certain resumptions on which estimates are based and 
other incidental factors. 

 
Conclusion 
 
Your Company is very conscious that it operates in a highly challenging and dynamic 
environment, where realities vary between place to place. We believe that the best way to 
navigate this environment is by constructing a robust strategy that puts consumer needs first, 
and thereafter focusing on sharp execution of that strategy. You will be happy to note that we 
have acted on both these priorities – robust strategy and perfect execution – and we believe 
that this will constitute a winning combination that, alongwith passion and commitment, will 
make us the finest natural beverages company on this planet. 
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[Pursuant to Part C of Schedule V of the SEBI (Listing Obligations and Disclosure 
Requirements) Regulations, 2015 “Listing Regulations”] 
 
The Company believes that Corporate Governance emerges from the application of the best 
and sound management practices and compliance with the laws with highest standards of 
transparency and business ethics. The basic principle is to achieve business excellence keeping 
in view the needs and interest of all its stakeholders. 
 
In accordance with Regulation 34 and Schedule V of the Securities and Exchange Board of 
India (Listing Obligations and Disclosure Requirements) Regulations, 2015 (“SEBI LODR”), 
the report containing the details of Corporate Governance systems and processes at 
Tirrihannah Company Limited is as follows: 
 
At Tirrihannah Corporate Governance is all about maintaining a valuable relationship and 
trust with all stakeholders. We consider stakeholders as partners in our success, and we 
remain committed to maximizing stakeholder’s value, be it shareholders, employees, 
suppliers, customers, investors, communities, or policy makers. This approach to value 
creation emanates from our belief that sound governance System, based on relationship and 
trust, is integral to creating enduring value for all. We have a defined policy framework for 
ethical conduct of business. We believe that any business conduct can be ethical only when it 
rests on the six core values of Customer Value, Ownership Mindset, Respect, Integrity, One 
Team and Excellence. 
 
COMPANY’S PHILOSOPHY ON CORPORATE GOVERNANCE: 
 
The Company defines Corporate Governance as the application of best management practices, 
compliance of law and adherence to ethical standards to achieve the Company’s objective of 
enhancing shareholders value and discharge of social responsibility.  
 
The Company firmly believes that good corporate governance practices ensure efficient 
conduct of the affairs of the Company while upholding the core values of transparency, 
integrity, honesty and accountability and help the Company in its goal to maximise value for 
all its stakeholders. It is a system by which business corporations are directed and controlled. 
 
Tirrihannah is committed to the adoption of and adherence to the best Corporate Governance 
practices at all times and continuously benchmarks itself against each such practice in the 
industry. Tirrihannah believes that sound Corporate Governance is critical for enhancing and 
retaining investor trust and the Company always seeks to ensure that its performance goals 
are met with integrity. The Company works with the mission to attain global eminence 
through quality leadership and vision to raise the bar in line with the best global practices, 
create customer value and enhance shareholder value. Tirrihannah complies with the 
Corporate Governance as per SEBI (LODR) Regulation, 2015. 

REPORT ON CORPORATE GOVERNANCE 

Management and Governance 
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The Corporate Governance framework of the Company is based on the following broad 
practices: 
a)  Engaging a diverse and highly professional, experienced and competent Board of Directors, 
with versatile expertise in industry, finance, management and law; 
b)  Deploying well defined governance structures that establishes checks and balances and 
delegates decision making to appropriate levels in the organisation;  
c)  Adoption and implementation of fair, transparent and robust systems, processes, policies 
and procedures; 
d)  Making high levels of disclosures for dissemination of corporate, financial and operational 
information to all its stakeholders; 
e)  Having strong systems and processes to ensure full and timely compliance with all legal 
and regulatory requirements and zero tolerance for non-compliance. 
 
Best Corporate Governance practices  
Tirrihannah maintains the highest standards of Corporate Governance. It is the Company’s 
constant Endeavour to adopt the best Corporate Governance practices keeping in view the 
international codes of Corporate Governance and practices of well-known global companies.  
 
Some of the best implemented global governance norms include the following: 
 

 The Company has a designated Lead Independent Director with a defined role. 
 All securities related filings with Stock Exchanges and SEBI are reviewed every quarter 

by the Company’s Stakeholders’ Relationship Committee of Directors. 
 The Company’s internal audit is also conducted by independent auditors. 
 Internal Audit is conducted regularly and report on findings of Internal Auditor are 

submitted to the Audit Committee on quarterly basis. 
 The Company also undergoes quarterly secretarial audit conducted by an independent 

company secretary who is in whole-time practice. The quarterly secretarial audit 
reports are placed before the Board and the annual secretarial audit report placed 
before the Board, is included in the Annual Report. 

 Observance and adherence of the Secretarial Standards issued by the Institute of 
Company Secretaries of India. 

 
Ethics/Governance Policies 
At Tirrihannah, we strive to conduct our business and strengthen our relationships in a 
manner that is dignified, distinctive and responsible. We adhere to ethical standards to ensure 
integrity, transparency, independence and accountability in dealing with all stakeholders. 
Therefore, we have adopted various codes and policies in line with Companies Act, 2013 and 
SEBI (Listing Obligations and Disclosure Requirements) Regulations, 2015 to carry out our 
duties in an ethical manner. Some of these codes and policies are as follow and the detailed 
code and / or  Policies are available at the registered office of the company.  
 
 Code of Conduct for Directors & Senior Management  and Independent Directors of 

Tirrihannah Co Ltd 
 Familiarisation Programme for Independent Directors (IDs) 
 Performance Evaluation Policy of Directors of Tirrihannha Co Ltd  
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 Code of Practices and Procedures for Fair Disclosure of Unpublished Price Sensitive 
Information (UPSI) 

 Vigil Mechanism and Whistle Blower Policy 
 Policy on Materiality of Related Party Transactions and on Dealing with Related Party 

Transactions 
 Policy on Disclosure of Material Events and Information 
 Corporate Social Responsibility Policy 
 Policy on Preservation of Documents & Archival of Documents on the Website. 

 
Policy for Selection of Directors and determining Directors Independence is attached as 
Annexure ‘A’  and Nomination and Remuneration Policy for Directors, Key Managerial 
Personnel and other Employees is attached as Annexure ‘B’ to the Board Report. 
 
BOARD OF DIRECTORS: 
 
The Board of Directors (The Board) is entrusted with the ultimate responsibility of the 
management, general affairs, direction and performance of the Company and has been vested 
with the requisite powers, authorities and duties. The management committee of the 
Company is headed by the Managing Director and has functional heads as its members, which 
looks after the management of the day to day affairs of the Company.  
 
Composition  
 
The Board of Tirrihannah Comprises Executive and Non-Executive Directors. The Non-
Executive Directors include Independent Directors and is in conformity with SEBI(LODR) 
Regulation, 2015. 
 
(a) The Company has composition of Executive and Non-Executive Directors. As on 31 March 

2019, the Board consists of Five Directors. Out of which 3 (Three) directors is Non-
Executive & Independent Directors which include one woman director. The Managing 
Director is the promoter of Company. 
 

(b) None of the Directors on the Board are Members of more than ten Committees or 
Chairman of more than five Committees (as specified in Regulation 26 (1) of SEBI (LODR) 
Regulations) across all the Companies in which they are Directors. Necessary disclosures 
regarding Committee positions in other public Companies as on March 31, 2019 have been 
made by the Directors and none of the NEDs serve as IDs in more than Seven Listed 
Companies and none of the Executive or whole- time Directors serve as IDs on any listed 
company.  

 
(c) The Company had no pecuniary relationship or transactions with the Non-Executive 

Directors during FY 2019. The Independent Directors are not related to promoters or 
persons occupying management positions at the Board level or any level below the Board; 
they were neither in employment for the last three years nor they are material suppliers, 
service providers, customers, a lessor, or a lessee of the Company, which may affect their 
independence. They do not hold substantial shares in the Company. All these directors are 
above 21 years of age. 
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(d) All Independent Directors are persons of eminence and bring a wide range of expertise and 
experience to the Board thereby ensuring the best interest of stakeholders and the 
Company. All Independent Directors meet with the criteria of independence as prescribed 
both under sub-section (6) of Section 149 of the Act and SEBI (Listing Obligations and 
Disclosure Requirements) Regulations, 2015 (“LODR”). 

 
(e) The names and categories of the Directors on the Board, their attendance at Board Meetings 

held during the year and the number of Directorship and Committee Chairmanships/ 
Memberships held by them in other Companies are given herein below. Chairmanships/ 
Memberships of the Board Committees include only Audit and Stake Holders Relationship 
Committee. 

 
(f) The Information stipulated under Part A of Schedule II of SEBI (LODR Regulations) is 

being made available to the Board. 
 
*Details Regarding Appointment and Re- appointment of all the Board of Directors has 
been Detailed in the Director’s Report. 
 
 

Name Designation Category  Directorships & Committee 
Position 

Directo
rships* 

Committe
e 
Members
hips# 

Committee 
Chairman
ships# 

Mr. Ghanshyam Das 
Kankani  

Chairman and 
Managing Director  
 

Executive 1 - 2 

Mr. Umesh Kankani  Whole time 
Director cum CFO 

Executive 1 2 - 
 

Mr. Satish Jayant 
Mehta 

Director Non Executive 
& Independent 

- - - 
 

Mr. Piyush Jaju Director Non Executive 
& Independent  

- - - 
 

Ms. Soma Misra## Director Non Executive 
& Independent  

- - - 

 
* Directorship includes only Public Companies Whether Listed or not including Tirrihannah 
co ltd has been considered. 
  
# In accordance with Regulation 26 of the SEBI (Listing Obligations and Disclosure 
Requirements) Regulations, 2015, Memberships/Chairmanships of only Audit Committee, 
Stakeholders Relationship Committee in all public limited companies Whether Listed or not 
including Tirrihannah co ltd have been considered.  
 
The Managing Director was appointed for a period of five years from the period of taking over 
the charge i.e. from 31.03.2014 to 30.03.2019.  
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Mr. Umesh Kankani was re-designated as Whole Time Director cum Chief Financial Officer of 
the Company w.e.f 05.09.2014 for a period of five years.  
 
Note:  
1. As required under the Accounting Standard 18 transaction with related parties are 

furnished under note 7 of notes on accounts. There was no transactions of material nature 
with Promoter Directors or their relatives, etc. that may have potential conflict with the 
interest of the company. With regards to disclosure received from Directors and senior 
management there was no transaction with the company which might have potential 
conflict with the interest of the company at a large.   

2. There are no inter-se relationships between our Board Members Except Mr. GD Kankani 
and Mr. Umesh Kankani who is son of Mr. G D Kankani. 

3. the details of familiarization programmes imparted to Independent Directors are disclosed 
at the part of Director’s Report. 

 
PROFILE OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS 

Mr. Ghanshyam Das Kankani aged about 56 years is a Commerce Graduate is the managing 
Director of the company. he has more than 32 years of experience in the field of Tea Industries 
plantations. He also owns a commendable position in the Real estate business. He has 
excellent Command in the field of Finance, Legal and Administration.   
 
Mr. Umesh Kankani aged about 32 years is a graduate in Business Honours from Burnel 
University, London and has an excellent command in finance, legal and administration. He is 
designated as wholr time director cum CFO of the Company.    
 
Mr. Satish Jayant Mehta aged about 54 years is a Graduate. He has wide experience in the 
Real Estate Business.He is an Independent Director of the company.  

 
Mr. Piyush Jaju aged about 32 years is a Graduate. He has wide experience in the Finance and 
Administration. He is an Independent Director of the company.  
 
Mrs. Soma Misra aged about 42 years is a Graduate. She has more than 14 years of experience 
in the field of HR and Admin. She is an Independent Director of the company.  
 
Board membership criteria  
The nomination and remuneration committee works with the entire Board to determine the 
appropriate characteristics, skills and experience required for the Board as a whole and for 
individual members. Members are expected to possess the required qualifications, integrity, 
expertise and experience for the position. They should also possess deep expertise and insights 
in sectors/areas relevant to the Company, and ability to contribute to the Company’s growth.  
The Board members are expected to rigorously prepare for, attend and participate in all board 
and applicable committee meetings. Each member is expected to ensure that their other 
current and planned future commitments do not materially interfere with their responsibilities 
with us.  
 
Directors’ Induction and Selection of new directors 
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The provision of an appropriate induction programme for new Directors and ongoing training 
for existing Directors is a major contributor to the maintenance of high Corporate Governance 
standards of the Company. The Whole Time Director & CFO and the Company Secretary are 
jointly responsible for ensuring such induction. The Board is responsible for the selection of 
new directors. The Board delegates the screening and selection process to the nomination and 
remuneration committee, which consists exclusively of independent directors. The nomination 
and remuneration committee makes recommendations to the Board on the induction of new 
directors. After getting appointed, the Directors receive a formal letter of appointment which 
inter alia explains the role, functions, duties and responsibilities expected from him as a 
Director of the Company. The Director is also explained in detail the compliances required to 
be made under the Companies Act and the SEBI (Listing Obligations and Disclosure 
Requirements) Regulations, 2015 (hereinafter referred to as “SEBI Regulations, 2015”) and 
other relevant regulations. 
 
Familiarization programme for Board Members 
 
The Company believes that the Board be continuously empowered with the knowledge of the 
latest developments in the Company’s business and the external environment affecting the 
industry as a Whole. To this end, The Board members were given presentations on the global 
business environment, as well as all business areas of the Company including business 
strategy, risks opportunities, they are also provided with necessary documents/brochures, 
reports and internal policies to enable them to familiarize with the Company’s procedures and 
practices. The management provides such information and training either at the meeting of 
Board of Directors or otherwise 
 
Quarterly updates on relevant statutory changes and landmark judicial pronouncements 
encompassing important laws are regularly circulated to the Directors. Site visits to Garden 
are organized for the Directors to enable them to understand the operations of the Company. 
 
The Details of such Familiarizations Programmer for Directors are available at the registered 
office of the company.  
 
Membership term  
The Board constantly evaluates the contribution of the members and periodically shares 
updates with the shareholders about re-appointment consistent with applicable status. The 
current law in India mandates the retirements of two-third of the total non-independent 
directors (who are liable to retire by rotation) every year, and qualifies the retiring members 
for re-appointment. Executive directors are appointed by the shareholder for a maximum 
period of five years, but are eligible for re-appointment upon completion of their term. An 
independent director shall hold office of a term of up to five consecutive years on the Board of 
the Company and will be eligible for re-appointment on the passing of a special resolution by 
the Company.  
 
Performance evaluation 
 
In compliance with the Section 134(3) (p) and Section 178 (2) of the Companies Act, 2013 read 
with Regulation 17 (10) , 19 (4) and Part D of Schedule II of the SEBI (Listing Obligations and 
Disclosure Requirements) Regulations, 2015, the Company has devised a Policy for 
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performance evaluation of Independent Directors, Board, Committees and other individual 
Directors which includes criteria for performance evaluation of the non-executive directors 
and executive directors and the policy has been approved by the Nomination and 
Remuneration Committee.  
 
The Board carried out an annual performance evaluation of its own performance, the 
Independent Directors individually as well as the evaluation of the working of the Committees 
of the Board. The performance evaluation of all the Directors was carried out by the 
Nomination and Remuneration Committee. The performance evaluation of the Non-
Independent Directors was carried out by the Independent Directors. 
 
The purpose of the Board evaluation is to achieve persistent and consistent improvement in 
the Governance of the Company at the Board level with the participation of all concerned in an 
environment of harmony. The Board acknowledges its intention to establish and follow “best 
practices” in Board governance in order to fulfill its fiduciary obligation to the Company. The 
Board believes the evaluation will lead to a closer working relationship among the Board 
members, greater efficiency in the use of the Board’s time and increased effectiveness of the 
Board as a governing body. 
 
A structured questionnaire was prepared after taking into consideration inputs received from 
the Directors, covering various aspects of the Board’s functioning such as adequacy of the 
composition of the Board and its Committees, Board culture, execution and performance of 
specific duties, obligations and governance. A separate exercise was carried out to evaluate the 
performance of individual Directors including the Managing Director of the Board, who were 
evaluated on parameters such as level of engagement and contribution, independence of 
judgement, safeguarding the interest of the Company and its minority shareholders etc. 
 
Some of the key criteria for performance evaluation, as laid down by the Company are as 
follows- 
 
Performance evaluation of Directors: 

 Contribution at Board / Committee meetings 
 Guidance / Support to Management outside Board /Committee Meetings 

 
Performance evaluation of Board and Committees: 

 Board structure and composition 
 Degree of fulfillment of key responsibilities 
 Establishment and delineation of responsibilities to Committees 
 Effectiveness of Board Processes, Information and Functioning 
 Board Culture and Dynamics 
 Quality of relationship between the Board and Management 
 Efficacy of communication with External Stakeholders 
 Committees – strengths and areas of improvement 

 
The Directors expressed their satisfaction with the evaluation process. 
 
Succession planning  
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The nomination and remuneration committee works with the Board on the leadership 
succession plan, and prepares contingency plans for succession in case of any exigencies.   
 
INDEPENDENT DIRECTORS 
 
Definition 
The Companies Act, 2013 and the SEBI (Listing Obligations and Disclosure Requirements) 
Regulations, 2015 defines an ‘ Independent Director’ as a person who is not a promoter or 
employee or one of the Key Managerial Personnel of the Company or its subsidiaries. The 
Laws also state that the person should not have a material pecuniary relationship or 
transactions with the Company or its subsidiaries, apart from receiving remuneration as an 
independent director. We abide by these definitions of Independent director. 
 
Selection of Independent Directors 
Considering the requirement of skill sets on the Board, eminent people having an independent 
standing in their respective field/profession, and who can effectively contribute to the 
Company’s business and policy decisions are considered by the Nomination and 
Remuneration Committee, for appointment, as Independent Directors on the Board. The 
Committee, inter alia, considers qualification, positive attributes, area of expertise and number 
of Directorships and Memberships held in various committees of other companies by such 
persons in accordance with the Company’s Policy for Selection of Directors and determining 
Directors’ independence. The Board considers the Committee’s recommendation, and takes 
appropriate decision. Every Independent Director, at the first meeting of the Board in which 
he participates as a Director and thereafter at the first meeting of the Board in every financial 
year, gives a declaration that he meets the criteria of independence as provided under law. 
 
A statement, in connection with fulfilling the criteria of independence and directorships as per 
the requirement of the provisions of the Companies Act, 2013 (“the Act”) and the Regulation 
25 of SEBI LODR received from each of the Independent Directors, is disclosed in the Board’s 
Report. Your Company had also issued formal appointment letters to all the Independent 
Directors in the manner provided under the Act. Terms and conditions for appointment of 
Independent Directors are available at the registered office of the Company. 
 
The Lead Independent Director’s role is as follows: 

 To preside over all meetings of Independent Directors 
 To ensure there is an adequate and timely flow of information to Independent Directors 
 To liaise between the Chairman and Managing / Whole- Time Director, the 

Management and the Independent Directors 
 To preside over meetings of the Board and Shareholders when the Chairman and 

Managing Director / Whole- Time Director is not present, or where he is an interested 
party 

 To perform such other duties as may be delegated to the Lead Independent Director by 
the Board/ Independent Directors. 

 
Code of Conduct  
The Company has prescribed Code of Conduct for its directors and senior management. The 
Code is applicable to Non-executive Directors including Independent Directors to such extent 
as may be applicable to them depending on their roles and responsibilities. The Code gives 
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guidance and support needed for ethical conduct of business and compliance of law. The Code 
reflects the values of the Company viz. - Customer Value, Ownership Mind-set, Respect, 
Integrity, One Team and Excellence. 
A copy of the Code are available at the registered office of the company. The Code has been 
circulated to Directors and Management Personnel, and its compliance is affirmed by them 
annually. 
 
The declaration from the Managing Director stating that as on 31 March 2019 all the board 
members and the senior management personnel of the Company have adhered to the code of 
conduct for FY 2019 and the same has been included in this report duly signed by the 
Managing Director of the Company. 
 
BOARD MEETINGS, BOARD COMMITTEE MEETINGS AND PROCEDURES: 
 
A. INSTITUTIONALISED DECISION MAKING PROCESS: 
 
The Board of Directors oversees the overall functioning of the Company. The Board provides 
and evaluates the strategic direction of the Company, management policies and their 
effectiveness and ensures that the long-term interest of the stakeholders are being served. The 
Chairman is assisted by the Executive Directors/Senior Managerial Personnel in overseeing 
the functional matters of the Company. 
 
The Board has constituted various Committees, namely Audit Committee, Nomination and 
Remuneration Committee, Stakeholders’ Relationship Committee, Risk Management 
Committee and Vigil Mechnism. The Board is authorized to constitute additional functional 
Committees, from time to time, depending on business needs. 
 
B. SCHEDULING AND SELECTION OF AGENDA ITEMS FOR BOARD MEETINGS: 
 
i. A minimum of four Board Meetings are held every year. Dates for the Board Meetings in the 
ensuing quarter are decided well in advance and communicated to the Directors. The Agenda 
along with the explanatory notes are sent in advance to the Directors. Additional meetings of 
the Board are held when deemed necessary to address the specific needs of the Company. In 
case of business exigencies or urgency of matters, resolutions are passed by circulation. 
 
ii. The meetings are usually held at the Company’s Registered Office at Kolkata.  
 
iii. All divisions/departments of the Company are advised to schedule their work plans well 
in advance, with regard to matters requiring discussion/approval/ decision at the Board/ 
Committee meetings. All such matters are communicated to the CFO in advance so that the 
same can be included in the Agenda for the Board/Committee Meetings.  
 
iv. In addition to items which are mandated to be placed before the Board for its noting 
and/or approval, information is provided on various significant issues. 
 

v. The Board is given presentations covering present Tea Industry scenario, Indian Economy, 
Company’s Financials, Sales, Production, Business Strategy, Competitor’s Performance and 
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Risk Management practices before taking on record the Quarterly/ Half Yearly/ Nine 
Monthly/ Annual financial results of the Company. 
 
The Board is also provided with Audit Committee observations on the Internal audit findings 
and matters required to be included in the Director’s Responsibility Statement to be included 
in the Board’s report in terms of clause (c) of sub-section 3 of Section 134 of the Companies 
Act, 2013. 
 
C. DISTRIBUTION OF BOARD AGENDA MATERIAL: 
 
Agenda and Notes on Agenda are circulated to the Directors, in advance, in the defined 
Agenda format. All material information is incorporated in the Agenda papers for facilitating 
meaningful and focused discussions at the meeting. Where it is not practical to attach any 
document to the Agenda, the same is tabled before the meeting with specific reference to this 
effect in the Agenda. In special and exceptional circumstances, additional or supplementary 
item(s) on the Agenda are considered. 
 
D. RECORDING MINUTES OF PROCEEDINGS AT BOARD AND COMMITTEE MEETINGS: 
 
Draft minutes are circulated to all the members of the Board/Committee for their comments. 
The final minutes are entered in the Minutes Book within 30 days from conclusion of the 
meeting and are signed by the Chairman of the meeting/ Chairman of the next meeting. A 
copy of the signed Minutes certified by the Chairman are circulated to all members within 
fifteen days after those are signed. 
 
E. POST-MEETING FOLLOW-UP MECHANISM: 
 
The Company has an effective post meeting follow-up, review and reporting process 
mechanism for the decisions taken by the Board/Committees. The important decisions taken 
at the Board/Committee meetings are communicated to the concerned functional Heads 
promptly. Action Taken Report on decisions of the previous meeting(s) is placed at the 
immediately succeeding meeting of the Board/Committee for noting by the Board/Committee 
members. 
 
F. COMPLIANCE: 
While preparing the Agenda, Notes on Agenda, Minutes etc. of the meeting(s), adequate care 
is taken to ensure adherence to all applicable laws and regulations including the Companies 
Act, 2013, read with the Rules made thereunder. 
 
G. AVAILABILITY OF INFORMATION TO BOARD MEMBERS 
The Board has unrestricted access to all Company-related information, including that of our 
employees. At Board meetings, managers and representatives who can provide additional 
insights into the items being discussed are invited. Regular updates provided to the Board 
include: 

 Annual operating plans and budgets, capital budgets and updates  
 Quarterly results of our operating divisions or business segments  
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 Minutes of meetings of audit, nomination and remuneration, risk management, 
stakeholders relationship,  and corporate social responsibility committees, and abstracts 
of circular resolution passed  

 General notice of interest received from directors 
 Information on recruitment and remuneration of senior officers below the Board level, 

including appointment or removal of the Chef Financial Officer and Company 
Secretary, if any 

 Materially important litigations, show cause, demand, prosecution and penalty notices  
 Fatal or serious accidents, dangerous occurrences, and issues related to material 

effluents or pollution  
 Any materially relevant defaults in financial obligations to and by us  
 Any issue that involves possible public or product liability claims of a substantial 

nature  
 Details of joint ventures, acquisitions of companies, or collaboration agreements 
 Transactions that involve substantial payments toward goodwill, brand equity or 

Intellectual Property (IP)  
 Any significant development involving human resource management  
 Sale of a material nature , or of  investment, subsidiaries and assets, which are not part 

of the normal course of business  
 Details of foreign exchange exposure and the steps taken by the Management to limit 

risks of advance  exchanges rate movement  
 Non-compliance with any regulatory, statutory or listing requirements, as well as 

shareholders services, such as non-payment of dividend and delays in share transfer  
 Quarterly compliance reports and investor grievance reports  
 Discussion with independent directors       

Details of board meetings during the financial year: 

During the financial year 2018-19, Eight meetings of the Board were held during the year and 
the gap between two meetings did not exceed four months. The dates on which the said 
meetings were held are as follows:  

Si. No.   Date   Board Strength  
 No. of Directors 
present  

1 30th May, 2018 5 5 

2 30th June, 2018 5 5 

3 14th August, 2018 5 5 

4 23rd October, 2018 5 5 

5 14th November, 2018 5 5 

6 13th December, 2018 5 5 

7 14th February, 2019 5 5 

8 15th  March, 2019 5 5 
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Attendance of each Director in the Board Meetings and the Last Annual General Meeting is 
detailed herein below :  

 
Si. No. Directors No. of Board 

Meeting 
Attended 

Attendance at 
the Last AGM 
held on 
26.09.2018 

No. of Shares 
held in the 
Company 

1 Mr. Ghanshyam Das Kankani 8 Yes 189190 

2 Mr. Umesh Kankani 8 Yes 123460 

3 Mr. Satish Jayant Mehta 8 Yes NIL 

4 Mr. Piyush Jaju 8 Yes NIL 

5 Mrs. Soma Mishra 8 Yes NIL 
 

 
The Board ensures compliance of all laws applicable to the company and takes steps to rectify 
non-compliance, if any. 
 
MEETING OF INDEPENDENT DIRECTORS: 
The Company’s Independent Directors meet at least once in every financial year without the 
presence of Executive Directors or management personnel. Such meetings are conducted 
informally to enable Independent Directors to discuss matters pertaining to the Company’s 
affairs and put forth their views to other Independent Directors.  
 
The Independent Directors of the Company had met during the year on 14.02.2019, inter alia, 
to discuss: 

 Evaluation of the performance of Non-independent Directors and the Board of 
Directors as a whole. 

 Evaluation of the performance of the chairman of the Company, taking into account the 
views of the Executive and Non-executive directors. 

 Evaluation of the quality, content and timelines of flow of information between the 
Management and the Board that is necessary for the Board to effectively and reasonably 
perform its duties.  

 All the Independent Directors were present at the Meeting. 
 
The Company had also further during the year, conducted Familiarisation Programme for 
Independent Directors of the Company and the details of such Familiarisation Programmes 
are available at the registered office of the company.  

 
COMMITTEES OF THE BOARD: 
 
The Board Committees play a crucial role in the governance structure of the Company and 
have been constituted to deal with specific area / activities which concern the Company and 
need a closure review. The Board Committees are set up under the formal approval of the 
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Board, to carry out clearly defined roles which are considered to be performed by members of 
the Board, as a part of good governance practice.   
 
The Board supervises the execution of its responsibilities by the committees and is responsible 
for their action. The Minutes of the meetings of all the committees are placed before the Board 
for review.    
 
The Board has currently established the following statutory and non statutory committees.  
 
Procedure at Committee Meetings 
The Company’s guidelines relating to Board meetings are applicable to Committee meetings 
as far as practicable. Each Committee has the authority to engage outside experts, advisors 
and counsels to the extent it considers appropriate to assist in its function. Minutes of 
proceedings of Committee meetings are circulated to the Directors and placed before Board 
meetings for noting. 
 
AUDIT COMMITTEE  

The audit committee assists the board in the dissemination of financial information and in 
overseeing the financial and accounting processes in the company. The terms of reference of 
the audit committee covers all matters specified in Regulation 18 of the SEBI (Listing 
Obligations and Disclosure Requirements) Regulations, 2015 and also those specified in 
section 177 of the Companies Act 2013. The terms of reference broadly include review of 
internal audit reports and action taken reports, assessment of the efficacy of the internal 
control systems/ financial reporting systems and reviewing the adequacy of the financial 
policies and practices followed by the company. The audit committee reviews the compliance 
with legal and statutory requirements, the quarterly and annual financial statements and 
related party transactions and reports its findings to the Board. The committee also 
recommends the appointment of internal auditor, statutory auditor, Secretarial Auditor and 
cost auditor. The audit committee takes note of any default in the payments to creditors and 
shareholders. The committee also looks into those matters specifically referred to it by the 
Board. The statutory auditors were present at all audit committee meetings.  
 
The audit committee comprised of the following directors for the year ended 31st March 2019: 
 
Composition, names of members and Chairperson 
The Audit Committee of the Company is constituted in line with Regulation 18 of the SEBI 
(Listing Obligations and Disclosure Requirements) Regulations, 2015 read with Section 177 of 
the Companies Act, 2013 which was headed by Mr. Satish Jayant Mehta . All the members of the 
Audit Committee are financially literate as defined in Regulation 18 (1) (c) of the SEBI (Listing 
Obligations and Disclosure Requirements) Regulations, 2015.  
 
The Company’s Audit Committee comprises of the following Directors:- 

# Mr. Satish Jayant Mehta   - Chairman  
# Mr. G. D. Kankani  - Member 
# Mr. Piyush Jaju       - Member 
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All the current members of the Committee are financially literate and have relevant finance / 
audit exposure. The chief financial officer is permanent invitees to the meetings of the 
committee. The other directors are invited to attend the audit committee meetings as and 
when required. Chairman of the Audit Committee was present at the previous Annual 
General Meeting of the company held on 26th September, 2018. 

     
DETAILS OF AUDIT COMMITTEE MEETINGS DURING THE FINANCIAL YEAR: 
 
During the year under review, the committee met four times during the financial year ended 
on 30.05.2018, 14.08.2018, 14.11.2018 and 14.02.2019. The Composition of the Committee and 
the attendance  at each Committee Meetings are as follows :- 

 
 

Si. 
No. 

Name of Director Category Attendance of 
Directors* 

        
1 Mr. Satish Jayant 

Mehta** 
Non Executive Independent 
Chairman 

4 of 4 

2 Mr. G. D. Kankani Executive  Member 4 of 4 

3 Mr. Piyush Jaju Non- Executive Independent 
Member 

4 of 4 

     
*Attendance is expressed as number of meetings attended out of number eligible to attend.  
** Mr. Satish Jayant Mehta was appointed on 02.03.2017 after the death of Mr. Moti Lal Bhatter. 

 
This Committee of the Board, inter-alia, provides reassurance to the Board on the existence of 
an effective internal control environment that ensures:  
 Efficiency and effectiveness of operations; 
 Safeguarding of assets and adequacy of provisions for all liabilities; 
 Reliability of financial and other management information and adequacy of disclosures 
Compliance with all relevant statutes. 
 
Internal Controls and Risk Management 
 
The Company has robust systems for internal audit and corporate risk assessment and 
mitigation. The Company has an independent Control Assurance Department assisted by 
dedicated internal auditors’ team.  
 
The internal audit covers all the factories, sales offices, warehouses and businesses and 
functions controlled centrally. Every quarter, the Audit Committee of the Board is presented 
with key control issues and actions taken on past issues.  
 
Business risk assessment procedures have been set in place for self assessment of business 
risks, operating controls and compliance with corporate policies. There is an ongoing process 
to track the evolution of the risks and delivery of mitigation action plan.  
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 Power of Audit Committee 

The audit committee shall have powers which should include the following: 
1. To investigate any activity within its terms of reference. 
2. To seek information from any employee. 
3. To obtain outside legal or other professional advice. 
4. To secure attendance of outsiders with relevant expertise, if it considers necessary. 
The broad terms of reference of Audit Committee are: 
 
a) Overseeing the Company’s financial reporting process and the disclosure of its financial 

information to ensure that the financial statements are correct, sufficient and credible; 
 

b) Recommending to the Board, the appointment, re-appointment, remuneration and terms of 
appointment of statutory auditors, cost auditors of the Company. 

c) Approval of payment to Statutory Auditors for any other services rendered by the 
statutory auditors; 

d) Reviewing with the management, the annual financial statements and auditor’s report 
thereon before submission to the Board, focusing primarily on: 
 
1) Matters required to be included in the Director’s Responsibility Statement to be 

included in the Board’s report in terms of clause (c) of subsection 3 of Section 134 of the 
Companies Act. 

2) Changes, if any, in accounting policies and practices and reasons for the same. 
3) Major accounting entries involving estimates based on the exercise of judgment by 

Management. 
4) Significant adjustments made in the financial statements, if any, arising out of audit 

findings. 
5) Compliance with respect to accounting standards, listing agreements and legal 

requirements concerning financial statements. 
6) Disclosure of any related party transactions. 
7) Modified opinion(s) in the draft audit report, if any.  

 

e) Reviewing, with the management, the quarterly financial statements before submission to 
the board for approval; 

f) Reviewing, with the management, the statement of uses / application of funds raised 
through an issue (public issue, rights issue, preferential issue, etc.), the statement of funds 
utilized for purposes other than those stated in the offer document / prospectus / notice 
and the report submitted by the monitoring agency monitoring the utilisation of proceeds 
of a public or rights issue, and making appropriate recommendations to the Board to take 
up steps in this matter; 

g) Review and monitor the auditor’s independence and performance, and effectiveness of 
audit process; 

h) Approval or any subsequent modification of transactions of the company with related 
parties; 

i) Scrutiny of inter-corporate loans and investments; 
j) Valuation of undertakings or assets of the company, wherever it is necessary; 
k) Evaluation of internal financial controls and risk management systems; 
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l) Reviewing, with the management, performance of statutory and internal auditors, 
adequacy of the internal control systems; 

m) Reviewing the adequacy of internal audit function, if any, including the structure of the 
internal audit department, staffing and seniority of the official heading the department, 
reporting structure coverage and frequency of internal audit; 

n) Discussion with internal auditors of any significant findings and follow up there on; 
o) Reviewing the findings of any internal investigations by the internal auditors into matters 

where there is suspected fraud or irregularity or a failure of internal control systems of a 
material nature and reporting the matter to the board; 

p) Discussion with statutory auditors before the audit commences, about the nature and scope 
of audit as well as post-audit discussion to ascertain any area of concern; 

q) To look into the reasons for substantial defaults in the payment to the depositors,     
debenture holders, shareholders (in case of non-payment of declared dividends) and 
creditors; 

r) To review the functioning of the Whistle Blower mechanism; 
s) Approval of appointment of CFO (i.e., the whole-time Finance Director or any other person 

heading the finance function or discharging that function) after assessing the qualifications, 
experience and background, etc. of the candidate; 

t) Carrying out any other function as is mentioned in the terms of reference of the Audit 
Committee. 
 

Review of Information by Audit Committee  
 
The Audit Committee shall mandatorily review the following information: 
 

1. Management discussion and analysis of financial condition and results of 
operations; 

2. Statement of significant related party transactions (as defined by the Audit 
Committee), submitted by management; 

3. Management letters / letters of internal control weaknesses issued by the 
statutory auditors; 

4. Internal audit reports relating to internal control weaknesses; and 
5. The appointment, removal and terms of remuneration of the Chief internal 

auditor shall be subject to review by the Audit Committee. 
 

NOMINATION AND REMUNERATION COMMITTEE : 

In compliance with Section 178 of the Companies Act, 2013 and Regulation 19 of the SEBI 
(Listing Obligations and Disclosure Requirements) Regulations, 2015, the Board has 
constituted the Nomination & Remuneration Committee. 
 
The terms of reference of the Committee inter alia, include the following: 
 
a) Identifying persons who are qualified to become directors and who may be appointed in 

senior management in accordance with the criteria laid down, recommend to the Board 
their appointment and removal and carry out evaluation of every director’s performance. 

b) Formulating a criteria for determining qualifications, positive attributes and independence 
of a director and recommending to the Board a policy, relating to the remuneration of the 
directors, key managerial personnel and other employees. 
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c) Formulating a criteria for evaluation of Independent Directors and the Board. 
d) Devising a policy on Board diversity. 
e) To recommend/review remuneration of the Managing Director(s) and Whole-time 

Director(s) based on their performance and defined assessment criteria. 
f) To carry out any other function as is mandated by the Board from time to time and / or 

enforced by any statutory notification, amendment or modification, as may be applicable; 
g) To perform such other functions as may be necessary or appropriate for the performance of 

its duties. 
 

I. Composition of the Committee Members. 
As of 31st March 2019, the Nomination and Remuneration Committee consisted of 3 Non – 
Executive Independent  directors, Mr. Satish Jayant Mehta, Mrs. Soma Mishra and Mr. Piyush 
Jaju, Non- Executive Independent Directors of the Company. 
 
Mr. Satish Jayant Mehta Independent Director is the Chairman of the Committee. 
 
The Nomination and Remuneration  Committee comprises of the following Directors:- 

# Mr. Satish Jayant Mehta  - Chairman  
# Mr. Piyush Jaju       - Member 
#Mrs. Soma Mishra   -  Member 

 
II. Meeting and Attendance during the year 

During the year under review, the committee met once during the financial year ended 31st 
March, 2019 on 14.11.2018. The Composition of the Committee and the attendance  at each 
Committee Meetings are as follows :- 

 

Name Category 

No of Meetings 
during the Year 2018-
2019 
Held Attended 

Mr. Satish Jayant Mehta Non- Executive Independent Member 1 1 
Mr. Piyush Jaju Non- Executive Independent Chairman 1 1 
Mrs. Soma Mishra Non- Executive Independent Member 1 1 

 
 

III. Performance Evaluation criteria for Independent Directors 
 
Board Evaluation Policy has been framed by the Nomination and Remuneration Committee 
(NRC) and approved by the Board and subsequently amended by the Board as and when 
needed. This policy has been framed in compliance with the provisions of section 178(2), 
134(3) (p) and other applicable provisions, if any, of the Companies Act, 2013 and Regulation 
17(10), 19(4) and part D of Schedule II of the SEBI (LODR Regulations), as amended from time 
to time.  
The Company adopted the following criteria to carry out the evaluation of Independent 
Directors, which is in terms of the provisions of the Companies Act, 2013 and the SEBI (LODR 
Regulations);      

 The Nomination and Remuneration Committee (NRC) shall carry out evaluation of 
every Director’s Performance.   
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 In addition, performance evaluation of the Independent Directors shall be done by the 
entire Board, excluding the director being evaluated. This is to be done on an annual 
basis for determining whether to extend or continue the term of appointment of the 
independent director.  

The Evaluation process of Independent Directors and the Board will consist of two parts;  
- Board Member Self Evaluation; and  
- Overall Board and Committee Evaluation.  

In the Board Member Self Evaluation, each Board member is encouraged to be introspective 
about his/her personal contribution/ performance/ conduct as director with reference to a 
questionnaire provided to them. Copies of the evaluation forms as applicable will be 
distributed to each Board Member. Board members shall complete the forms and return them 
to the Board nominee or the consultant, as may be informed.  
 
The Board nominee or the consultant will tabulate the Forms. The Tabulated Report would be 
sent to all Board Members for evaluation and if any directors disagrees with the self- 
evaluated results, he she will suitably intimate the Chairman of the Board, else the same will 
be deemed to have been accepted.  
 
The individually completed forms will be preserved by the Board and the Tabulated Report 
would be presented to the Board and NRC for evaluation. 
 
Apart from the above, the NRC will carry out an evaluation of every director’s performance. 
For this purpose, the NRC would review the Tabulated Report. The NRC would provide 
feedback to the Board on its evaluation of every director’s performance and based on such 
feedback, the Board will recommended appointments, re-appointments and removal of the 
non-performing Directors of the Company.  
 

IV. Remuneration policy 

The remuneration of the Managing Director/ Whole-time/Executive Directors and Senior 
Executive Officers is decided by the Board based upon the recommendations of the 
Nomination and Remuneration Committee, subject to the approval of the Company in general 
meeting, which inter-alia is based on the criteria such as industry benchmarks, the Company’s 
performance, and the performance of the individual concerned. Remuneration of the 
Executives and employees largely consists of basic salaries, perquisites and incentives. The 
component of the total remuneration varies from grades and is governed by the industry 
pattern, qualifications, experience and the responsibilities carried on by the individual 
employee concerned. The objectives of the remuneration policy are to motivate the deserving 
employee in improving their performance, along with recognizing their contributions, retain 
best talent in the organization and record the merits. 
The Policy inter alia provides for the following: 
 
(a) attract, recruit, and retain good and exceptional talent; 
(b) list down the criteria for determining the qualifications, positive attributes, and 

independence of the directors of the Company; 
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(c) ensure that the remuneration of the directors, key managerial personnel and other 
employees is performance driven, motivates them, recognises their merits and 
achievements and promotes excellence in their performance;  

(d) motivate such personnel to align their individual interests with the interests of the 
Company, and further the interests of its stakeholders;  

(e) ensure a transparent nomination process for directors with the diversity of thought, 
experience, knowledge, perspective and gender in the Board; and 

(f) Fulfil the Company's objectives and goals, including in relation to good corporate 
governance, transparency, and sustained long-term value creation for its stakeholders. 

 
The Company’s  Nomination and Remuneration Policy for Directors, Key Managerial 
Personnel and other employees is annexed as Annexure B to the Board Report. Further, the 
Company has devised a Policy for performance evaluation of Independent Directors, Board, 
Committees and other individual Director  which may be accessed at the Company’s 
Registered office. 

 
The details relating to remuneration of Directors, as required under Schedule V, Part C – Point 
No. 5 read with Regulation 34 (3) of SEBI  (Listing Obligations and Disclosure Requirements) 
Regulations, 2015 
 
Remuneration paid to the Chairman and Managing Director and Whole-time Directors 
during 2018-2019: 

Amount in INR  
Name of Director Designation Remuneration paid during the 

year 

Mr. G. D. Kankani Managing Director 6,00,000/- 

Mr. Umesh Kanakni Whole Time Director 
& CFO 

6,00,000/- 

                                                       
 
Service Contracts, Severance Fee and Notice Period 
 
The appointment of the Executive Directors is governed by resolutions passed by the Board 
and the Shareholders of the Company, which cover the terms and conditions of such 
appointment read with the service rules of the Company. A separate Service Contract is not 
entered into by the Company with them. They can be terminated by either party by giving 
three months notice in writing as per the T&C of appointment letters. Letters of appointment 
have been issued by the Company to the Independent Directors, incorporating their roles, 
duties, responsibilities etc., which have been accepted by them. 
 
There is no separate provision for payment of severance fee under the resolutions governing 
the appointment of Executive Directors. The statutory provisions will however apply. With 
respect to notice period of Directors, the statutory provisions will also apply 
 
Sitting fee and commission paid on net profit to Non-Executive Directors: 
No Sitting Fees been paid to Non- Executive Directors of the Company.  There were no other 
pecuniary relationships or transactions of Non-Executive Directors vis-à-vis the Company. 
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The Company has not granted any stock option to any of its Non-Executive Directors. 
 
Criteria for making payments to non- executive directors: 
 
The Company has laid down the criteria for making payments to the Non- Executive 
Directors. The details of such criteria are available in the Remuneration Policy available at the 
registered office of the company. 
  
Details of shareholding of Directors as on 31st March 2019. 
 As on 31st March 2019, the company had two executive directors and Three non-executive 
directors, The Executive Directors, Mr. G. D Kankani, holds 189190 equity shares and Mr. 
Umesh Kankani, holds 123460  equity shares  in the company  and the Non-Executive directors 
do not hold any shares in the company. 
 
STAKE HOLDERS RELATIONSHIP COMMITTEE 
Section 178(5) of the Companies Act, 2013 read with Regulation 20 of the SEBI (Listing 
Obligations and Disclosure Requirements) Regulations, 2015 prescribes that a company which 
consists of more than one thousand shareholders, debenture-holders, deposit-holders and any 
other security holders at any time during a financial year shall constitute a Stakeholders’ 
Relationship Committee. The Company has complied with this provision and the 
Stakeholders’ Relationship Committee carries the mandate as was decided upon in the 
erstwhile Shareholders’ Grievance Committee. Further, the Company has merged the 
erstwhile Share Transfer Committee with the Stakeholders’ Relationship Committee. 
 
The committee met twelve times during the financial year ended 31st March, 2019 to oversee 
and review all matters related to the transfer of securities of the company and other 
Shareholders Grievances if any. The composition and attendance of each member of the 
Committee is given below.  

 

Name Category 
No of Meetings during the Year 2018-
2019 
Held Attended 

Mr. Piyush Jaju Chairman 12 12 

Mr. G. D. Kankani 
Member 
 

12 12 
  

The powers (terms of reference) delegated to the committee are as under: 
 

 to review statutory compliance relating to all security holders,  
 consider and resolve the grievances of security holders of the company including 

complaints related to transfer of securities, non-receipt of annual report/declared 
dividends/notices/ balance sheet,  

 oversee compliances in respect of dividend payments and transfer of unclaimed 
amounts to the Investor Education and Protection Fund,  

 oversee and review all matters related to the transfer of securities of the company ,  
 approve issue of duplicate certificates of the company,  
 review movements in shareholding and ownership structures of the company,  
 ensure setting of proper controls and oversee performance of the Registrar and Share 

Transfer Agent,  
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 Recommend measures for overall improvement of the quality of investor services and 
set forth policies relating to and oversee implementation of the Code of Conduct for 
prevention of Insider Trading.  

 To scrutinize and take on records the shares / securities transfers and transmission of 
shares / securities etc. made by the Registrar and Transfer Agent of the Company and 
authorize the registration of transfers in the Register of Members as well as in the 
Register of Transfers of the Company and to take all other consequential and incidental 
actions and measures. 

 Carry out any other function as is referred by the Board from time to time and / or 
enforced by any statutory notification / amendment or modification as may be 
applicable. 
 

Complaints received and redressed during the year 2018-2019 
 
Sr.No. Nature of Complaints Number of Complaints 

Received Redressed 
1 Non-receipt of Share Certificate after Transfer NIL NIL 
2 Non-receipt of Dividend Warrant NIL NIL 
3 Non – receipt of Annual Report NIL NIL 
4 Grievance Received through SCORES NIL NIL 
5 Grievance  Received through SCORES – Non receipt 

of Dividend 
NIL NIL 

6 Grievance Received through SCORES-Non receipt 
of Share Certificate after Transfer 

NIL NIL 

 
Ref: CIR/OIAE/2/2011 dated June 3, 2011 informed the company that they had commenced 
processing of investor complaints in a web based complaints redress system “SCORES”.  
Under this system, all complaints pertaining to companies are electronically sent through 
SCORES and the companies are required to view the complaints pending against them and 
submit Action Taken Report (ATRs) along with supporting documents electronically in 
SCORES.  
 
 All the requests and complaints received from the shareholders were attended to within the 
stipulated time and nothing was pending for disposal at the end of the year. For any 
clarification / complaint the shareholders may contact company at tirrihannah.co@gmail.com. 

 
RISK MANAGEMENT COMMITTEE  

A) RISK MANAGEMENT 

 Periodic assessments to identify the risk areas are carried out and management is briefed on 
the risks in advance to enable the company to control risk through a properly defined plan. 
The risks are classified as financial risks, operational risks and market risks. The risks are 
taken into account while preparing the annual business plan for the year. The Board is also 
periodically informed of the business risks and the actions taken to manage them. The 
Company has formulated a policy for Risk management with the following objectives: 
• Provide an overview of the principles of risk management 
• Explain approach adopted by the Company for risk management 
• Define the organizational structure for effective risk management 
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• Develop a “risk” culture that encourages all employees to identify risks and associated 
opportunities and to respond to them with effective actions. 

• Identify access and manage existing and new risks in a planned and coordinated 
manner with minimum disruption and cost, to protect and preserve Company’s 
human, physical and financial assets. 
 

B) RISK MANAGEMENT COMMITTEE:  

Committee was constituted in Compliance with Companies Act, 2013 and Regulation 21 of the 
SEBI (Listing Obligations and Disclosure Requirements) Regulations, 2015. The composition of 
the Risk Management Committee as at March 31, 2019 are as under : and details of the 
Members participation at the Meetings of the Committee are as under: 
 

Name of the Member Category Attendance at the Risk 
Management Committee 

meeting held on 14.02.2019 

Mr. G. D. Kankani Chairman and Executive 
Director 

Present 

Mr. Umesh Kankani   Executive Director & CFO Present 
 
 
The objectives and scope of the Risk Management Committee broadly comprises: 

 Oversight of risk management performed by the executive management; 
 Reviewing the RMC policy and framework in line with local legal requirements and 

SEBI guidelines; 
 Reviewing risks and evaluate treatment including initiating mitigation actions and 

ownership as per a pre-defined cycle; 
 Defining framework for identification, assessment, monitoring, mitigation and 

reporting of risks. 
 

C) The Company has also formulated a Risk Management policy which is available at the 
registered office of the company.  

 
POLICY FOR PREVENTION OF SEXUAL HARASSMENT  

 
Sexual harassment can have a devastating effect upon the health, confidence, morale and 
performance of those affected by it and the best way to prevent sexual harassment is to adopt 
a comprehensive sexual harassment policy. The Company is an equal employment 
opportunity provides and is committed to creating a healthy working environment that 
enables employees to work without fear of prejudice, gender bias and sexual harassment. The 
Company also believes that all employees of the Company have the right to be treated with 
dignity. Sexual harassment at the work place or other than work place, if involving employees, 
is a grave offence and is, therefore, punishable. 
 
VIGIL MECHNISM/ WHISTLE BLOWER POLICY: 
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The Company has formulated a policy known as  Vigil Mechanism / ‘Whistle Blower Policy’ 
As per the requirement of Section 177(9) of the Companies Act, 2013 and Regulation 22 read 
with Regulation 4(2)(d)(iv) of Securities and Exchange Board of India (Listing Obligations and 
Disclosure Requirements) Regulations, 2015 to allow and encourage our employees to bring to 
the Management’s Notice (Audit Committee) directly, without necessarily informing their 
superiors about suspected unethical behavior, malpractice, wrongful conduct, fraud, violation 
of the Company’s policies including code of conduct, violation of law or questionable 
accounting or auditing matters by any employee/director in the Company without fear of 
reprisal. 
 
The Company further undertakes that it has not denied any personnel access to the Chair man 
of the Audit Committee of the Company in respect of matters involving alleged 
misconduct/malpractice/unethical behavior and that it has provided protection to ‘Whistle 
Blowers’ from unfair termination and other unfair or prejudicial employment practices. 
 
The Details Vigil Mechanism / ‘Whistle Blower Policy’ are available at the registered office of 
the company.  
 
CEO /CFO CERTIFICATE :- 

A certificate from Managing Director and the Chief Financial Officer of the Company , in 
terms of regulation 17(8) read with schedule II Part B of SEBI (Listing Obligations and 
Disclosure Requirements) Regulations, 2015, have been duly submitted to the board and is 
attached to this Report. 
 
In terms of Regulation 33(2)(a) of SEBI LODR, the Managing Director  (CEO) and the CFO 
certified the quarterly financial results while placing the financial results before the Board. 
 
CERTIFICATE ON CORPORATE GOVERNANCE  
As required by Regulation 34(3) read with schedule-V(E) of SEBI (LODR) Regulations, 2015, a 
certificate from Company’s Auditors, M/s. Ghosh & Basu LLP, Chartered Accountants, (Firm 
Registration Number - 306040E) confirming compliance with conditions of Corporate 
Governance as stipulated under Schedule V of the Securities and Exchange Board of India 
(Listing Obligations and Disclosure Requirements) Regulations, 2015 is annexed to this 
Corporate Governance Report. 
 
CODE OF CONDUCT FOR BOARD MEMBERS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT. 

The Company has adopted the code of conduct for its employees in compliance with 
Regulation 17(5) read with Regulation 26 (3) of Securities and Exchange Board of India (Listing 
Obligations and Disclosure Requirements) Regulations, 2015 at all levels including Senior 
Management and Directors. The code has been circulated to all the members of the Board and 
senior management. The Board members and senior management have affirmed their 
compliance with the code and a declaration signed by the Managing Director of the Company 
appointed in terms of the Companies Act, 2013 (i.e. the CEO within the meaning of Part B of 
Schedule II read with Regulation 17(8) of Securities and Exchange Board of India (Listing 
Obligations and Disclosure Requirements) Regulations, 2015) is annexed separately to this 
report. 
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The standards for business conduct provide that the directors and the senior management will 
uphold ethical values and legal standards as the company pursues its objectives, and that 
honesty and personal integrity will not be compromised under any circumstances. A copy of 
the said code of conduct (in compliance with Regulations 46 (2) (d) of Securities and Exchange 
Board of India (Listing Obligations and Disclosure Requirements) Regulations, 2015) is 
available at the registered office of the company.   
 
OBSERVANCE OF THE SECRETARIAL STANDARDS ISSUED BY THE INSTITUTE OF 
COMPANY SECRETARIES OF INDIA 
The Institute of Company Secretaries of India (ICSI), one of India’s premier professional 
bodies, has issued Secretarial Standards on important aspects like Board meetings, General 
meetings, Payment of Dividend, Maintenance of Registers and Records, Minutes of Meetings, 
Transmission of Shares and Debentures, Passing of Resolutions by Circulation, Affixing of 
Common Seal and Board’s Report. Although these standards, as of now, are recommendatory 
in nature, the Company substantially adheres to these standards voluntarily. 
 
PREVENTION OF INSIDER TRADING 
The Company has adopted a Code of Conduct for Prevention of Insider Trading with a view 
to regulate trading in securities by the Directors and designated employees of the Company. 
The Code requires pre-clearance for dealing in the Company’s shares and prohibits the 
purchase or sale of Company shares by the Directors and the designated employees while in 
possession of unpublished price sensitive information in relation to the Company and during 
the period when the Trading Window is closed. The Board is responsible for implementation 
of the Code. 
  
All Board Directors and the designated employees have confirmed compliance with the Code. 
The Insider Trading Policy of the Company covering code of Practices and procedures for fair 
disclosures of unpublished price sensitive information and code of conduct for the prevention 
of insider trading, is available at the registered office of the company. 
 
DETAILS OF GENERAL MEETING : 
 
The Company held its last Three Annual General Meetings as under : 
 
Financial 
Year 

Date Time Venue Special Resolution passed, if any. 

2017-18 26th 
September, 
2018  

10.00 A.M. 5, Kiran 
Shankar Roy 
Road, 
Kolkata – 700 
001 

None 

2016-17 20th 
September, 
2017 

10.00 A.M. 5, Kiran 
Shankar Roy 
Road, 
Kolkata – 700 
001 

None 

2015-16 30th 
September, 

10.00 A.M. 5, Kiran 
Shankar Roy 

1.	Special	Resolution	for	revision	in	
terms	of	remuneration	of	Mr.	G.	D.	
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2016 Road, 
Kolkata – 700 
001 

Kankani,	Managing	Director	of	the	
company.	
2.	Special	Resolution	for	revision	in	
terms	of	remuneration	of	Mr.	Umesh	
Kankani,	Whole	time	director	cum	
CFO	of	the	company. 

 
Extraordinary General Meeting: During the year under review no Extraordinary General 
Meetings of the members of the company was held.    
 
Postal Ballot: During the year under review no Special Resolution was passed through Postal 
Ballot. 

 
MEANS OF COMMUNICATION 
 
The Board recognizes the importance of two-way communication with shareholders and 
giving a balanced report of results and progress and responding to questions and issues raised 
in a timely and consistent manner. 
 
a) Quarterly, Half yearly and Annual results 
The quarterly, half yearly and annual results of the Company as approved by the Board of 
Directors are submitted to the Stock Exchanges where the Company’s shares are listed. 
Further, the quarterly, half yearly and annual results of the Company are also published in 
widely circulated national newspapers such as The Financial Express (English Newspaper) 
and in the local vernacular daily, Kalantar circulated in the state of West Bengal.  
 
b) SEBI Complaints Redress System 
SEBI administers a centralized web-based complaints redress system (SCORES). It enables 
investors to lodge and follow up complaints and track the status of redressal online on the 
website www.scores.gov.in. It also enables the market intermediaries and listed companies to 
receive the complaints from investors against them, redress such complaints and report 
redressal. All the activities starting from lodging of a compliant till its disposal are carried 
online at any time. The Company has registered itself on SCORES and endeavors to resolve all 
investor complaints received through SCORES. 
 
c) Annual report 
The Company’s annual report containing the Board’s Report, Corporate Governance Report, 
Management Discussion and Analysis (MD&A), Audited Annual Financial Statements, 
Auditors’ Report and other important information is circulated to members and other 
stakeholders. Annual Reports are also emailed to the shareholders who have registered their 
email IDs with the Company/ depositories. The annual report is also available at the 
Company’s registered office. 
 
Note: The Company has not made any presentation to any institutional investors or to analysts 
during the year. 

  
GENERAL SHAREHOLDERS INFORMATION : 
 
(i)  Annual General Meeting (AGM)  
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       Day, Date & Time                             : Thursday, the 26th September, 2019 at 10.00 A.M.  
 
       Venue                                                : 5, Kiran Shankar Roy Road, Kolkata – 700 001 
 
(ii)  Date of Book Closure                      : 19th September, 2019 to 26th September,  2019          
                                                                                        (both days inclusive)  
(iii) Last Date of receipt of                      : Tuesday, 24th September, 2019 before 10.00 A.M. at the                
          Proxy Form                                        Registered Office of the Company   

                                                              
(iv) Financial Calendar for Year 2019-20 (tentative) 

The Company follows the financial year from April to March.  
                                                                                        
For the quarter ending                           30th June ,2019                Within 45 days of  
For the quarter & half year ending        30th September ,2019       the end of the  
For the quarter & nine months ending   31st December, 2019  quarter. 
 
           With in 60 days of  
For the quarter &  year ending               31st March, 2020 (Audited)                           the end of the  

                                                                                                                                   Quarter/Year. 
 
 
(v) Listing on Stock Exchanges: The Shares of the Company are listed in the following Exchanges.  
       

Name of the Stock Exchanges                                                                      Stock Code 
The Calcutta Stock Exchange Association Ltd. (CSE)                                     30121                              
The Ahmedabad Stock Exchange Ltd.                                                             61134 
Jaipur Stock Exchange Limited                                                                        876 
     
The Company has paid the annual listing fees for the financial year 2019-2020 to all the 
exchanges. 
 

(vi) Registrar & Transfer Agent:   
       M/s. MCS Share Transfer Agent Limited, 12/1/5 Monohar Pukur Road, Kolkata – 700 026,  
       Phone :  033 – 2454 1892, E mail: mcskol@rediffmail.com 
 

(vii) Share Transfer System:  
Share transfers are generally registered within a maximum period of 15 days from the date 
of receipt   provided the documents are complete in all respects. All Share transfers are 
approved by the “Shareholder and Investor Grievance Committee”. The Company has 
appointed M/s. MCS Share Transfer Agent Limited, as a common agency for share registry 
work in compliance of circular No. D&CC/FITTC/CIR15/2002 dated 27th December, 2002 
issued by SEBI, for all matters connected with transfers and transmissions of shares and 
also dematerialization of shares and other related functions. 

 

 (viii) Investor Grievance Redressal System. 
The investor grievances against the company are handled by the Company’s RTA, M/s. 
MCS Share Transfer Agent Limited, 12/1/5 Monohar Pukur Road, Kolkata – 700 026, in 
consultation with the Secretarial Department of the Company. The Registrars have 
adequate skilled staff with professional qualifications and advance computer systems for 
speedy redressal of investor’s grievances. The total process of settlement of a complaint 
right from its receipt to disposal is fully computerized to ensure timely settlement. It 
normally takes 15 days from the date of receipt of complaint for disposal of investor 
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grievances. Further, any kind of grievances which are specifically addressed to the 
Secretarial Department are send to the registered office for speedy redressal.  

 

  (ix) Distribution Schedule as on 31.03.2019 

Range 
Number of Shareholders Shares held in each class 

Number % Number % 

Up to 500 160 64.5161 38246 1.2001 

501-1000 34 13.7097 26500 0.8315 

1001-2000 9 3.6290 13275 0.4166 

2001-3000 8 3.2258 20300 0.6370 

3001-4000 7 2.8226 22300 0.6997 

4001-5000 5 2.0161 23940 0.7512 

5001-10000 3 1.2097 19550 0.6135 

10001 – 50000 8 3.2258 238180 7.4738 

50001-100000 8 3.2258 581180 18.2367 

100001 & above 6 2.4194 2203404 69.1400 

Total 248 100.0000 3186875 100.0000 

 
(x) Share Holding Pattern as on 31.03.2019 

 
Category  No. of Folios  No. of Shares 

Held 
% of holding 

Promoter’s Holding       

i) Individual / HUF 7 630100 19.77 

ii) Bodies Corporate 3 1656020 51.96 

Total Promoter’s Holdings 10 2286120 71.73 

Non Promoter’s Holding       

i) Mutual Funds / UTI 1 50000 1.57 

ii) FIIs 0 0 0.00 

iii) Private Body Corporate 8 28750 0.90 

iv)Bank, Financial Institutions, Insurance 
Companies (Central / State Govt. Institutions / 
Non-Government Institutions) 

1 2800 0.09 

v) Indian Public 226 816805 25.63 

vi) NRI/ OBCs 2 2400   0.08 

Total Non Promoters Holdings 238 900755 28.27 

Total  248 3186875 100.00 

 
 
(xi) Green Initiative – Corporate Governance 
The Ministry of Corporate Affairs (MCA) has introduced a “Green Initiative in Corporate Governance” 
by allowing paperless compliance by companies and has issued circulars No.17/ 2011 dated 21-04-2011 
stating that the service of documents by a Company to its members can now be made through electronic 
mode in compliance of Section 53 of the Companies Act, 1956. Therefore, with a view to participate in 
the initiative, we request the members to provide e-mail address, if they wish to receive the documents / 
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notices etc., of the Company through electronic mode. You may send your e-mail address to our 
Registrar & Share Transfer Agent, M/s MCS Limited at their following e-mail address mentioning your 
folio No. :- mcskol@rediffmail.com 

 
 

 (xii) Tirrihannah Company Limited - Tea Garden Situated at: 
P O: Bagdogra, Dist: Darjeeling- 734422, West Bengal 

 

(xiii) Address for Correspondence:    
       1. Tirrihannah Company Limited                                  2. MCS Limited (Unit Tirrihannah Co. Ltd.) 
           5, Kiran Shankar Roy Road, Kolkata - 700 001                 77/2A, Hazra Road, Kolkata - 700 039 
           Phone : 033 – 2248 7093                                                     Phone No.: 033 – 2454 1892                        
           E mail : tirrihannah.co@gmail.com                                     E-mail - mcskol@rediffmail.com    
 

 
DISCLOSURES : 
 
 

I) DISCLOSURES ON MATERIALLY SIGNIFICANT RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 
THAT MAY HAVE POTENTIAL CONFLICT WITH THE INTEREST OF THE 
COMPANY AT LARGE:- 
 

The Board has received disclosures from key managerial personnel relating to material, 
financial and commercial transactions where they and/or their relatives have personal 
interest. There are no materially significant transactions made by the company with its 
promoters, Directors or Management or relatives etc. that may have potential conflict with the 
interest of the Company at large. However, the related party relationships and transactions as 
required under Accounting Standard (AS) 18 on Related Party Disclosures prescribed under 
the Companies Act, 2013 are disclosed in Note No. 2 (iii) of notes to the Accounts for the year 
ended 31st March, 2019 may be referred. 
 
All related party transactions are negotiated on an arms-length basis, and are intended to 
further the Company’s interests. 
 
The Company has also formulated a policy on dealing with the Related Party Transactions 
which are available at the registered office of the company.  
 
II) STATUTORY COMPLIANCES, PENALTIES & STRICTURES 

 
The Company has complied with the requirements of the Stock Exchanges, SEBI and other 
statutory authorities on all matters relating to capital markets during the last three years. No 
penalties or strictures have been imposed on the Company by the Stock Exchanges, SEBI or 
other statutory authorities relating to the above. 
 
III) WHISTLE BLOWER POLICY  

 
Whistle Blower Policy/Vigil Mechanism: The Whistle Blower Policy/Vigil Mechanism has 
been formulated by the Company with a view to provide a mechanism for directors and 
employees of the Company to approach the Ethics Counsellor / Chairman of the Audit 
Committee of the Board to report genuine concerns about unethical behaviour, actual or 
suspected fraud or violation of the Code of Conduct or ethics policy or any other unethical or 
improper activity including misuse or improper use of accounting policies and procedures 
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resulting in misrepresentation of accounts and financial statements. The Company is 
committed to adhere to the highest standards of ethical, moral and legal conduct of business 
operations and in order to maintain these standards, the Company encourages Whistle Blower 
Policy/Vigil Mechanism: The Whistle Blower Policy/Vigil Mechanism has been formulated by 
the Company with a view to provide a mechanism for directors and employees of the 
Company to approach the Ethics Counsellor / Chairman of the Audit Committee of the Board 
to report genuine concerns about unethical behaviour, actual or suspected fraud or violation of 
the Code of Conduct or ethics policy or any other unethical or improper activity including 
misuse or improper use of accounting policies and procedures  resulting in misrepresentation 
of accounts and financial statements. The Company is committed to adhere to the highest 
standards of ethical, moral and legal conduct of business operations and in order to maintain 
these standards, the Company encourages its employees who have genuine concerns about 
suspected misconduct to come forward and express these concerns without fear of 
punishment or unfair treatment. 
 
The Whistle Blower Policy/Vigil Mechanism also provides safeguards against victimization or 
unfair treatment of the employees who avail of the mechanism and no personnel has been 
denied access to the Audit Committee.  
 
The Whistle Blower Policy/Vigil Mechanism adopted by the Company in line with Section 177 
of the Companies Act, 2013 and Regulation 22 of the Securities Exchange Board of India 
(Listing Obligations & Disclosure Requirements) Regulations 2015, which is a mandatory 
requirement, has been posted at the Notice Board of the company at registered office of the 
company.  
 
IV)SUBSIDIARY COMPANIES 

 
As Your Company has No Subsidiaries there are no details to be provided for the same. 
 
V) POLICY ON DETERMINATION OF MATERIALITY FOR DISCLOSURES AND 

ARCHIVAL POLICY 
 

In accordance with Regulation 30 of SEBI Regulations, 2015, the Company has framed a Policy 
on Determination of Materiality for Disclosures to disclose events or information which, in the 
opinion of the Board of Directors of the Company, are material. Further the Company is under 
process to develop the website of the company as the requirements of SEBI Regulations. 

 
VI)POLICY ON PRESERVATION OF DOCUMENTS 

 
In accordance with Regulation 9 of SEBI Regulations, 2015, the Company has framed a Policy 
on preservation of documents approved by the Board of Directors of the Company. The Policy 
is intended to define preservation of documents and to provide guidance to the executives and 
employees working in the Company to make decisions that may have an impact on the 
operations of the Company. It not only covers the various aspects on preservation of the 
Documents, but also the safe disposal/destruction of the Documents. The Policies are 
available at the registered office of the company.  
 
VII) RECONCILIATION OF SHARE CAPITAL AUDIT 

 



Tirrihannah Company Limited Annual Report and Financial Statements 2018-19 92 
 

The Reconciliation of Share Capital Audit is conducted by a Company Secretary in practice to 
reconcile the total admitted capital in Physical form and the total issued and listed capital. The 
audit confirms that the total issued/paid-up capital is in agreement with the aggregate of the 
total number of shares in physical form.  
 
In terms of Regulation 40 (9) of the Listing Regulations, certificates, on half-yearly basis, have 
been issued by the Company Secretary in- practice with respect to due compliance of share 
transfer formalities by the Company. 
 
VIII) SECRETARIAL AUDIT 

 
The Company’s Board of Directors appointed CS Sonal Agarwal, Practising Company 
Secretary to conduct secretarial audit of its records and documents. The secretarial audit 
reports confirms that the Company has complied with all applicable provisions of the 
Companies Act, 2013, Depositories Act, 1996, SEBI (Listing Obligations and Disclosure 
Requirements) Regulations, 2015, SEBI  (Prohibition of Insider Trading) Regulations, 2015 and 
all other regulations and guidelines of SEBI as applicable to the Company. 

 
IX) MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION & ANALYSIS REPORT (MD&A REPORT)  

The MD&A Report forms a part of the Directors' Report. All matters pertaining to industry 
structure and developments, opportunities and threats, segment/product wise performance, 
outlook, risks and concerns, internal control and systems, etc., are discussed in the said Report. 
 
X) INTIMATION TO STOCK EXCHANGES  

 
All price sensitive information and matters which are material and relevant to shareholders 
are intimated to all the Stock Exchanges where the securities of the Company are listed. 

 
XI) DISCLOSURE OF RISK MANAGEMENT :- 
 

The company has laid down procedures to inform the Board Members about the risk assessment and risk 
mitigation mechanism, which is periodically reviewed and reported to the Board of Directors by senior 
executives. 
 
XII) NOMINATION FACILITY 

 
Pursuant to Section 72 of the Companies Act, 2013 read with Rule 19(1) of the Companies 
(Share Capital & Debentures) Rules, 2014, nomination facility is available to the shareholders. 
This facility is mainly useful for shareholders holding the shares in single name. In cases 
where the shares are held in joint names, the nomination will be effective only in the event of 
death of all the joint holders. 
 
Investors are advised to avail of this facility, especially those holding securities in single name, 
to avoid the expensive and long drawn process of transmission by law. 
 
Shareholders who hold shares in the physical form and wish to make/change a nomination in 
respect of their shares in the Company, as permitted under section 72 of the Companies Act, 
2013, may submit to RTA (MCS Share Transfer Agent), the prescribed Forms SH-13. The 
nomination form are available at RTA office. 
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XIII) SHARES HELD IN PHYSICAL FORM 

 
Shareholders holding shares in physical form may please note that instructions regarding 
change of address, bank or PAN details, nomination and power of attorney should be given to 
the Company’s RTA viz. MCS Share Transfer Agent. 

 
In terms of Regulation 46(2)(j) of the SEBI (Listing Obligations and Disclosure 
Requirements) Regulations, 2015, the designated email address for investor complaint is 
tirrihannah.co@gmail.com . the email address of grievance redressal division is continuously 
monitored by the company’s compliance officer.  

 
XIV) OTHER INFORMATION TO THE SHAREHOLDERS GREEN INITIATIVE 

 
As a responsible corporate citizen, the Company welcomes and supports the ‘Green Initiative’ 
taken by the Ministry of Corporate Affairs, Government of India, enabling electronic delivery 
of documents including the Annual Report, Quarterly, Half-yearly results etc., to shareholders 
at their e-mail address previously registered with the Depository Participants (DPs)/ 
Company/Registrars & Transfer Agents. 
 
Shareholders who have not registered their e-mail addresses so far are requested to register 
their e-mail addresses. Shareholders who hold shares in physical form are requested to 
register their e-mail addresses with RTA, by sending a letter, duly signed by the first/sole 
holder quoting details of Folio No. 

 
XV) REMOTE E-VOTING AND BALLOT VOTING AT THE AGM 

 
To allow the shareholders to vote on the resolutions proposed at the AGM, the Company has 
arranged for a remote e-voting facility. The Company has engaged CDSL to provide e-voting 
facility to all the members. Members, whose names appear on the register of members as on 
19th September, 2019 shall be eligible to participate in the e-voting. 
 
The facility for voting through ballot will also be made available at the AGM, and the 
members who have not already cast their vote by remote e-voting can exercise their vote at the 
AGM. 

 
XVI)  All Mandatory requirements have been appropriately complied with. 

 
XVII) NON COMPLIANCE OF ANY REQUIREMENT OF CORPORATE GOVERNANCE 
There are no instances of non-compliance of Corporate Governance Report as mentioned in 
sub-paras (2) to (10) of para (C) of schedule V. except appointment of Company Secretary. 
However the company is searching the suitable person for the same.  

 

XVIII) The disclosures on corporate governance as required under Regulation 17 to 27 (Except 
Reg. 24 as Company Does not have any Subsidiary Company) and clauses (b) to (i) of sub-
regulation (2) of 46 (Except Clause h, n, o- those are not Applicable to Company) have been 
adhered and complied with. 
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XIX) ADOPTION OF DISCRETIONARY REQUIREMENTS: 
 
The status of adoption of discretionary requirements of Regulation 27(1) as specified under 
Part E of Schedule II of the SEBI (LODR Regulations) is provided below:  
 
i. The Board & Separate posts of Chairman and CEO: Not applicable as the Company does 
not have a Non-Executive Chairperson.  
 
ii. Shareholders’ Rights: As the quarterly, half yearly and annual financial performance 
including summary of significant events are published in the newspapers, communicated to 
the stock exchanges and also available at the registered office.  The complete Annual Report is 
sent to every Shareholders of the Company. However the half yearly declaration of financial 
performance including summary of the significant events in the last six months, are not being 
sent separately to each household of Shareholders. 
 
iii. Modified Opinion in Auditors Report: It has always been the Company’s endeavour to 
present financial statements with unmodified audit opinion. The Statutory Auditors have 
issued an unmodified audit opinion on the Company’s financial statements for the year ended 
31st March, 2019. 
 
iv. Reporting of Internal Auditor: The Internal Auditor of the Company directly reports to the 
Audit Committee on functional matters. 
 
The Company has submitted quarterly compliance report on Corporate Governance with the 
Stock Exchanges, in accordance with the requirements of Regulation 27(2)(a) of the Listing 
Regulations 

DECLARATION AFFIRMING COMPLIANCE OF CODE OF CONDUCT  
 
In terms of Schedule V of the said regulations and as per  ‘affirmation of compliance’ letters 
received from the Directors and the members of senior managerial personnel of the Company 
I, G D Kankani, Managing Director of Tirrihannah Co Ltd hereby declare that all the Board 
Members and the members of Senior Management of the company have complied with the 
Code of Conduct of the Company during the financial year 2018-2019. 
                                                                                                          On behalf of the Board of Directors of   
                                                                                                          Tirrihannah Company Limited 
Date: 14th August, 2019    
Place: Kolkata                                                                                                    Sd/- G. D. Kankani   
                                                                                                           Managing Director  
             (DIN:00565520) 
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To 
The Members of 
Tirrihannah Company Limited  
  
Sub: CEO/ CFO certification to the Board Pursuant to Regulation 17(8) read with Part B of 
Schedule II of Securities and Exchange Board of India (Listing Obligations and Disclosure 
Requirements) Regulations, 2015 
 

We, G D Kankani, Managing Director (CEO) and Umesh Kankani, WTD and CFO, of 
Tirrihannah Company Limited, hereby certify that: 
 

a) We have reviewed the financial statements and cash flow statement for the year ended 
31st March, 2019 and to the best of our knowledge and belief : 

I. these statements do not contain any materially untrue statement or omit 
any material fact or contain statements that might be misleading; 
 

II. these statements together present a true and fair view of the Company’s  
affairs and are in compliance with existing Accounting Standards, 
applicable laws and regulations. 

 
b) To the best of our knowledge and belief, no transactions entered into by the Company 

during the year ended 31st March, 2019 are fraudulent, illegal or violative of the 
Company’s code of conduct. 
 

c) We accept responsibility for establishing and maintaining internal controls for financial 
reporting and we have evaluated the effectiveness of internal control systems of the 
Company pertaining to financial reporting. Deficiencies in the design or operation of 
such internal controls, if any, of which we are aware have been disclosed to the auditors 
and the Audit Committee and steps have been taken to rectify these deficiencies. 
 

d) i) There has not been any significant change in internal control over financial reporting 
during the year under reference; 

 

ii) There has not been any significant change in accounting policies during the year 
requiring disclosure in the notes to the financial statements; and 
 

iii) We are not aware of any instance during the year of significant fraud with 
involvement therein of the management or any employee having a significant role in 
the Company’s internal control system over financial reporting. 

                                                                                         
                                                        Ghanshyam Das Kankani         Umehs Kankani  
                                                             Managing Director          WTD cum Chief Financial Officer 
Place: Kolkata 
 Date: 14th August, 2019 

CEO AND CFO COMPLIANCE CERTIFICATE 

Management and Governance 
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AUDITOR’S CERTIFICATE OF COMPLIANCES WITH CORPORATE GOVERNANCE 
REQUIREMENT PURSUANT TO REGULATION 34(3) READ WITH SCHEDULE V (E) - 
OF SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE BOARD OF INDIA (LISTING OBLIGATIONS AND 
DISCLOSURE REQUIREMENTS) REGULATIONS, 2015 
     
To 
The Members,  
Tirrihannah Company Limited  
 
We have examined the compliance of conditions of Corporate Governance by Tirrihannah Co 
Ltd ("the Company"), for the year ended on March 31, 2019, as stipulated in Regulations 17 to 
27 and clauses (b) to (i) of regulation 46(2) and para C, D and E of Schedule V of the SEBI 
(Listing Obligations and Disclosure Requirements) Regulations, 2015 ("the Listing 
Regulations"). 
 
Managements’ Responsibility  
  
The compliance of conditions of Corporate Governance is the responsibility of the 
Management. This responsibility includes the design, implementation and maintenance of 
internal control and procedures to ensure the compliance with the conditions of the Corporate 
Governance stipulated in Listing Regulations.  
 
Auditors’ Responsibility  
 
Our responsibility is limited to examining the procedures and implementation thereof, 
adopted by the Company for ensuring compliance with the conditions of the Corporate 
Governance. It is neither an audit nor an expression of opinion on the financial statements of 
the Company. 
 
In our opinion and to the best of our information and according to our examination of the 
relevant records and the explanations given to us and the representations made by the 
Directors and the Management, we certify that the Company has complied with the conditions 
of Corporate Governance as stipulated in regulations 17 to 27 and clauses (b) to (i) of 
regulation 46(2) and para C and D of Schedule V of the Listing Regulations during the year 
ended March 31, 2019. 
 
We state that such compliance is neither an assurance as to the future viability of the Company nor the 
efficiency or effectiveness with which the Management has conducted the affairs of the Company. 
 
 

For Ghosh & Basu LLP 
         Chartered Accountants 

                                                                                                                        Firm Regd. No. 306040E/E300013 
 

         Manas Ghosh  
 Place: Kolkata            Partner  
 Date: 14th August, 2019               Membership No: 015711 
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TIRRIHANNAH COMPANY LIMITED  

Regd.Office : 5, Kiran Shankar Roy Road, Kolkata - 700001 
CIN : L65993WB1908PLC001838 
E-mail : tirrihannah.co@gmail.com 

 
BALLOT FORM FOR VOTING ON RESOLUTIONS IN THE ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING OF THE 
COMPANY TO BE HELD ON THURSDAY, THE 26th SEPTEMBER, 2019 AT 10.00 A.M. 
1. Name(s) / Registered Address   : 
    of the sole / first named Member 
2. Name(s) of the    : 
    Joint Holder(s), If any 
3. Registered Folio No.   : 
    
4. Number of Share(s) held   : 
 
I/We hereby exercise my/our vote in respect of the following resolutions to be passed for the business stated in the Notice of 
the Annual General Meeting dated 14th August, 2019, by conveying my / our assent or dissent to the resolutions by placing 
tick () mark in the appropriate box below : 

 
Sl. 
No. 
 

RESOLUTIONS No. of 
Shares 
 

I/We assent to 
the Resolution 
(FOR) 

I /We dissent to the 
Resolution 
(AGAINST) 

ORDINARY BUSINESS 
 
1.  Ordinary resolution for adoption of Audited Financial 

Statements, Report of the Board of Directors and 
Auditors for the year ended 31-03-2019 

   

2. Ordinary resolution for re-appointment of director in 
place of Mr. G. D. Kankani, who retires by rotation 
and being eligible, offers himself for re-appointment.  

   

     

 
ELECTRONIC VOTING PARTICULARS 

 
  EVEN 

(E-Voting Event No.) 
User ID Password 

 
 
 
 

  

 
 
 
Signed this………….day of………….2019                                

     
 
    Signature of shareholder/ Authorised Signatories :………………………………….. 
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INSTRUCTION 
1.  In case of those members, who do not have access to e-voting facility, they can use this Ballot form and 

convey their assent / dissent to each one of the items of business to be transacted at the ensuing AGM. 
 

 

2. A Member desiring to exercise vote by Ballot Form should complete this Form (no other form or photocopy 
thereof is permitted) and send it to the Scrutinizer, M/s. R. K. Bhatter & Co. Chartered Accountants of 38, 
Netaji Subhash Road, Kolkata – 700 001 on or before the close of working hours i.e. 5.00 p.m. on 
25/09/2019. All Forms received after this date will be strictly treated as if the reply from such Member has 
not been received. 

 

3. The voting shall be reckoned in proportion to a Member's share of the paid up equity share capital of the 
Company as on 19th September, 2019. 

 

4. The Company is pleased to offer e-voting facility as an alternative, for all the shareholders of the 
Company to enable them to cast their votes electronically instead of dispatching Ballot Form. E-voting is 
optional. The detailed Procedure of e-voting is enumerated in the Notice of Annual General Meeting. 

 
5. If a shareholder has opted for Physical Ballot Form, then he/she should not vote by e-voting and vice versa. 

However, in case Shareholders cast their vote through both physical Ballot form and e-voting, then vote 
cast through e-voting shall be considered, and vote cast through Ballot form subject to the form being 
found to be valid shall be treated as invalid. 

 

6. This Form should be completed and signed by the shareholders (as per the specimen signature registered 
with the Company /RTA). In case of joint holding, this Form should be completed and signed by the first 
named Shareholder and in his absence, by the next named Shareholder. 

 

7. In respect of shares held by Corporate and Institutional shareholders (companies, trusts, societies, etc.), the 
completed Ballot Form should be accompanied by a certified copy of the relevant Board 
Resolution/appropriate authorization, with the specimen signature(s) of the authorized signatory(ies) duly 
attested. 

 

8. The consent must be accorded by recording the assent in the column “FOR” or dissent in the column 
“AGAINST’ by placing a tick mark (√) in the appropriate column in the Form. The assent or dissent 
received in any other form shall not be considered valid. 

 

9. Members are requested to fill the form in indelible ink and avoid filling it by using erasable writing 
medium(s) like pencil.  

 

10. There will be one Ballot Form for every folio/Client id irrespective of the number of joint holders. 
 

11. A Member may request for a duplicate Ballot Form, if so required, and the same duly completed should 
reach the Scrutinizer not later than the date specified under instruction No.2 above. 

 

12. Members are requested not to send any other paper along with the Ballot Form. They are also requested not 
to write anything in the ballot form excepting giving their assent or dissent and putting their signature. If 
any such other paper is sent, the same will be destroyed by the scrutinizer. 

 

13. The Scrutinizer’s decision on the validity of Ballot form will be final.  
 

14. Incomplete, unsigned or incorrectly ticked Ballot Forms will be rejected. 
 

15. The Scrutinizer shall make a Scrutinizer’s Report of the votes cast in favour or against, if any, to the 
Chairman. 

 

16. The Results declared along with Scrutinizer’s Report shall be displayed on the notice board of the company 
at its registered office and on the website of CDSL not later than 3 days of the passing of the resolutions at 
the AGM of the Company and communicate to Stock Exchanges where the shares are listed. 
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TIRRIHANNAH COMPANY LIMITED  
Regd.Office : 5, Kiran Shankar Roy Road, Kolkata - 700001 

CIN : L65993WB1908PLC001838 
E-mail : tirrihannah.co@gmail.com 

 
ATTENDANCE SLIP 

Only shareholders or the proxies will be allowed to attend the meeting 
 

Shareholder Folio No. of Shares held 

Proxy 

 
I hereby record my presence at the 109th Annual General Meeting of the Company being held at 5, Kiran Shankar Roy Road, 
Kolkata – 700 001 on Thursday, the 26th September, 2019 at 10.00 A.M. and at any adjournment thereof. 

 
Signature of shareholder : ………................…….………. 
 
Signature of Proxy holder : …………………….....…………. 
 

Notes:- 

1. Please sign this attendance slip and hand it over at the attendance counter at the entrance of the Meeting Hall. Joint holders 
may obtain additional attendance slip on request. 

2. This attendance is valid only in case shares are held on the date of the meeting.  
3. Shareholders attending the meeting in person or by proxy are requested to complete the attendance slip and hand it over at 

the entrance of the meeting venue. 
==================================cut here====================================== 

      (Form No  MGT-11) 
(Pursuant to section 105(6) of the Companies Act, 2013 and rule 19(3) of the Companies (Management and Administration Rules, 2014) 

CIN : L65993WB1908PLC001838 
Name of the company : TIRRIHANNAH COMPANY LIMITED  
Registered Office : 5, Kiran Shankar Roy Road, Kolkata – 700001 
 
Name of the Member(s) 
 

 

Registered Address 
 

 

Email ID 
 

 

Folio No  
 
I / We, being the member(s) of …………………………. Equity shares of the above named company, do hereby appoint: 
 
1. Name ………………………………Address…………....................…….........……………. 
Email Id ………………………………Signature………………….........……….Or failing him 
 
2. Name……………………………… Address………………………....................…………. 
Email Id……………………………… Signature…………………….........…….Or failing him 
3. Name……………………………… Address………….........................….........……………. 
Email Id…………………………………… Signature……………………………...............…. 
 

as my/our proxy to attend and vote (on a poll) for me/us and on my/our behalf at the 110th Annual General Meeting of the 
company, to be held on the 26th September 2019 at 10.00 A.M at 5, Kiran Shankar Roy Road, Kolkata – 700001 and at any 
adjournment thereof in respect of such resolutions as are indicated below. The security holder may vote either for or against 
each of the resolutions mentioned in the AGM notice.  

 
 

PROXY FORM 
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Sl. 
No. 
 

RESOLUTIONS 

1.  Ordinary resolution for adoption of Audited Financial Statements, Report of the Board of Directors 
and Auditors for the year ended 31-03-2019 

2. Ordinary resolution for re-appointment of director in place of Mr. G D Kankani, who retires by 
rotation and being eligible, offers himself for re-appointment.  

  
 
 
 
 
 
 
  
 
Signed this………………….day of ………………………….19 
 
Signature of the shareholder ........................................................................................................ 
 
Signature of the Proxy Holder ....................................................................................................... 
 
Note : This form of proxy in order to be effective should be duly completed and deposited at the Registered office of the 
company, not less than 48 hours before the commencement of the Meeting. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

Affix Re.1 /-
Revenue 
Stamp 
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If undelivered, Please return 

TIRRIHANNAH COMPANY LIMITED 

5, KIRAN SHANKAR ROY ROAD, 

KOLKATA – 700 001 

PH: 033 – 2248 7093 
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Prospe.t ofthe comp.ny :
The company has incufed losses in two
consecutive nnan.ial yea.s and the
lutures performance ofthe company is
dependent on harket condition of
tea, the crinatic .ondition & indr*rial
relations prevailing in th. industry in
general and specin.ally in the Ca.den of

Since the pdrfornanca oi the tea esates h
prinarily d.pendent on nature and price oftea is
determinedbased on demand andsupplyand the
tea d*ate has sufered rough pa dd due to
unhvorable labor relation ue have discussed the
tuture prosped of the company with rhe
manaSebsnt and hope full that to a.hieve berdr
prospe.tin near tuture k a godd possihility.

Valuatlon of Bioloaical Assets & the
Procednre ofth€ tea €states:

The blological assec of the company
jndude its tea plants, green leal, rea

Auditp.oc€dure obseNed I

(i) The tea bushes ofthe conpany rhi.h ard ihs
bearer plani are ln the pfocess of valuation and
adjustnent olsuch value with the available valu.
of plantatlon hyettobe done

(ii) Th. srean leaf hawested at the carden s
valued as pef standard ac.ounting p.actice

(iii) So fa. as the valuatioh or the tea made
co.cern the cost includes.ost olsreen leals and
direct attributable .ost for converting the green

Management s Rerpon5ibility torthe\tandalone rinancial Srarement\

L The Companys Boafd ofDirectors is responsible fo. rhe matters stated in Secrion 134[5] ofrhe
ConpaniesAct, 2013 ('the Act") with respectto thep.€pa.ation of these srandatone financial
statements that give a true and fair view oi the financial postion, financial perio.nance and cash
flows oi the Company in accordance with the accountjng principles gene.auy accepted in India,
including the Accounting Standa.ds speciffed under Section 133 ofthe Act,. This responsibiliry
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741, Park StreeC Ground Floor,
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E-mail : ghoshbasuTT@gnail.com

also includes naintenance of adequate accounting records in accordance with the provkions of
the Act io. saf€guarding ofthe assers ofrhe Company and fo. preventing and detectins frauds and
other irregularitiesj selection and application of appropriate accounting policies; naking
judgments and estimates that are reasonable and prudenti and design, implemenration and
maintenanc€ or adequate inte.nal financial controls, thar were operatins effectively for ensuring
the accu.acy and conpleteness of the accounting .eco.ds, rclevant to rhe prepa.arion and
presentation of th€ ffnancial sratenenrs rhat give a true and fai. view and are ffee i.on daterial
nisstatenent,whether due to haud ore.ro..

ln prepa.ins the standalone nnancial stat€nenr nanagenenr is .esponsible for assessing rhe
company's ability to continue as a going conc€.n using the going conce.n basis ot accounting
unl€ss management either intends to liquidate the company or cease ope.ation or no has
realistic alternative butto do so.

Those boa.ds of dlrector are also .esponsible for observing the company's nnancial
rcpofting processes.

Auditor's Responsibility

2.0urrcsponsibilityistoexpressanopiniononthesestandalonefinancialstatenentsbasedonour

We have taken jnro account the provisions oftbeAct, the accounting and audftinssranda.ds and
matterswhich are requi.ed to be included in tbe auditreport undefthe pfovisions ofrhe Actand
the Rules nade the.eunder.

We conducted our audit in.ccofdance with the Standards onAuditing specifr€d under Section
143[10] oftheAct. Those Standa.ds rcquirc rhatwe comptywith erhical requirehenrs and ptan
and perlorn the audit to obtain reasonable assurance aboutwherhe.the nnancial statemen!s are
fiee from hare.ial misstatement,

An audit involves perfo.ning pfocedures to obtain audftevidence about the amounrs and the
disclosures in the financialstatenents.The procedufes selected depend on the audiroft judgment,
includingthe assessnentolthe risks ofmaterial mhstatemenrofthe financiat staredenrt
whetherdue tofraud or etror.In maklnsthose ftk a$essments, ihe auditor constdeB jnreriat

4, Chandni Cho@k Stree!,
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financia conto relevantiorheCompany,spfepararionofthelinanca statementsthatsiveaftueand
tairview ln orderto design audit proceduresthatare appropriate in the circumstances An a!dit ako
includes eva uat ngih€ appropriateness ofthe accounUng poticies used and the feasonab enes olthe
accountinE esumates mad€ bVthe Companyt Directo6, as we as evatuating the ovefaltpresenrarion
of the f inanciat (atements

we beli€verhatthe audit €vidence we have obtained k suflictent and appropriateto provide a basis
forour audii opinion on the standatone financiat natemenrs.

I we d.awattention to the followingnatters

a) Note No.2 Nore onAccounts:

b) Note No,3 Notes onAccounrs:

in the Notes to the ffnancial sratenenrs:

Regarding unconfi.med balance oi
Sundry C.editors and Tea proceeds

Regarding non provision oiCratu jry

0ur oprnion rs nor mod fied rn respe.t ofthese marteE.

Report on Otier Legal and Regutatory Requirements

As requ red bv rne Compa-Fs lAudrors Repor.t Order 20tb It-
LorernTelt:h r"rrs otce. roo r4, t J or .hp Act, $p "nctosp n
matte.s specified in pafagmph 3 &4 ofthe said order,

7. As required bysection 143 (31ofthe Ac! we.eport thar:

orderl issued by the Central
the annexure a statement on

a) We have sought and obrained atl the inio.mation and exptanarions which to the besrofour(nowledge and beliefwere necessary for the purposes ofouraudiL

bl h_our opinion, properbooks ofaccountas requi.ed by lawhave been kept by the Company
so rar as itappears f.om ou. examjnation olrhose booKs,

g
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Identili.ation No. n-{DJil4 I

.) The Balance Shee! and the Sratement of P.ofir and Loss includjng orhe. incone , and these
statemenrotchangejnequiq?andthecashflowstarenentdealtwithbvthisReDo.ta.ein
ag.eement with the books of accounr.

d) ln our opinion, theaforesaid srandalone financial statemenrs complywith theAccounting
Standards speciffed under Sedion 133 ofthe Act.

e) Onthebaskofthewdttenrepresentarionsrcceivedfromthediredorsason31-Ma.,2019
and taken on record by the Board ofDiredors, we.eportrhat none ofthe directors is
disqualitledason3l-Mar 2019 from beingappointedasadirectorjn rermsotsection 164f2t

Report on the Intefnal Financial Conrrols unde. Clause (i) ofsub secrion 3 ofsection 143 of
the CompaniesAct,2013 ("theAcl')- is enclosed as annexure to this reporr.
Withrespecttotheoth€fmatterstobe included in rhe Audftor,s Report jn accordance
with Rule ll ofthe Companies (Auditand Audftorel Rut€s,2014, in our opinior and to the
best oiour infornationand according ro tbe explanatjons given to us:

As info.ned to us the Company does norhaveany pending ljtigations which woutd impacr
its financial position
the Codpany did nor have any lone-term corrracts includjng derjvative contracrj for
whi.h lhere were anynatedaifo.eseeabte lo$s.
The.e were no anounts whi.h were required to be r.ansferred ro rhe Invesror Education
and P.otection Fund by the Conpany.

M.N.015711

744, Park Street, Ground Floor,
Kolkata- 700017 a 22a7-4047
E-mail : ghoshbasuTT@gmail.com

c)

Dared:30MAY2019
.F.8N: 306040E/E300011

4, Chandnichowk street, Kotkara 1o0oJ2lE 22\2-7775\
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Reportunderthe Companies [Auditor's Report) Orde.2016 refefied to in ou.reDort ofeven

h terms ofthe information and explanarions sought by us and given by the company and the books and
fecords exanjned by us jn the normat .ourse otaudit and to the best otouf knowledse and betiet we

5.

L

L [1J The company has maintained pfoper .eco.ds showing fult panicutars inctuding quanritarive
detaih and situarion offixed assets.
C) The nxed a$e!s a.e physicatly verified by rhe nanaged€nt during rheyearin phased nanner
at reasonable intervr. As per info.mation and exptanation siven ro us no materiat dncrepancjes
wefe noticed on such ve.ification
(i)Accordins to the info.nation and explanatjon given ro us and on the basis of our examinarion
ofthe records ofthe company the titte deed ofinmovabl€ prope.ries rieehot4leasehold, are in
the name of the company as on batance sheet date.
As elplained to us, dre inyentofy (Exctudjng stock lyjng wirh third partiet has been physicalty
vefjfred atreaonable intervals dudng the yearbythe management. tn ou.opi.ion, the frequency
orverincaion is reasonable. Thediscrcpancies noticed on ve.iffcarion between the Dhvsical stocks

"r d (hp Dook ecord. rere norha-e."t.
As explained to us, rhe cohpany had not gEnted any loans, secu.ed or unsecured, ro any
companies, rirms, Limited Liabiljty partne.ships or other parties covered in the rcgkter
naintained undersection 189 ofthe Act.
ln respect ol loans, invesrnen$, euaranrees and securiq/ the provisions ofsection 1BS and 186 oa
theCompaniesAct20l3 have been coDptied with.
h our opinion and a(ofdjng to the €xplanations given to us, th€ Conpany has not accepred any
deposits hence clause 3(5) ofthe o.def is no!applcable !o the conpany,
It has been explained ro us that the cenrral cove.nment has not prescribed maintenance ofcost
records underSectjon 148(1) ofthe Companies Act, 2013.
(aJ Accofding to the recofds ofthe conpan, jt is gene.alty reguta. in depositing with appropriate
authorities undisputed staturory dues including providenrtund, incone rar, satestax, w;atth rax,
se.vrcetax, sates tax, custom duq,and ces and other nate.iat staturory dues appticable to it. (b)
Accofding !o rhe infornation and exFlanations gjven to us and the records of the conDanv
eramined by us, there are no dues of Income Ta, sates tax, Custon duty, wealth ta! excise durv
d d,es un,lhdeno o"p. deoo.,red o I r(co-nr otrnyd|or,pa,pcsgLe- n5 Fdlte_A

L
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okl qh$V gao^ LLP
Charrercd Accoururnts
llcntifi (ation No.,!{D,5841

74A, Park Street Ground Floor,
Kolkata-700017 a 2287-4041
E'rnail : ghoshbasuTT@gmail.com

9.

3. Based on ouraudit p.ocedures and according ro rhe information and explanarions giren ro us, we
are of th€ opinion, rhe conpany has not defaulted in repaynenr ofdues to a tinanciat institution,
bank Covemment dues.
Th€ company hA not.aised money by way otiritjat public oller or fu.rh€r pubtic ofte. (including
debt instruhent) and term loans.

l0 Based upon the audit procedures pedormed and according ro the inforhation and erplanations
grvento us, no fraud by the conpany o. any iraud on the conpany by jts oitcers o.employee has
been nonced or reponed during the course ofour audi! tharcauses the ffnanciat statemenrs to be
materiatlymisstated.

ll.The Managerial remuneration has b€en paid o. provided in accordance with the requjsire
approvak mandated by th€ provisions ofSection 197 read with Schedule Vto th€ ConDanies Act..
The company is not a Nidhi Companyhence rhe ctause is notaDplicable.
B" "dupond-orlpro."au psoerrornpod ddccorcrrgtothe:no,rr,ionaroe,ptanrionseLF-
to us, all the t.ansactions with related pa.ties are jn comptiance with secrion 172 and 1OB of th€
CompaniesAct 20l3 whe.e applicable and thedetaih have been disctosed in financiatsrarements
etc. as required by the applicable accounrinsstandards.

14. The company has not made any preferentjat allotment or private Dtacehent ot shares

il
l3

panlyconvertible debentures du.ing rhe year under revieu
15. The conpany has nor€ntered into any non,cash r.ansadions with di.edors

l6.The company is not required
1934.

to be.egistered under Section 45-lAofthe Reserve Bank oflndia Act,

D"t"d,30l,jAY20tg
For Chose& Basu LLP

015711

4, Chandni chowk srreer, Katkala 7aoa72 ta2272 7775\



qful.V Ei''h LLP
Chrl1ert(1.\ccou.lnnL\
kl!rr,licaddr \.. 1AD i8.11

74A, Park StreeL Ground Floor,
Kolkara-700017 a 2287-4a41
E-mail : ghoshbasuTT@gmail.com

ANNEXURE TO THE INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT OF EVEN DATE OI! THE S1ANDALONE
FINANCIALSTATEMENTS OFTIRRIHANNAH COMPANY LIMITED

Repo.t on the t.rerEl Financiat Cont ols lrder Clause (i) ofsub secrion 3 ofsecrion 143 olrhe
conpaniesAct,2013 ( rhe Act,)

We have audrted the intenrai financialcohtrols over fina.ciat.eporting of (,tne Cohpany ) as of31 MaF
2019 in conjunctjon wirh our audir ofthe standatone financial srarements of the Compary for lhe year

,,.nagementsResponsibitiryfortnte.nat Financjat (onrors

The Companys managemenr is responsibte fo. esrabtishing and mai.raining inrernaL financiat conr.ots.
lhese responsjbilities jnclude th€ design, implenenrarion and mainrcnance ofadequate internat financial
conroLs rhar were opemring eifecrively for ensudng the orderty and efncient conduft of fts busines,
includinc adherence to cohpany's poLtcies, rhe saieeuard ngofirs assets, the Drevenrion and derectjon of
rraurls and enors, the accuracy and complereness ot the accountirrg records, and the tjmety pfepamtion
otrcljablelnancial intb.marion, as.equifed undertheConpaniesAcr,zl]l3

auditors' Responsibility

0u. .esponsib llr, ls r! erFress an opinion on the Company\ inrernat financiaL controls over financiaL
fepo.ting based on ouraudit. we conducred our auditjn accordance wjth rhe cujdanc€ NoreonAudit ofI lnaL Fjnancial Conrrok Over Financial Reporting (the ,Cuidahce 

No!e,,1 and the Srandards on
ALiiliting, issued by lCAland deemed to beprescdbed undefsecnon 143{tol ofihe CompaniesAct,2013,
lo the extent appllcable to a. audir of internal tinancial controls, borh appticabie to an;udit of tnternal
Financial contrals and, both issued by rhe hstjture of Charre.ed Accountants of tndia Those Standards
a.d the Cujdance 168 Not€ requirc that we comply with ethical requirements and ptah and peraorh rhe
audrt to obtain rcasonabte assurance abou! qherher adequare inte.nal financiat conrrois over ffnancial
repodrnc was established and majnrained and if such controh operared etaectively in ali mateial
fespects.our audit involves performing procedu.es to obtain audit evidence about the adequacy ofthe
'nternalfinancial 

controls systen ovef financjatrepofting and their opeEring efiectivene$. Our audjr;f
internal financjal controls over f)nancjat reporring jncluded obtaining a! unde.standing of internal

(ts 2212.717 5\



@ qUUvgu4^Ltp
Charterd Accoulhnts
klentilication No. AAD-5841

74A, Park Street, Ground Floor,
Kolkata 700017 a 2287-4041
E-mail : ghoshbasuTT@gmail.con

rinancial cont.ok over financjatrepo|ting, assessi.gthe risk thata materialweakness exists, and testine
"ndevd.Lai-grheo"grdooopp-aflnsppcrivene.sofinre.nu.ontrotbu."qonrh.u$e$ed,o^.fn;
procedures selected depend on rhe audiror's judgnent including rhe assessnent ofthe.isks of nare.ial
misstateme.t of the linancial starenents, whether due to Faud o. eror, We believe that the audit
evidence l/we have obtajned js sufffcientand appropriate to provide a basis for our audjt oDinion on the
Company s internal financiat controts syst€m over fi nanudr.eporqng,

Meaning of tnternal Finan.ial Co.trols Over Financial Reponing
A cohpanyt jnternal financial contrct over financial feporting n a process designed ro provjde
.easonable assurance regarding tbe reliabilty of financial repoftilg and th€ prepa.atjon ot nnanciat
'atehenh for external pu.poses in accordance with senera y accepred accounting principtes. A

lnhe.€nt l,initations of Internal Finabciat Conhols over Ftnanciat Reporting
Because of the inh€renr limitations ot internal ffnancial controls over ijnancial reponjng including the
possibility ot collusion or improper managemenr override of controts, nateriat ;issta;erents d; to
er.or or iraud may occuf and not be detefted. Atso, projectjons ofany evatuation ofrhe internatfinanciat
con$oh over financial fepo.ting to futur€ periods are subject to the rjsk rbat the inrernat financiat
control ove. financial feporting may become inadequate because ot changes in
cond'tions, or that the degree ofcomptiancewith rhe poticies or procedures nav deteriorare.

In ouropinion, the Company has, in all nate.ial respects, an adequare int€rnat financiatcontrots svstem
oLP- fiorn_.1 repol nC dno 'u,' iote.l"t n"dncia !o-t.ot, ovpr aLnlia -po*,ng ""- op",o,,g

:ectively as at 31-Mar-2019.

Dated:30ltAY20tg For Ghose & Basu l,LP

415771

4 Chandni chowk Srreet, Katkata-70o072 18 2212-7775)



TIRRDTANNAH COMPAN} LI'E!;
BALANCE SHEFr AS Ai';itE--,20-

Propei9, ptant and Eqniphenls
IinancialAssb hveshrnb

cash and Csh Equivatenb

EQUITY AND LIABILNES

Si8nificant A(ohriry poticies

S€€ a.conpdying notes ro financiat srarendb

4

r. p.' ou, uru,nea ,"por oriGiGo

rr Tiffihannah Co. Lt!

l.r Tlftih.nneh

4te May 10.201e
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consigMenr Sb.k T!@fer

l2-574,1a8 A0

102,192,953.00

'1,444889.0A

33A5292.A0

5,1,342152 00

OTJIERJNCOME

5t505200
55,05200

PURCHASE Of STOCK lN Tni6E

nclx* or creen re* *, ,vurery iEii

lor Tlrrihan.ah Co. Lld
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STORES& 5T4NE5 CONSUMED

c."r-ph.";91",- 
""d 

5p*

u^!\iAr.l/urLr(rAsr rN rNvENToRtEs

!rosrE in!enforios ot TlJ

Cpening Invdtolies of Tea

lJncrease)/De.rease in rnventodes

t4-1,82100

5,171,821.00

VI Ni( JVIA\UTACLUNJNG EXIENSES

Pluc*in8 dd Mdufa.tudrg

13,228,049.00

372,626.0A

45,542,237.AA

u,471,172.AA

60 924l:t 0t)

cll LUrr. rrNtrr r s rxIENsEs

J44rs, Donus, uraury and supeimuadon
$'orlmen and stafi WoUaE Expenses
conhlbuhon ro Pi and orher F6ds

23,495,733.00

i01i562.00
5,,102234 00

5,226,553.00

3,715,90100 5 511,02000

5,511,02000

l.r Tifiifannah co Llo

t_)M'a_ t^, r.L ,

Di./.'
f lor Tirr'hannsli Co Lto.

-l> --.<'



BrolcrJge conmleon&Oth;

Repai& R€newals andReptac€nent

Audirors Renuerario.l

Ollice & Admilishative Expens€s
S€lring & Distriburion txpensos
VEhicle Ruutng Exleses
TcLeUmg & ConLelance

408,733 00

3,142,966.0A

923,039.00

3,058,654 00

310,438 00

251,115.00

36,355.00

570,958.00

6J02,33,1.00

r,353,072.00

2,964,390.A0

198,520 00

15,411,310.00

DEPREC]AIION AND AMORTIsA'|oAi;iFEiSiE

OTHER EXPENSES

tor Tirihannah Co Llo

(.-)'@a.L ka".raa-.
Dnado

, .-'" a.,t

",'' 
! '':'i

lor Ti!rihaniah Co Lto'gr*
Dir'ctol

b) Sudry Creditor and Tea proceed Advances as on 31sr March 2i]t9 remain unconJined.

:l:ir-Dc.5::: ::d"au-h".bplpdo roL/F n.u,d e!o.oor"rio- or ind; n,p"p,.Ior

.een ascerimed and nor proviJcd rn rh! ac.ounb
d) All tle $ores dd spa.es parrs consumed du rg tno year are nrdigenous

al Ab.ut 600 Acies of Leasehotd land afthe caden ot rhe Cohpany has bed undorunalho ed ddcchmot Artei prcrracrcd negotiations fte C;_puny r,." ug*"a to ."""na.
:::r-r,13;,d:.. 

ro 
'h. 

v:\:. :" r.rr".,a"ng",.,,o.r.. _4v...nrro.f{o-.o.rn.
m anre L r5 qt'e. ot \r |dad wo,rd b, r,d" d,d icbt,.,o rn. ( ompan\ tr d -4gn _ giv, nb)^rh.qono_,blp;i8\.ou1"r, d.LHd,l,ewJ p"ti o,,n.,aho- o,nltn,bont,.o".n
orFosed ofl Jnd tnesiid courtdjr{ted iheatarecov.rnm,
he doresaid contention or conp-, * 

"- 
,n" 

",-, ", "," 
ij,lfj"".leaslres 

ro sive eIle.r ro



e) Th@ is only one repdtabl€ segmar s pd rnd As - ros
reporbn8 4 the rcmpMv E trsd". . *; r*" 

", -**:lT'*1t"i:gL-,;il,*"il"'
ffif*:*Silii:. *"dominnriy inthe don*dJ@kt-*"q"*,rr,r," 

";e*y,"
es rEre bd reg@ ed and realhg€d whee*q nee$ary,

totTlrlh.nnrn co Ltd' tot Tlr hanneh Co. ltd.Li-.sr l@.-q- 9'k
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A, CORPORATE INFORMATION

TirilEnlahcompmy Limited G a compmf linited by shares, incorlorated and domi.ited
h lndia and havhg iis registded ad.tress at 5 Kna shanlar Roy Ro;d, Kot*ata,7oooo1 The
prii.ipal activity of dE Compdy is tointegared achvihes of olbvario4 tuutacrure and

B,4CCOUNTINC ?OLICIIS

B (1) B*is ol Prepd.rion and presenrarion

The linan.ial shtements oI tle Compdy have
Accountiiig slm.laftls ('l A9'), in ludins the
relevant pr.visios oi the Companies A.i, 2013.

Up to the year ended N4ar.h 31,2012 the conpany has prepared ib finarcial srareme.ts in
a.cordance witn dre rcquirements ot lndid cAApi which includes Srmdads notjJied under
OF Compmies (Accomting Standad, Rulet 2006 and .onsidered as ,previols cAAp.

comFny's linmcEl statements are piesented in rndim Rupees (rNR), whi.h i! irs

B (2) slnhary oi sigrificanr Accounting poli.ies

{a) Propertv Plant and Eolipmenrl

Freehold land is .aried at hisroical cost. All other itetr of property, ptar an.t equjpnent
are stated at cosi, net oJ rdcoverable taxos, hade dis.ount and rebatus ress ac.umutated
.tepreciarim md impaimenr losses, il any. Such cost in.ludes pur.hase price, b.rowing
.o a-d.cnJ or I rtrLy arbrblubF hr b, n8f I rh" "s*6.o rG wo,|Js. ond:tio. o,;,o-":gr p..lL-ge conn..F dd dnanB"ae-F a,i,in8 , ,
ew.nrnSe rarc \ananotu abd
subseqlent.osrs arc in hded in the assefs catrying anounr oi re.os4ised as a sepanre
r. Pt d. aDp'op1ctc. onl) \he. iL L p oooble thar tu r- e.onomi. bFn:'.rJ c.,orLL I h |n
the item will Aow the entiiy a.d rhe cosr.d be measured retiablv.

been prepared to conply l,ith ihe Indian
A..omiing stmdards notilied uder rhe

lives and nethods of deprdarion of property, ptant md
.a.h financial year end and adjusted prospe.tive\,, f

e5rimared useful tiqes,ndresidul values

D"prerration on p.opqru oLnl "nd 
,qr pr"- r. p,oviopd u sg . a.8hr 'in' mcjo.r

Depre iaLon 5 flovid' I b.'"d on ',. tu |re or lhp.r,..d. prc...D.1 .- I.dr, ra lF

The residuaL valuer useful
equiPmni ale reviewed at

lor Tnrihannah Co Lld

L)tu* r--J@, 1
f or Ti.rihsnnahAo. Ltd-

f:l1€
Din.!..



Der(osition

cd.or_lo. p-rn.DghondflrosniEonoia ooptrr) oLnrdnq"quprenrd,pn"d.ur"o
d hpddrb d-.e b@h{ddn rieF.d <oosdlpro.rp trdnd j" rDbSanounto Jlpos*tdrde €ognised in the sratenenr ol ho6r a.d Los when the as;t r de€.ogi Fd.

Intdgrble Assets arc slated ar co5r of acqdsihon net of rccoverabte taxes tess a.cumulared
amortiehon and impailmenr tosr it my. Tne cost .ohprises lur.hase pri.., botrowing,G...ddfyrc.rdr{.1 d .brrdbt"roon. gngu",\etro.E {o,r.ng.o dioo,,ro!r..
D r kd F4 a d -el.hdg$ on roreign p,!ldg..o.rccts anrl rotushpnB r-slrg notr
P,. id.8e iah \i dim.Eburcbl".o -".nrc.gibt-,!eL|

91_,." rg* " d-.h8 |.or dcF.osr bo. ofan in, -6ro,i 4-e, qrc n"Fled a, r."dtts.htp b"hrepr tne ncL dnpo.al pro."id. rnd lhi rr--],m8 anornr o, rtp d -pt dnu d,6
F,ogr.pdmrl-e jrenentor hrt"ro to,rqhen j" F.erF dq'.ogni.pt.

r€ases aie classfied as 6nmce leases whenever ihe term ot
aU the risks and rewads oI oMership to dre tess&. Alr

q(c.,h" d -nder fhrre edr. ." u b,tlJ ,p.o8_\"q c. a_p, or !n" ! orpdn, c. tf,i
'i. .dlF.r Lhe D, pooo' or th" pF" o!. rI tosq I rhe o,er nr\ctLc of themrrmt"J-p

poyrpnF. Ina.o"4por ding iiblrry ro F e$orLr rded n FBctd.,p-t_ d,

F:.o:.rffir,," dpporboned bphvph ndn.",,p"\e. ro ."au.hon o rFe tpi-
oorLSahol \o cq aF ot tr.1,, oa tn" ."%Uu8 bnn,e ot rh,
liability. Financ dpeN6 de FcoSntued imedjatcty jn prott dd ro$;un6, drey are
dlr&tly athibrtabte to qualifying asets, a wtrjcn.ase ihey .ie .apitalized h accor.tance
with tle Company's general poticy on rhe borcwjng costs.

A leased asset is d.prsiated over OE lsetut tife ot tie asset. Howeve, iI tlrere is no
.easonable certainty that the Conpmy wiU obtain oMeahip by fte end ot rhe tease term,
the asset is depreciated over rhe shorter oI the esdmr€d usetut lite of t-\e asset and tne tease

operating l€ase paym.nts are recognised as d expense in rle sratement oi prcfit and Loss
on a shnght-line basii over rha hase tem er.epi wnere dotrer systemtic basis is moro
reprcsentahve ol hme patteln in wli.h economi. bset s troh Lre leased a$ers are

tor Turihannaii Co Ltd

ht

Lhe lease h'ansfer substanrially
other leases are .lassified as

for Titrih.nnah co Llo'



(d) Barowin€ cost

Bo oxhS .o.|J rh"r a'p dtrp lh dm,butdotc ro L\" c.qu..aor o. o_ rI bon oj a-c, \ in8areri de rdpidlifd as pcd o \e.oL o. rJ.h a""b A ol"|J/.ne a\"1 ! .np U-:
nece$arily takes subsrrntial peiiod of dme r. ger rea.ty for fts intdded use.

An otner borcwng osts re .harged ro tho Staiemenr ot protit and Loss jn dre period in
whicn they are hcutred.

G) rnvenrodes

Item or inventoris de measurcd ar tower oJ cosr and net iealizabie value afrer providing
Io' ob{ty{." r dny. \ 6r o invpnro p,.omFn.".ofD-,.-J>erorltuaonqovp,h'oo.

pd in b'in8 ng Lh"m.o rtrq, ,proRbvc pF)ent.oidoon _q

(0 Inpaimenr of ron-ti.an.iit a3s€rs

At each baldce sheet date, the Conpmy assesses whether rhere is an in.ti.arion rhar any
properq/, phrt md eqlipnent ad intangrble Nser, tu), be impaned. l! dy such indi.ario;
exists, L\e recoverable amoht of lhe asser is estimated hr determino ihe extenr oJ
npAirtrr' 

'. 
J dy !!hcr" 1i..otpo.doe ro p,fiie u",qo\eraod raounr ot drdi\'dual.-e- rfe(orpdnye. ndF. thn.".oLqdbt.drour.or Ldlc.h-gd-prdHig., I

to which tho asset beldgs.

Re.oyeEblc amount is tle hjgher of fan valu€ less cosls to seu and vatue tn use. In assessing
value in use, dre esrimated tuhue cash nows arc discouted to tneir present vatre, using;
pretax dis.ouN mte rhat rcnecrs curenr marker assesshmt ol the time vatre ot money ;d
ihe risk specG. l,o ihe asser for witch the estimat€s or iururo cash tows have noibean

]f the ftoverable dout oI an dFt (or cash gendating unit) ]s €srimte.t ro be less fim itsiryrS.dnobr lnp .drrvinb dnor nr o U p d..cr,o, .d:h-gpnF.,bns r. ./ sFdr .o ro L
impainpnr or \ 

'p.o8fl 
ed.tui |.d-ty r de,Grpn- .l

(d I,rovisions .nd Conriedn.ies

Provkioro ale rocognized
consbuctive) as a result ol
enbodying aonohic benelits
can br hade ot tne dounr ol

wnen the company ]las a pFseni obrigatio! (tegat or
a past event, it is probable t!.t an oudtow of resoufus
h I b" reou,"d lo.eE. rie ob-gaEon o-d 4.p iobe e.btu."

ContinSen lboiioa 
"rp on, to.ed iil.r € po., b I ry ot o, u

I onbSerrasfGdre..iLhe.rp.og \do -oroF.to4dm jd

tor Iirrih.nnqh Co. Lro iar lrrihannah Co Ltd'
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(i) short Tem Enploy€e Ben.fits

The hdiscounted dout ot shor erm employ€e benetits
ror the pNices rendeEd by enployees is re.og zed as an
be emproyee render the seNices.

(ii) Lons Tem Employee Benefirs

expected to be paid in ex.hmge
expeNe duinS tne period when

the amout e4ected ro be Rov€red trom
tax lates and laws rhar r€ draded or

betleen the carrying amounis ot assers
conespordinS tar bases lsed in the

conpetrated absen.es which are nor erpected to .er within rwelve mon6s afrer rhe end
ol the ldiod in whl.li tlE employ@ rnders the retaied servi.e are rccogtused as a labniry
at the preseni wahe ol the defined bderit obligarion as at the Balane She;r date on tne b6;

{iii) ?ost-Enploynent Benef its

D€f ined Conr.ibtrrion ?ldg

A d€fined conrribriion pld i! a post-employmenr bonefit pltu bder whi.h specified
rc-F budon.4d tud" ft..o rrbutior ,re F.o8ni." | ., "n,.p"-* !n rJl. Lor. dd
Lob< 5'dtcmenldu-nt6 Lhp o"nod h whi h b" emptoy"p ,eadcr. tr",p d ed.qv."

Tle Ldblrty ir -<perr oi d"bed bpnori prN and o-"r po.r-otrpto/mpnt b,"h-
.€lal'ted f i8 L\" Prcie. dd UnrCredt M"drod 

"no "D,p d ;ve, up o";od dJifl 8 b . \
oE benetit tu expected to b. derived lrcn enploveel setuice5

Ii rtu$rcmmr o qelinpa berefrr oL^ r re\pd.. o pon.empioLTm. 4nd oj1 tonSfm benpliG.'echdrAed rorheOrhp' I onp-e\en..r" tr.o k.

lhe tax *p@e lor the period conpises cutrent and defered tax. Tax is i..o8 sed in
prolit or losq except to &e e*enr rhat it relates to it€ms re.og sed in the .onp;ehensive
mcono or in equity. In tlis case, the rax is also rccognised ln odrer .omprchedve inconc

Curi€nt tar asseb dd tiabilties de neasured ar
o! paid b the taration authonries,based on
slbstanhvely m.ted at rhe Batarue sheet dara.

Defered tax is re.68dsed.n tenporary difierences
dd liabillties in rhe ftndciat sLatef,ents md the
conpulation of taxable lrofii.

lorTlrrih.nneh Co. Lto
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D€fened ld Iiabilities and assot- are qedlred ar OE hx rates rhat are exle.tud ro appty i!
the period ln which the liabrfty is settted or uie asser reatised, bded on t.x mres (;;d tax
tavs) that have been m.ted or subsbnrively enrcted by the end of the reporhlg period.
'fte carPng anount ol D€fered rax liabitries and 6s€ts are rwiewed at OE end o1ea.n

(j) cash .nd cash €quivalenis

Cash ad esh eqnivalents indu{tes cash in han.t and deposirs wfth an/ quatityinA Iinanciat
ifftitution, repayabte on demnd or matuling within dree months or OElate ;r &uGjhondd vhich are slbjet to an imignili.ant tsk oi chdg€ in vahe

T.ansaclions and Translation

Traroactiotu in foreign drendes are !€corded at the exchdge rate prcvailing on the date o1
transa.tion. Monetary asets and ltabilities doDminated in foreim crt€ncies ale rnnstated
"t rh" nr boncl.Lr'cn- c o,DC rar.. or,,!hcng. d |n" Tpo$ng eb.
EKhdge differen@s arising on setdemenr or trmslation of mon.tary items de ftcogmsed

Non-honetary nem thar are measurcd
recorded using the ex.nmge rates .t rhe

!or Tirrh.nnah Co Lr!
(-) 

^.,q^ 
la^r4.

in term ol histo cal .ost in a toleiei drencr are
daie oi the hansacti.n

Reveme is r{ognised to the extenr rhat t is probable ihar the e.onomic benetits wll flow to
,n-.onpny d o F -even-".h F'e hbiy d"*, "a. -e8drd cr or b .en rh" p,j' nrnr .
beinS addp R"v- re $ m.an'"tJ Lhp rdj v.Lp or thp
KeNable, tal<ing inb arclnt conba.tuaut deiined rens of laynonr md exchdlng raxes
oi duties collcted on behaf o1 rh€ govement.

Rovenue is le.ognised ony f the following conditioro are sads6ed:
. The Compdy has trNlered risks and rewads incidotat to ome4hip to rhe .usromerl. Ile Com?dry retains neither continuing rumgeriat tnvorvenent [o rte deSree usually
asso.iatd with owneBhip nor ell(tive conhol ovei the goods sotd,. It ls proballe tiat the e.oromjc lmelft associated wfth dre nansaction will now to rhe

. it .d le reli abLy measred and it ]s reasonable to etpo. r uliima te colection.

Rev€nne lrom operatios inch{ies sal€ ol goo.ls and seNices measlred ai d]e fa} vatue ot
the consideratid pceived or re..ivable, ner ot ierum md altowd.er hade discounh nd
volune rebates dd excluding rd€s or duries colte.tud on behalt oI dF goveme.t

fot Titih.nnah co. Ltc
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InF'"d nlom hon a tu dcdl asp. F F, oCn 6ed wh{,..5 prolaoe rhd rhcRorotu
b{phts hill flos ,o thp ! oapdnv tu a Lhe adtu- or ir.ome , d b" Tc4.r,"d ,etjdoiy
lntc'4r i .om. is rftrudo o- d unc tu.r by ,erFenc" o rFe prh.:p J oul>.nd .g anu otF".dlqbvpi.q"rr'"FrDphdot.h1!trs,\p-.reLlDtp.".tJdL.ountre.oriedrLh,,
cash rReipts tluough uie expected life oi tho fimnciat assei ro d€r assels net carvhscnour on initial recomtion

whcn FCoroh\.n8h' o r{e.ve hepdvn-rtd.bp,n

(n) Iinmcial itutnnents

1.a Initial r€cognition and measuemenr:

Fih. bl d$cts rd Ldoii e- ",e r ti J.) le.ogLed ". tu \d.Le. Lr.d.hon t o-b, r\41d.ddrrqlvdlh'lbuabebo rp r.qu..rif orrru.o rmtriatrsspt aa uM..r. .,dbrlrie.
tbn v, ue firo, g' prcnr o, o, dr" a tded b r" rar v. Le on nlial

reoSntion. Regllar wal pu!.nase and sato of rinmiat assels re recognised using kade

1-b Subseque nt n easuren enr

i) rinan.ial assers.died ar darisedcosr (Ac)

A findcial .stsi E subsequendy n€asured at amortisdd cost iI it is held within a hsine$
model whose obj{uve is to hotd dE asser in order ro .oltect conhactuat casn nows dd the
contactual term of tne tnm.iat asser give tse on specifi€d dates to .ash lows dEi ale
sorery payndis of pritripal md interest on the prijl.ipat amo6t ourstddinS.

ii) rinanci.I assets at fair vahe rluough orhe! codprehe.,ive incone (FvToc4

A rilhoal aset D subsq@ntltr masured ar ran vatu€ drrough ofter conpphensive
m lnp 1 ir, L"ld witlL r bu.in-, rod". w,o!e obiFfi . 

".,. ru*, a Ul _, ;r" *e
' onbr.rudl.a.h fl oh. rd."Lhg | -dn!rd. a. 4b "nd,t, . onhd.ru, e,mL or |lre ru4n _d
assei glve ice on spe.i6ed datus io cash nows tnat ar soiely paymenrs o1 prncipal dd
interest on the prin ipat amobt ourstedinS

iii) Financial assers at fair value through plofft o. ross (rylPr)

A (tratuid d-q wn \ F no , | .-drcd . nJ or rh. a@vc, d.d8on4 c,p.ub\equ". t o,.
valueJ dTough prorito! lo$.

Equry invstnents de n@sured ar Iai. vahe, wiL\ value .nmges
oI p'oh dd n.,. e( ppr 

'or 
Uro+.oJD 

'nv$tmnrs ror whr h;"
p'.fnl!h"v"tu".hd8", r,orhFi i orprchtund nlofr.

tar Tfi,henna. Lo -,. for T|rlihannah Co Lrd
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1,.1 lnvestment in subsididies, asociates .nd joinr venrues

lrE Conpany has accoured lor its invesrnents in subsidiary, ar cost.

le Inpaiment of financial ass€ag

ll:.clllmy 4sss impainenr based on expe.ted ciodir loss (EcL) moder ro the

2.a Initial recogniti on an d m€asuemenr:

All finmial liaLiliries ale re.ognjzed intiaty at taii
btro@gs dd payabtes, nei ot dire.u, atrributabladn{tt &co8tused in prorjt or toss as tu;ce .ost.

2,b Subsequ€nt measuremenrl

- rdrLl" rab l b* c., rb..tue r.L .r-pd d dnoib. ed. o.r ulrg je D. p.h\e hh. ..ncsd I o baD dd ollra odvdbi?, Tdtu, ng wii. ...,"", .,om d " b, "..e.h_ d, eue carryng amohts aplioxinare lan vaho due to ihe shoit marurity or rieso inskumdLs.

a. Findctal asers at anorrised cct

b. Fildcial a3sers measured ai tan vahe tijolgh Orher Comprehmive incone

l. 
."-p-r '"t1.*. 5rmp ' ed app-oah ,o,,rogartjo- o.rm?xrr"-. o- aJoxdn...T apP(&on or siDlifFd JDproao dop. mr tsqrire rh".o*p. I o n' r ."_*, _aeqrL 16! rou r. rt'd.ogn k. rro.me.. o-\ clto4rn - b,rd;- .C,in " ECL,.i*..repotu8 date nghr rrom it! jnibat re.ognrrion.

:'.:"^:-r,1"-:: ":r*T: , -r .o oa-er " -\e mpain"n, o* d roha, c on.hp po,uoro

upo.,pd dnd..dngpr in rhF forudd oothg-qtu.",rrp- ,t"_.
lo' -.oCnian o' mpr,nmt tos o. indn.. r.s"r. r,d ri I p\po.u- U_! Comodn\o" qIM- 6-r b hethq |n{. I 4 bFn J {gnin .nl i rde r Urp ."d,. ri.t !n e itundt

o r, 
'".,ed 

.i8- irdnU\ t__ nonrh I, i rs , ."d ro p.o\ der:rl 
:d 

rl'".r o:,Fd:L { Fa.n-rtu, n.,ea."d\en(d.r rrerimp E.r ,. u-"d.il.tr,,q o Le r.hnent npro\p,.u,r turu_p,e,.roong{ a sgturldr nlrer m i,i I | tul " nle irdrr ra oCahon .en lJp prbry,Aer6 u_p.ogtuog irpdird.r' lo$ a I owe, " bc - dor t_-To,,rh-L

f

value dd in .ase oI loans and
cosl. Iees ol idcufiing narule are

lofTvrlhennsh co Lto

L) uar ra"rq-
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C 
'RN 

I( AT Ai COLINTI\C ['DGI Mr\I5 AND KF\ sUUR(L\ Or LsI IVAIION

l" ll.J *- o' 
'lc 

. onpf . , n.h ur .bFnenrs _q-n- %tu8"npnr rc r c.,

1::::1: *''''':' cnJ L\. a'.mof\ nt o'i'o't'.' .nrc'drI] oboL| h4ei<srmtuor! nd p,hn da.ould r*u r.1or oae. thJ. md\ ,pqunp . alc. i djr.md
io Lhe carl,hg anomr oI asets or Iiabitities atfected in tuhrrs penoos

C,l Depr{iation and useful !iv* of properry, ptdi and Equipnenrsl

r'.opa 
,\ pldr rq pl 

"pm+ aF JcD." ,cFd o\q . F ".ntuar@r L.r -g jb 4i ou UF., "lbtu.pd.e..ouot "tr" nl"rgr-t" d..p, dp an o,had o\e,ir,4titu.eq .<du. i.Fr \4rdgemnr .e\.k. ttF c,mc., u.eh_ ,va. hd rejiJrrvarur.d hpdieL,ffultyr ordAr.odeb,rnindllcanohtordep,q,hon Jaor..rtio.o oc,aqd.d dufc 4t r fo1rn8 Dq,oo Fpu.e[l".".ddr4.idl"!vo,ue.drpb,,"d
. f irt -i.al c\per.er'- $rrr..-rncr. re., r.r rrt e hro 4' o f ,nti .D/ "de. hno-ogra tl-drgp. -hedip-e..ooon dmorb.drior orI-h,"pcr.ot. \aJ.Freo, rtq4ire !aturmt.hanger hom pre\rous e\bmarcs

l:,ll:T 1o r":...a ",:.osLeo r Fpqrcdwh,n rbe..re\p.ob, 4 jr,rdre
turd. .- ujtinB,,on oi i oplr o,,. o. - "nF on I rh. r ounr ol

. r r"d lE dtu I or idognro.n nd quonn...aoo,, or ,-MDirN "qunc tre rppLjcbho- or tud8 , q,r ro " .trg,,,"d a,f u tu d.", " rn .

caryng anoMis or pn'isiotu and li.bilities aE revi.wed roSxrariy and adjbied r. rakeaccomt 01 chdging lacts and .ircumrdces

C.3 Impannent of non-financi.t assers:

Tl" Compr/ ".., . + d. % h,.oo,hrCUrewnd F, ri- r d rd("rio. ,,\"rdnr' "rav06rdprtrdr udn) nIcdon"\rrso,rhpnmuc rodln.. le.rirr ror dn o\4 rroquned, L\e Company esrimates dre asseCs r(ovela6le ano!tu An assers ie.oveEbleamohl is tlE highq oI an ssfs or CCU s lan vabe tess costs .t disFosal and its vatue inus. lt is det€rmin€d for u individlal asset, unless the asser ooes not Senerate cash inlows
that are largely indepddent ot tnose tron other assets or a gro"p;t as"rs. wtd" rhecarryhg a4oht or an asset or CGU ex.eeds fts recoverabte amoht, tle asset n cotuidered
'mlan€d 

and is writren down ro its recoverabte dour.
m asessng vatue in use, dre esrimated tuture .ash floss are discounie.l ro &et prL,scnt
varue 6n8 lre-tax dis.ount iatc riar renects cudent mrkei assessneits ot fte tin; value
or-mor il dd tr" rFr. rp". I o rh".,.p n o, re-mitu I io v. Le Fr o, - of o.povt

le I mro d..oLnr on.db",opntn, Iaptropnate valualion model is used.

lor Ti(rhannah Co Lld 6/ f.r Ti.rih.nnah Co Llu
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CJ RftoEability of trade re.eivabre:

iudgef,ents de requied in assessing rhe rsovdabniiy of overdu€ hade Keivabtes dd
detemining whethd a provision agaict rtrose re.aivables is required. Faclos .otuidered
elud. ,\" cdn radng or the .odF'Ddt. the ddor- and timing or dn..pared tutu-e
paymaL! dd any posible actions thal.d be tato to mitigate the risk or non paymdr.

C,5Impaim€ of financial a$€r3:

The impai@ent lroviiions lor tnmciar a$ets de based on stunprioN abort rjst oI
derali. r"d c\p<Fd cd5h lo$ 

',rrs. The Codpd), use" iudSame;r D tubB rlesp
a$mpDoN md F {ung rhc ipuc @ thc impaiment ir.rla6o.. ba.po on coTpan\ s
oad LE_ory +rfin8 ndlpt.o-dnotu a5 w.d 6 ro.*4rd toobs e,bm44 d \e;-d-ol

For Ghorh & Basu LLP l'.r futihin..h Co. Lto.
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Net Pbr v(Loss) betore iax and exr€ord nary irems

Depredialion and Amodzaiion
Loss on sa€ 0ftnvestmeni (ner)

Prolil or sa e or Inveshen(

operatrng Profil botoB working C.p .tchans6

Decrease i Trad€ Redeivabte
Decrease in OrherReeivable
Inc.€ase in T€de Rece vab e

Decrease n Trade Payab€
Decrease n Cuiienl Lab tes
n@ase n cuirent L ab tes

Rea saton !nder agreemeni lo sate
Netcash fiom opeh on

Proceed lrcm disposa ot Fixed assers
P@€ed fbm d sposalof nves(menr

Oefe€d Revenue Elped lure

Net cash $.d h Inv6ring Acliviries

C. CASH FLOW FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Repaynentof Tea Board Loan
Loan Taken trom Kolak Pr me Lld

Net ca3h rbmfinanctng Acrivitiee

Nerlncrease4 Docrc*o) in cash orcash Equivatont
Add: openrq Ba ane of cash of cash Eq!vateni
Clos nq Baance ofcash ofCash Equ v6teni

rh€ Ysarended 313tMarch 2019

:

030,sir)

(31.133)

(1634.510)

(7,004,0;)

(17,260,05S)

(2,317,6801

(3629,910)

{3,6s0,3S;)

For aid on behalf or $e Board
hIG

41Il
G

&
ForTnrthznnah Co L'
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